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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT

EFREHE

Dear Shareholders:

HBFMUKRER

On behalf of the board of
directors (the “Board”) of
Extrawell Pharmaceutical
Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am

pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

RANERKRBEEXZERSE
RAB(ART] BREEH
BRralrgE ) ESE(E
EEMAREZAEEEE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREHS ()

The global economic outlook is clouded by the rising uncertainty amid
the escalation of potential trade conflicts and ongoing geopolitical
tensions. The global trade landscape has witnessed shifts driven
by escalating tariffs, geopolitical realignments, and supply chain
disruptions, leading to increased cost fluctuations while introducing
new complexities and challenges.

Despite multiple external headwinds, China’s economy accelerated
to 5.4% growth year-on-year in the fourth quarter of 2024, lifting
full year growth to 5.0%, and maintained the same pace of growth
at 5.4% in the first quarter of 2025. The economic achievements
provide a solid foundation for achieving goals outlined in the nation’s
14th Five-Year Plan (2021-2025). China is undergoing structural
transformation which is progressing through high-quality development
and deepened economic reforms, and shifting toward a model
powered by domestic demand and innovation. Meanwhile, China’s
pharmaceutical industry is undergoing continuous transformation and
upgrading guided by the national policies. The combined factors of
the shifting demographics, evolving healthcare needs and regulatory
reforms are reshaping China’s pharmaceutical industry landscape.
The pharmaceutical industry has continued to maintain its growth
momentum driven by the increasing burden of the nation’s aging
population and chronic diseases and a surge for demand for quality
drugs to meet the evolving needs of patients. The impacts of the
ongoing implementation of medical insurance cost-control policy
and the national centralised procurement policy increase operating
complexities for businesses amid fierce competition. However,
China’s pharmaceutical industry has demonstrated a high-quality
development momentum driven by policy support, technological
innovation and market demand, creating new opportunities and
expectations for businesses.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EREH|E (E)

The numerous challenges from changes in industry policies and
regulations, adjustments of market demand structure and pressure
on profit margins continue to heighten operational complexities
during the industry transformation cycle. The Group has intensified
its efforts in strengthening its internal management in order to timely
respond to such challenges and changes, and has endeavored to
align its development direction with national strategies and policy
framework outlined in the 14th Five-Year Plan. Over the years, the
Group has placed emphasis in optimising its manufacturing strengths
through allocating internal resources in order to enhance its core
competitiveness. These efforts have yielded positive results. Amid
the complicated operating environment, the Group’s manufacturing
segment has managed to maintain stable profitability. Meanwhile,
the Group will keep monitoring the market trend and explore the
possibility of collaborating with strategic partners for the development
of business in pharmaceutical and healthcare fields, with the aim of
fostering new growth for the Group. Despite China’s pharmaceutical
industry landscape is highly challenging, the nation’s massive
population, accelerated aging population, increasing prevalence
of chronic diseases, growing middle class, increasing focus on
health and advancements in drug development will contribute to the
market’'s expansion and facilitate its growth momentum for the long
term. The Group believes that potential opportunities will emerge from
the unmet medical needs. As the diabetic population is expected
to increase with the rising aging population and life expectancy, the
Group expects that the commercialisation of the oral insulin product
in the future would generate returns to the Group’s investments.

The Group’s profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
was about HK$222.6 million, which was mainly due to the non-cash
item related to the gain arising from fair value change of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (i.e. the Group’s investments
in convertible bonds) of about HK$254.9 million, as compared to
a loss arising from fair value change of the same non-cash item
of about HK$133.0 million last year. During the year, the overall
operating results of the Group’s business segments remained steady.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
I ﬁ iﬁ & (n\_ﬁ)

A multitude of variables continue to affect the global environment.
Despite the increase in external uncertainties, China’s economic
foundation has demonstrated its resilience to cope with external
challenges and achieve the established development goals. China’s
pharmaceutical industry is navigating a high-quality development
path with the nation’s supportive policies and steadfast commitment
in advancing its long-term strategic goal of building a Healthy China.
The Group will stay cautious in managing its existing businesses
and endeavor to grasp new market opportunities emerged from the
industry development in an effort to drive new growth for the Group.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our appreciation to
all staff of the Group for their dedicated efforts and contribution to
the Group, and to the shareholders, business partners and other
stakeholders for their continuous support.

Dr. Xie Yi
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall Performance Review

The global economy is facing increasing uncertainties due to
intensified geopolitical tensions and heightened trade policies.
Although China is affected by the evolving external environment, its
economic growth accelerated to 5.4% in the fourth quarter of 2024
which was driven by a robust manufacturing sector and booming
exports, and recorded a full year growth of 5%. China further posted
strong economic growth at 5.4% in the first quarter of 2025 amid
its ongoing stabilisation efforts. China’s pharmaceutical industry is
undergoing profound transformation, driven by the combined forces
of reform policies, technological innovation and market demands.
The national centralised procurement has become normalised with
the implementation of the tenth batch of the centralised procurement
of drugs, intensifying market competition while the deepening of
healthcare reform policies continue to impact the pharmaceutical
market. The operating environment has become more complicated
for pharmaceutical enterprises.

During the year, the Group’s revenue and gross profit from the
continuing operations, which were mainly contributed by the
manufacturing segment operating in China, were about HK$55.4
million (2024: HK$59.1 million) and HK$21.9 million (2024: HK$28.8
million), representing decreases of about HK$3.7 million and about
HK$6.9 million respectively. The decrease in revenue was primarily
attributable to the drop in sales volume and mild price adjustments
as a result of the intensifying market competition, and the change
in sales mix. The decline in gross profit was mainly related to the
decrease in revenue, the decline in gross margin resulted from fixed
overhead costs spreading over lower production quantities to facilitate
inventory management on anticipated demand, and the change in
gross profit structure of sales varieties.

The Group’s administrative, selling and distribution expenses
attributable to the continuing operations in aggregate were about
HK$30.9 million, representing a decrease of about HK$4.3 million or
12.3% when compared to about HK$35.2 million of last year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the reduction in marketing and
promotion expenses with the management’s relentless efforts in
controlling costs and enhancing sales efficiency while the increase in
staff costs was substantially offset by the decrease in research and
development expenses and other general administrative expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEE N WR 2 (R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Overall Performance Review (Continued)

The Group’s profit before income tax from the continuing operations
was about HK$224.7 milion, as compared to a loss of about
HK$159.4 million of last year. Such turnaround from loss to profit was
mainly due to the non-cash items, including the fair value change (gain)
of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (i.e.
the Group’s investments in convertible bonds) of about HK$254.9
million, as compared to the fair value change (loss) of the same non-
cash item of about HK$133.0 million last year, and partly offset by
the increase in the interest expense on the convertible bonds of the
Company of about HK$3.4 million.

The Group’s loss for the year for the discontinued operation was
about HK$0.1 million (2024: HKS$0.1 million).

The Group’s profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
was about HK$222.6 million, representing an increase of about
HK$385.6 million when compared to a loss of about HK$162.9 million
last year.

Revenue and Operating Results

Continuing Operations: Manufactured Pharmaceutical Sector
China’s national plans and healthcare reform policies continue to
impact the pharmaceutical market. Healthcare system development
and innovation are the nation’s priorities. In the context of promoting
the high-quality transformation of the pharmaceutical industry,
market environment is constantly changing and competition has
become more intensified, increasing pricing pressure and regulatory
compliance requirements.

During the year, the Group’s manufacturing segment continued
to contribute profits to the Group. Under the highly competitive
landscape, segment revenue decreased by about HK$3.7 million
to about HK$55.4 million mainly due to a drop in sales volume and
mild price adjustments. The gross profit decreased by about HK$6.9
million to about HK$21.9 million primarily due to the increase in
cost of sales as a result of the change in gross profit structure of
sales varieties and the fixed overhead costs spreading over the
lower production quantities as management took an approach to
maintain a minimum level of inventory based on anticipated demand
among customers to facilitate inventory management. Despite the
lower gross margin, there was a substantial decrease of selling and
distribution expenses resulting from the management’s continuing
efforts in sales budgeting and cost control while coordinating its
efforts in capturing sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 7 1 (4R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Revenue and Operating Results (Continued)

Continuing Operations: Manufactured Pharmaceutical Sector
(Continued)

During the year, segment profit was about HK$4.9 million, which
was contributed by the Group’s intensified efforts in managing the
business and cost-saving measures to minimise expenditure amid the
evolving market environment. The impact of the decline in gross profit
was substantially offset by the decreases in marketing and promotion
expenses of about HK$3.6 million and research and development
expenses of about HK$0.2 million, and the reversal of impairment
loss on trade receivables of about HK$0.8 million which outweighed
the increase in impairment loss on other receivables of about HKS$O. 1
million. The segment’s administrative expenses were maintained
relatively stable, and the increase in staff costs due to performance-
related rewards was substantially offset by the decrease in workplace
maintenance expenses.

Amid various challenges and uncertainties brought by the deepening
of reform policies and continuing structural adjustments within
the pharmaceutical industry, the Group has managed to maintain
profitability with management’s intensified efforts in strengthening
its internal management to control operating costs and improve
operational efficiency while adopting flexible sales strategies and
expanding sales channels to increase the market coverage of the
Group’s products.

Despite fierce competition and uncertain factors impacting the
segment result, the Group will continue to address the challenges
faced, monitor the industry development trend and endeavor to seize
opportunity in the industry reshuffle, in order to drive profit growth
and sustain its long-term development.

Continuing Operations: Imported Pharmaceutical Sector
China’s pharmaceutical market has maintained stable growth over the
past years driven by rising aging population and government support,
and diversified pharmaceutical supply. The Group believes that the
unmet medical needs provide both opportunities and challenges for
businesses in the pharmaceutical and healthcare industry.

During the year, small revenue of about HK$0.02 million related to
pilot sales of a new product was generated, representing an increase
of about HK$0.01 million. Segment loss reduced to about HK$2.4
million, representing a decrease of about HK$0.9 million as the Group
continues to make effort in streamlining the operation and controlling
operating costs and expenses to minimise the segment loss while
working with its business partners to develop new product lines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEE N WR 2 (R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Revenue and Operating Results (Continued)

Continuing Operations: Imported Pharmaceutical Sector
(Continued)

The efforts contributed by the Group have yet to show significant
progress, however, the Group will continue to monitor the market
trend and explore the possibility of collaborating with strategic
partners for the development of business in pharmaceutical and
healthcare products. The Group will endeavor to grasp potential
business opportunities emerged from the evolving market
environment, striving for the long-term development of the Group.

Discontinued Operation: Gene Development Sector

During the year, the Group has resolved to discontinue the gene
development operation. This segment remained inactive and no
revenue was recorded before its discontinuance (2024: HK$ nil).

Interest in an Associate

The Group holds 49% equity interest in Smart Ascent Limited (“Smart
Ascent”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Smart Ascent Group”).
The major asset of the Smart Ascent Group is an intangible asset
in relation to an in-process research and development project (“In-
process R&D”) involving an oral insulin product (the “Product”) which
is in its clinical trial stage. As a minority shareholder of Smart Ascent,
the Group has been working closely with Innovative Pharmaceutical
Biotech Limited (“Innovative Pharm”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Innovative Pharm Group”), the 51% shareholder of Smart Ascent,
in monitoring the progress of the In-process R&D with a view to
facilitating successful launching of the Product to the market.

During the year, the loss of Smart Ascent Group was about HK$7.08
million (2024: HK$7.08 million), for which the Group’s share of loss
amounted to about HK$2.31 million (2024: HK$2.28 million). No
dividend has been declared or received from Smart Ascent during the
year (2024: HKS nil).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s interest in an associate of about
HK$311.9 million (2024: HK$314.2 million), accounted for about
20.4% (2024: 24.4%) of the Group’s total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 7 1 (4R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Interest in an Associate (Continued)

For the purpose of financing the working capital requirements of
Smart Ascent Group for the In-process R&D, the Innovative Pharm
Group and the Group, as lenders, and Smart Ascent, as borrower,
entered into a shareholders’ loan agreement on 27 July 2018 (“First
Loan Agreement”) for a loan facility to Smart Ascent amounting
to HK$30 million in total (“First Loan”), contributed as to 51% i.e.
HK$15.3 million by the Innovative Pharm Group and as to 49% i.e.
HK$14.7 million by the Group. The First Loan is unsecured, interest
bearing at 5% per annum and has a repayment term fixed at 60
months after each drawdown of the First Loan. In September 2018
and August 2019, Smart Ascent had drawn down in aggregate of
HK$10 million and HK$20 million respectively, that the First Loan of
HK$30 million had been fully drawn down, and the Innovative Pharm
Group and the Group had made contribution in the aggregate sum of
HK$15.3 million and HK$14.7 million respectively to Smart Ascent.

To enhance the financial resources of Smart Ascent Group and
facilitate the progress of the clinical trial and further development
of the Product, the Innovative Pharm Group and the Group, as
lenders, and Smart Ascent, as borrower, entered into the second
shareholders’ loan agreement on 8 March 2022 for a loan facility
to Smart Ascent amounting to HK$12 million in total (“Second
Loan”), contributed as to 51% i.e. HK$6.12 million by the Innovative
Pharm Group and as to 49% i.e. HK$5.88 million by the Group. The
Second Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum and
has a repayment term fixed at 60 months after each drawdown of
the Second Loan. Smart Ascent had drawn down HK$5.0 million,
HK$4.5 million and HK$2.5 million in June 2022, December 2022 and
March 2023 respectively, that the Second Loan had been fully drawn
down, and the Innovative Pharm Group and the Group had made
contribution in the aggregate sum of HK$6.12 million and HK$5.88
million respectively to Smart Ascent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEE N WR 2 (R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Interest in an Associate (Continued)

To further enhance the financial resources of Smart Ascent Group
and facilitate the progress of the clinical trial for the Product, the
Innovative Pharm Group and the Group, as lenders, and Smart
Ascent, as borrower, entered into () the supplemental agreement
dated 30 July 2024 (“First Loan Extension Agreement”) supplemental
to the First Loan Agreement in relation to the extension of repayment
dates of the First Loan and the accrued interests thereon for a period
of 36 months; and (ji) the shareholders’ loan agreement dated 30 July
2024 in relation to the granting of a loan facility of up to a principal
amount of HK$20 million in total (“Third Loan”), to be contributed as
to 51% by the Innovative Pharm Group and 49% by the Group in
proportion to their respective shareholdings in Smart Ascent (“Third
Loan Agreement”). The Third Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at
5% per annum and has a repayment term fixed at 60 months after
each drawdown of the Third Loan. The entering into the First Loan
Extension Agreement and the Third Loan Agreement constitutes
a major transaction of the Company pursuant to Rule 14.22 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and is
subject to the reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. The major
transaction was approved by the shareholders of the Company at its
special general meeting held on 15 October 2024. Further details are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 30 July 2024 and 15
October 2024, and circular dated 27 September 2024. Smart Ascent
had drawn down HK$10.0 million, HK$6.0 million and HK$4.0 million
in December 2024, January 2025 and March 2025 respectively, that
the Third Loan had been fully drawn down, and the Innovative Pharm
Group and the Group had made contribution in the aggregate sum of
HK$10.2 million and HK$9.8 million respectively to Smart Ascent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB W R 2 (]R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Interest in an Associate (Continued)

As stated in the Company’s 2024 annual report, the Covid-19
pandemic since early 2020 had disrupted the normal operations of
participating hospitals for the clinical trial of the Product, that the
clinical trial in the process of selection and enrolment of patients
was temporarily suspended pending improvement in the pandemic
situation, for the safety of patients and clinical researchers. As the
pandemic situation in China had gradually improved during the third
quarter of 2020, the enrolment of patients had commenced, and
while the pandemic situation in China was largely under control,
the preventive and control measures associated with the prolonged
pandemic situation had been continuously implemented causing
certain delay in patient selection and enrolment. Furthermore, the
sporadic outbreaks of Covid-19 variant in China, and particularly
the emergence of the highly transmissible Omicron variant in early
2022, had driven the nation to vigilantly stick to its toughest Covid-19
measures, and caused regional and citywide lockdowns in many parts
of China, restricting patient flows and impacting on clinical research
activities. As such, the patient selection and enrolment process
experienced further delay. Following the pandemic control measures
in China had been substantially lifted from early 2023, the prolonged
pandemic disruptions were minimised, however, the clinical research
activities were still impacted by the effect of supply-chain interruptions
that it had taken longer time than expected for manufacturing the
new batch of drug samples for clinical trial as planned. As the drug
samples for clinical trial had been produced, the patient selection
and enrolment process has been ongoing. Smart Ascent Group
had assessed and planned to commercialise the Product in the first
quarter of 2026 and implemented a series of measures aiming for
achieving the timeline, including evaluating and optimising clinical trial
procedures, engaging new hospitals to participate in the clinical trial,
and increasing the sample size at certain existing clinical trial sites with
better enrolment prospects. Nevertheless, the aforesaid measures
have not been fully implemented and effectiveness of the efforts has
been limited due to onboarding new hospitals involving complex and
time-consuming processes for the engagement, and challenges in
increasing the sample size at current participating hospitals arising
from changes in patient behavior following the Covid-19 pandemic.

Based on the current information available to the Company, Smart
Ascent Group has further considered the current circumstances, and
reassessed the timeline for commercialisation of the Product, which is
currently expected to be in around the third quarter of 2028.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEE N WR 2 (R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Interest in an Associate (Continued)

Diabetes is a chronic disease that affects the long-lasting health
condition of patients and the prevalence of diabetes increases with
age. In light of the accelerating aging population and increasing
life expectancy, and the development of chronic diseases such
as diabetes in China, market demand for quality diabetes drugs
is expected to be enormous. The Product characterised by oral
administration of insulin is expected to provide an effective treatment
and better quality of life for the constantly growing diabetic population
in China that the Group believes there will be enormous market
potential for the Product, and once the Product is commercialised, it
will bring substantial benefits to the Group.

In making the assessment as to the recoverability of the In-process
R&D and the fair value of the interest in the associate, the Group has
engaged Masterpiece Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent
qualified valuer (“Valuer”) in conducting a valuation. The asset-based
valuation approach has been consistently adopted in the valuation
and the recoverable amount of the In-process R&D was determined
based on fair value calculation using cash flow projections, which
the estimated cash inflows derived from budgeted sales and gross
margin were based on the expectation for the market development,
and which included estimate successful rate for commercialisation
of the Product and the regulatory approvals from the relevant
government bodies and launching of the Product in around the
third quarter of 2028. The recoverable amount of the interest in the
associate was determined based on share of the estimated fair value
of the In-process R&D after taking into account the lack of control
discount.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to the In-
process R&D was assumed to cover a 10-year period from the
commercialisation of the Product. The calculation used in the cash
flow projections with certain key parameters are as below:
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Discount rate (post-tax) AR & (BRI 1&2) 31.53% 26.78%
Growth rate R = 2% 2%
Gross profit ratio S 39% 56%
Estimate successful rate* fHET AT &> 52.3% 52.3%

*

Estimate successful rate for commercialisation of the Product
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 7 1 (4R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Interest in an Associate (Continued)

In conducting the impairment assessment, the directors of the
Company, having considered the prevailing market conditions,
reasonableness of assumptions used for the cash flow projections
and the valuation as prepared by the Valuer indicating its fair value
in excess of the carrying amount, do not identify any indication on
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate as at 31 March
2025 that may need to be impaired. Accordingly, no impairment is
considered necessary as at 31 March 2025.

The Group will continue to closely coordinate with Innovative Pharm
in monitoring the progress of the In-process R&D with a view to
facilitating successful launching of the Product to the market. In
addition, the Group will continue to perform impairment assessment
on the carrying amount of the interest in the associate in accordance
with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets”
where necessary.

Other income, gains and losses, net

Other income, gains and losses, net were about HK$258.2 milion (2024:
loss of HK$131.9 million), representing an increase in gain of about
HK$390.0 million, which was mainly the result of (i) a non-cash item
related to gain arising from fair value change of the financial assets at
FVTPL (i.e. the Group’s investments in convertible bonds) of about
HK$254.9 million when compared to a loss from fair value change
of about HK$133.0 million last year; (i) the decrease in provision for
impairment loss on amount due from an associate and loan to an
associate of about HK$2.1 million in aggregate; (i) the increase in
reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables and other receivables
in aggregate of about HK$0.7 million; and (iv) the decrease in bank
interest income of about HK$0.7 million.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses attributable to the continuing
operations decreased to about HK$9.3 milion (2024: HK$13.2
million), representing a decrease of about HK$3.8 million or 29.1%.
Such decrease was mainly the result of reduction in marketing
and promotion expenses with management’s relentless efforts
in managing budget and controlling costs while adopting flexible
marketing strategies to capture sales, and the decrease in research
and development expenses of about HK$0.2 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEE N WR 2 (R)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses (including about HK$0.1 million for
discontinued operation) were about HK$21.7 million (2024: HK$22.2
million), representing a decrease of about HK$0.5 million or 2.2%,
which were kept relatively stable. Such decrease was the combined
result of management’s continuing efforts in controlling costs, less
maintenance expenses were incurred for the Group’s workplaces,
and the increase in staff costs due to certain change in staff mix to
meet business needs of the Group.

OUTLOOK

The current external environment has become increasingly
complicated and uncertain. Raised tariffs and investment barriers
alongside intensified trade protectionism are posing challenges to the
global economic recovery. Faced with mounting uncertainties and
instabilities in the external environment, China has rolled out a raft of
measures to bolster domestic demand, accelerating the shift toward
consumption-driven growth and progressing through high-quality
development and deepened economic reforms. China’s economy
has demonstrated its strong resilience against external headwinds.
Meanwhile, China’s pharmaceutical sector is undergoing a profound
transformation toward high-quality development and continues
to maintain a growth momentum driven by government-backed
initiatives, accelerated aging population and increased demand for
healthcare solutions. Both opportunities and challenges co-exist
alongside the unmet medical needs, regulatory reforms, and the
dynamics of technological innovation.

In light of the dynamic and competitive landscape, the Group will
continue to place emphasis in enhancing its production efficiency and
sales capabilities while making efforts to control costs, with the aim of
achieving profitability. The Group believes that the strengthening of its
core competitiveness will facilitate the Group to sustain its long-term
development. The Group will keep pace with industry trends as outlined
in the 14th Five-Year Plan and the nation’s long-term objectives of
building a Healthy China and stay vigilant in managing its businesses.

Confronting the challenges ahead, the Group believes that
opportunities are embraced. The Group remains cautiously optimistic
on its long-term development and will continue to monitor the market
trends to identify potential business opportunities and intensify its
efforts to pursue new revenue streams that may drive new growth for
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 7 1 (4R)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

It is the Group’s strategy to manage its financial resources
conservatively by maintaining a healthy level of cash flows to meet
all its financial commitments when they fall due. The Group generally
finances its operations with internally generated cash flows and
banking facilities.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total cash and bank balances (including
pledged bank deposits) of about HK$98.2 million (2024: HK$114.5
million), representing a decrease by about HK$16.3 million or 14.3%.
Such decrease in cash and bank balances included net cash used
in operations, acquisition of property, plant and equipment of about
HK$3.1 million, the provision of a shareholder’s loan of HK$9.8 million
to Smart Ascent, the payment of lease interests and liabilities of
about HK$1.6 million, and the bank interest income received of about
HK$4.0 million.

Accruals and Other Payables

Accruals and other payables (excluding contract liabilities) was about
HK$20.0 million as of 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$21.9 million). Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in payables for marketing
and promotion expenses.

Borrowings and Facilities

The Group did not have bank borrowings during the year but had
banking facilities on trade finance, which were supported by the
pledge of the Group’s fixed deposits of about HK$20.4 million (2024:
HK$20.9 million) and corporate guarantee from the Company. In
general, there is no significant seasonality fluctuation on trade finance
requirement of the Group. As at 31 March 2025, none of these
banking facilities was utilised (2024: HK$ nil).

The Group’s total borrowing over total assets ratio as at 31 March
2025 was 0.09 (2024: 0.09), calculated based on the Group’s total
assets of about HK$1,526.4 million (2024: HK$1,287.2 million) and
total debts of about HK$140.9 million (2024: HK$120.4 million),
comprising convertible bonds of about HK$139.0 million (2024:
HK$117.1 million) and lease liabilities of about HK$1.9 million (2024:
HK$3.3 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 5 & 2 T (48)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Borrowings and Facilities (Continued)

Lease liabilities are payable within one year (2024: HK$1.9 million
payable after one year and not later than two years and HK$1.4
million payable within one year).

The Company’s 20-year zero coupon convertible bonds were
issued in Hong Kong dollars on 16 July 2013 with principal amount
in aggregate of HK$641.3 milion and a maturity date of 16 July
2033. As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding principal amount of
the Company’s convertible bonds was HK$577.17 million (2024:
HK$577.17 million).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars
and Renminbi. The Group manages the foreign currency exposure
by closely monitoring the foreign currency movements and may
purchase foreign currencies at spot rate, when and where appropriate
for meeting its payment obligations. No hedge on foreign currencies
was made during the year but the Group will use financial instruments
for hedging purpose when considered appropriate.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and investment in financial instruments during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Financial Assets at FVTPL — Investments in
Convertible Bonds

Included in the financial assets at FVTPL was the convertible
bonds issued by Innovative Pharm (‘Innovative Pharm Bonds”)
of approximately HK$915.4 milion as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$660.6 milion). The fair value of the Innovative Pharm Bonds
represented approximately 60.0% of the Group’s total assets as at
31 March 2025 (2024: 51.3%). The unrealised gain recognised for the
Innovative Pharm Bonds resulted from fair value change during the
year was about HK$254.9 million (2024: loss of HK$133.0 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 7 1 (4R)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Financial Assets at FVTPL — Investments in
Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Innovative Pharm is an investment holding company the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 399), and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the trading
of beauty products and equipment, and research, development and
commercialisation of the oral insulin product.

Pursuant to the third amendment deed entered into between the
Company and Innovative Pharm on 28 April 2023, which was
effective on 12 July 2023, the maturity date of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds was further extended for two years from 28 July 2023 to 28
July 2025. Any outstanding principal amount of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds shall be redeemed and the interests shall be paid, on the
extended maturity date i.e. 28 July 2025. Details of the amendments
are set out in the Company’s circular dated 12 June 2023.

Innovative Pharm and the Company are in negotiation for renewal
of the maturity of the Innovative Pharm Bonds, and will keep the
public informed by way of announcement as and when appropriate in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 163 employees (2024: 159).
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) for the year ended 31
March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$20.7 milion (2024:
HK$19.7 million). The increase in staff costs was mainly due to the
increased expenses of salaries and allowances resulted from the
increase in payment of performance related rewards to staff of the
manufacturing segment, and certain change in staff mix to meet
business needs of the Group.

The Group remunerates its employees including directors with
salaries, bonus and other benefits based on industry practices, and
provides employee benefits, welfare and statutory contributions
in accordance with prevailing labour laws of its operating entities.
The Group also provides various training opportunities to its staff
members and directors. Such training includes on-job training and
compliance seminars.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EHEERR DT (E

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY
(Continued)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2022, a share option
scheme (the “Option Scheme”) had been adopted by the Company,
which became effective on 2 September 2022 upon obtaining listing
approval from the Stock Exchange, and unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for ten years from that date. The Option
Scheme will enable the Group to reward its employees, directors
and other selected participants for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and will assist the Group in its recruitment
and retention of high caliber professionals, executives and employees
who are instrumental to the long-term growth of the Group.

From the effective date of the Option Scheme to 31 March 2025,
no share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Option Scheme (2024: nil).
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DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENGEEEASGHT

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. Xie Yi Ph.D. (aged 62)

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Dr. Xie Yi was a professor of School of Life Sciences in Fudan
University and is one of the founders of United Gene group of
companies in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Being a
scientist with significant breakthroughs in human genome research,
Dr. Xie is responsible for research and development and management
of United Gene group and is the vice chairman and chief executive
officer of United Gene Holdings Limited in the PRC.

Dr. Xie Yi was appointed as an executive director in June 2001.

Dr. Xie is currently the chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company responsible for the strategic planning and development
and the overall management of the Group. He is also a director
and chairman of Changchun Extrawell Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a
80%-owned subsidiary of the Company established in the PRC, and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Cheng Yong (aged 62)

Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Cheng Yong is a practicing pharmacist in the PRC. Mr. Cheng
obtained his Master of Pharmacology from Second Military Medical
University in the PRC. He has been engaged in pharmacology and
research study for over ten years and has extensive experience in the
aspects of research and drug development. Since 2001, he has been
working in the capacity of director and general manager for various
companies owned by Dr. Xie Yi and Dr. Mao Yumin, former chairman
and executive director of the Company. Mr. Cheng is no longer a
director of any PRC subsidiary of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech
Limited (formerly known as United Gene High-Tech Group Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheng Yong was appointed as an executive director in December
2013. Since 1 July 2019, Mr. Cheng has been appointed as the
deputy chief executive officer of the Company to provide support in
the execution of the Company’s plans and strategies.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

EERGEEEASGN (B)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Lou Yi Ph.D. (aged 67)

Executive Director

Dr. Lou Yi obtained a doctoral degree in medicine and conducted
his postdoctoral research in clinical study at Shanghai Second
Medical University (now renamed as School of Medicine, Shanghai
Jiaotong University) and industrial economy at Fudan University. Dr.
Lou had been a director and general manager of Shanghai Biochip
Co. Ltd. and as a director and deputy general manager of General
Technology Group Pharmaceutical Holdings, Ltd. in the PRC. Dr.
Lou was also a non-executive director of Shanghai Fudan-Zhangjiang
Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange, from June 2004 to June 2006. Dr. Lou is currently a
director and general manager of various companies owned by Dr. Xie
Yi and Dr. Mao Yumin, former chairman and executive director of the
Company.

Dr. Lou Yi was appointed as an executive director in October 2008.

Dr. Lou is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen (aged 62)

Executive Director

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen joined the Group in May 2008 as assistant to the
Board and was appointed as executive director in October 2008. Ms.
Wong has more than 20 years of experience in both the commercial
and industrial sectors including the PRC pharmaceutical market. Ms.
Wong has extensive experience in areas of business administration
and internal control. She is currently the Authorised Representative of
the Company.

Ms. Wong was appointed as the joint company secretary of the
Company on 8 January 2014 and has acted as the company

secretary of the Company since 30 September 2022.

Ms. Wong is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

EEREEBEEASGN ()

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Guo Yi Ph.D. (aged 44)

Executive Director

Dr. Guo Yi obtained a bachelor degree in science (with a major in
biology) and a doctorate degree in science (with a major in genetics)
from the School of Life Sciences of Fudan University in 2003 and
2011 respectively. Dr. Guo has extensive experience in the fields of
genetics, health care management, and investment management and
development for venture in biomedicine. Dr. Guo was a non-executive
director (from 8 June 2011 to 26 April 2012) and an executive director
(from 27 April 2012 to 13 December 2015) of United Gene High-Tech
Group Limited (now known as Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Dr. Guo has been committing his time and working in investment
management and project development in the fields of biomedicine,
medical devices and diagnostic services since August 2015. He is
currently the managing partner of Shanghai Rui Jian Venture Capital
Management Co., Ltd.* (F/BEEREI X KR EETEBRAF), a
company established in the PRC.

Dr. Guo was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on 14 April 2023 and was redesignated as an executive director with
effect from 7 June 2024.

Dr. Guo is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

EERGEEEASGN (B)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fang Lin Hu (aged 87)

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Fang Lin Hu was a professor in Fudan University, ex-vice
chancellor of Fudan University (overseeing technology industrialisation
and utilisation matters), a member of National Information Technology
Education and Electronic Education Advisory Committee and
vice faculty head of the Physics Faculty of Fudan University, dean
of the Electronic Engineering Faculty, and the director of Micro-
electronic Research Institute. After his retirement in 2000, Mr. Fang
had served as the vice chairman of the Shanghai Senior Professor
Association, the chairman of Fudan University Senior Professor
Association, and the president of Fudan University Retired Education
Workers Association. Mr. Fang is currently the honorary advisor of
the aforementioned Shanghai Senior Professor Association, Fudan
University Senior Professor Association and the Fudan University
Alumni Association. Mr. Fang has performed research in the area of
microwave theory and technology. He is a well-recognised scientist
who has extensive experience in scientific research and management.
Mr. Fang was appointed as an independent non-executive director in
June 2001.

Ms. Jin Song (aged 54)

Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Jin Song holds a diploma in engineering from Broadcasting
University in Shandong Province and a diploma in business from
Fudan University. She is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“CICPA”) and passed all the professional
examinations held by CICPA in 2001. Ms. Jin has over 20 years’
experience in accounting in different industries. Ms. Jin was appointed
as an independent non-executive director in September 2004.

Dr. Zeng Li (aged 47)

Independent Non-executive Director

Dr. Zeng Li obtained a bachelor degree of Science in Microbiology
and a doctorate degree of Science in Genetics from the School of Life
Sciences of Fudan University in 2000 and 2005 respectively. Dr. Zeng
has been registered as a non-practising member of the Shanghai
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2009. Dr. Zeng has
served several companies in the PRC at senior positions and has
extensive experience in operation management and investment in
the fields of biotech, medical devices and healthcare. He is currently
the chief operating officer of Cytocares (Shanghai) Inc. Dr. Zeng was
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 7 June 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

EEREEBEEASGN ()

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

Mr. Gong Youlu (aged 56)

General Manager of Changchun Extrawell Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“CEP?”) and Jilin Extrawell Changbaishan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“JECP”)

Mr. Gong Youlu joined the Group in 2011. Mr. Gong is responsible
for the overall management and operations of CEP and JECP. He
has over 20 years’ experience in the pharmaceutical manufacturing
sector. Mr. Gong holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree from
Taiyuan Mechanical College (now known as North University of China)
and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Jilin University,
China. Prior to joining the Group, he had held the position of general
manager for pharmaceutical manufacturing enterprises in the PRC for
over 10 years.

Mr. Huang Wenda (aged 48)

Financial Controller of CEP and JECP

Mr. Huang Wenda joined the Group in 2004. Mr. Huang is responsible
for financial control and financial management of the operations of
CEP and JECP and currently also serves as secretary to the board
handling corporate secretarial matters of CEP and JECP. He has
accumulated experience of over 10 years in financial management of
pharmaceutical manufacturing enterprises. Prior to joining the Group,
he worked with manufacturing enterprises in the PRC.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TXERHRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Corporate Governance

The Group recognises the importance of achieving and
monitoring the high standard of corporate governance
consistent with the need and requirements of its business and
the best interest of all of its shareholders. The Group is fully
committed to doing so.

The Company has adopted and complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“Code
Provisions”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during
the year ended 31 March 2025, except for certain deviations as
set out below.

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
According to the bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the
directors shall retire from office by rotation and the Chairman,
Deputy Chairman or Managing Director shall not be subject to
retirement by rotation. The Company’s bye-laws deviate from
the Code Provision. The Company considers that the continuity
of the Chairman/Deputy Chairman/Managing Director and their
leadership are essential for the stability of the business and key
management. The rotation methodology ensures a reasonable
continuity of directorship which is to the best interest of the
Company’s shareholders.

Code Provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same person. Dr. Xie Yi has served as the
Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. However,
the Company believes that there is adequate balance of
power and authority in place though vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person as all
major decisions of the Company are made in consultation with
members of the Board.

A.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERWmE (])

28

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Continued)

Corporate Governance (Continued)

Code provision F.1.1 stipulates that the Company should
have a policy on payment of dividends. The Company has not
established a dividend policy as the Company considers it more
appropriate to determine a dividend payment after taking into
account those factors including the Company’s then financial
performance, operating and capital requirements and market
conditions, to enable the Company be in a better position to
cope with its future development, which is to the best interest
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Company will continue to review and monitor the situation
as stated above, and to improve the practices as and when the
circumstances demand.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in securities of
the Company by the directors. Based on specific enquiry of
the directors, the directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 March 2025.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the board of directors (the “Board”)
comprises five executive directors and three independent
non-executive directors (“INEDs”). The Board has established
three Board committees namely the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee. All the INEDs
are members of the Board committees.

The current composition of the Board and its changes since
1 April 2024 are set out below.

Executive Directors

Dr. Xie Yi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheng Yong (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Lou Vi

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen

Dr. Guo Yi (redesignated from INED on 7 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fang Lin Hu

Ms. Jin Song

Dr. Zeng Li (appointed on 7 June 2024)

On 7 June 2024, Dr. Guo Yi was redesignated from an INED to
an executive director and ceased to be a member of each of
the three Board committees, and Dr. Zeng Li was appointed as
an INED and a member of each of the three Board committees.

Each of the INEDs has provided to the Company an annual
confirmation in writing of his/her independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all INEDs meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers that they are independent
under the Listing Rules. Of the three INEDs, Ms. Jin Song
has appropriate accounting or related financial management
experience as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed, there is no family, financial, business or other
material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company. The Board oversees the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performances and provides insights
regarding the Group’s culture and values. The management
is delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board
for the day-to-day management of the Group. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management include the preparation of interim and annual
reports and announcements for the Board’s approval before
publishing, execution of business strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate risk
management and internal control systems, and compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance.

Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views
Available to the Board

The Company maintains the following mechanisms which are
reviewed annually to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board:

The Board currently comprises five executive directors and
three INEDs that the INEDs represent over one-third of the
Board members. Each of the Board committees comprises
all the INEDs. Each of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs out of its four
members. The Audit Committee comprises INEDs only.

The Company’s nomination policy sets out the approach and
procedures for the nomination and selection, and appointment/
re-appointment of directors (including INEDs). The Nomination
Committee is mandated to assess annually the independence
of all INEDs by reference to the independence criteria as set
out in the Listing Rules to ensure that they can continually
exercise independent judgement. In addition to providing the
written confirmation of independence annually, each INED is
also required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may
materially affect his/her independence.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views
Available to the Board (Continued)

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, each director
has to disclose his/her interest, if any, in the matters to be
considered at the Board meetings and shall abstain from voting
in respect of any transaction, contract or arrangement in which
he/she is interested. INEDs (as other directors) shall not vote or
be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving
any contract or arrangement in which such director or any of
his/her close associates has a material interest.

Other than the director’s fee for serving as a member of the
Board and Board committees, no equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements will be granted to INEDs as
this may lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise
their objectivity and independence.

INEDs (as other directors) are entitled to seek further information
and documentation from the management on the matters to be
discussed at Board meetings. They can also seek assistance
from the company secretary of the Company and, where
necessary, independent advice from external professional
advisers at the Company’s expense.

During the meetings of the Board and Board committees,
INEDs and executive directors are encouraged to express their
independent views and input in an open manner.

The Chairman of the Board shall at least annually hold meetings
with the INEDs without the presence of executive directors to
discuss major issues and any concerns.

The Board considers that the above mechanisms can facilitate
the directors to contribute effectively to the Board with
independent views and input.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERHmE (R)

EEE @

BREESUVESBEIERW
e (&)

REARBZ AR SEFTAR
BEREFTEERZTRZZLFTHAEZAN
m(nE) YRUEEF R 2 EMR
5 AHRLTHRERE - BUIFH
EWMRAEMER) ISR EZES
FEEMEZBRBEARBEERMEZ
ERAANKLHIEFTERERKER
HARET AEE AR

BRETEESREFTZBEENREZE
FHREI B IERMBILFRERT
EXAHBIRZBFHH AAgs
HREFRRORRBELBEETER
B NE

BYFHE(WREMES) BERE

R LRI TERNEEERRN
E—LERREXHF - BERATRAARRD
RIZARIMESRKBE R HYEE
SXIBEXER 2B LER  BH
AR R B EHE o

REZELEZZEEEZNME =
BBV IFAERATESTARATR
REHBUBRANARE -

EFERIRBZVEBFENTEST
ESHBERTRBIFAERTE
& A mEARE R EMREEEE-

ExeRn LOARYAREESY
ExeFhARER BREBYER
N F g

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 =—Z=R&&F# 31



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERWmE (])

32

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, five Board meetings and
three general meetings (including the annual general meeting)
of the Company were held, and the attendance records of
each director at the respective meetings are set out in the table
below:

EEE @

BE_ZT_AF=A=+—HLTF
B AAREETARESEERR
SRBEAG (REREAFAG)
% 3 B R AR B B 2 2 1
Tk

Number of attendance

HE R

Board General

Meeting Meeting

Name of Director EENA EE2SR BRERAE
Dr. Xie Vi HERIE L 5/5 3/3
Mr. Cheng Yong BEBEEE 5/5 3/3
Dr. Lou Yi Bz 8+ 4/5 2/3
Ms. Wong Sau Kuen EHFBEL L 5/5 3/3
Dr. Guo Yi "' BB 5/5 3/3
Mr. Fang Lin Hu T3 RER A 5/5 3/3
Ms. Jin Song ML 5/5 2/3
Dr. Zeng Li * VA e 4/4 3/3

#1 Dr. Guo Yi was appointed as an INED on 14 April 2023 and redesignated
as an executive director on 7 June 2024.

#2 Dr. Zeng Li was appointed as an INED on 7 June 2024.

In addition, a meeting was held between the Chairman and the
INEDs without the presence of executive directors during the
year.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance for members of the Board and officers in order
to protect legal claims against their lawful discharge of duties in
relation to the Group’s business.

#1 DHBEIN _E_=FNA+NEEZRT
ABVEHRE YR _ZT-_mWENALAH
BRAERAITES -

#2 BUYBITR-_T_WNFEANALAEZREIR
HWLIEHE -

BN EETERAEFERNERTE
ETESNBRA TNEABIIFAERT

Nk &y
INE R °

ARAEREETEKERRRAARR
HeEcEEhEMABEERR
URBERAREXRBEREABERBIE
RELEREEBFERRFRE -
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Dr. Xie Yi serves as the Chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company. This is a deviation from Code Provision C.2.1,
which requires the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
person. As all major decisions of the Company are made in
consultation with members of the Board, the Company believes
that there is adequate balance of power and authority in place
though vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive
officer in the same person.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.2, every director shall retire
by rotation at least once every three years. The INEDs are
not appointed for a specific term and according to the bye-
laws of the Company, one-third of the directors (except for
the Chairman) shall retire from office by rotation and become
eligible for re-election. The reason for the deviation is that the
Company believes that the directors ought to be committed
to representing the long-term interest of the Company’s
shareholders and the rotation methodology ensures a
reasonable proportion of directors in continuity which is to the
best interest of the Company’s shareholders.

The function of the INEDs includes but not limited to
participating in meetings of the Board and of Board committees
to bring an independent judgement to bear on issues of
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conduct.

Each of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Audit Committee, is comprised of all INEDs and is
responsible for, inter alia, the review and oversight of the
activities within its defined terms of reference. The written terms
of reference for the respective Board committees are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERHmE (R)

ERERTEAR

HBELTEEARAETERITHE
BTN TARXEC21GME
ROBMEERTRARZZ ABRZD
M BETEAR-ALTREZRTE-
HRARAMBEIERROKESS
REEBREL  WARRBE A
EHE— AREEERITERAR - TF
RUAMRE DR 2 V-

FHITES

BIBETREXEB221K BRESE
RO =FHERET R -BILIEHR
EYRFEERZE MREAR
AZRmMAA =2 —WMER(EE
BN AmERE YR ERERE
T-RELGZERA/SARRMBEE
ERAARABMRZEENGEMEL
AE - MWEDEATERESRAE
hlEE - M EARABRRLZ&R
k=

o

BYFAEZBREBEBETRRZM
ExgeahRESTZBEEH AW
BRARE BR B HEMKE &
B EBRERBTEAUSEEHEH
B H o

REZEE FHZEGEREZZE
CEEBCHEKBBRERB LI
E aE(EPER)BANREERRE
ERELEANES REFZES
By 2 TE BB A 6 B AT X B X BT R AN A A
MUhER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 —ZE=R %% 33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERWmE (])

34

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of four members including,
Dr. Xie Yi, the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
of the Company, and three INEDs. The Nomination Committee
is chaired by Dr. Xie Yi.

The major role and function of the Nomination Committee are to
formulate and implement the policy for nominating candidates
for consideration by the Board and election by shareholders,
review the structure, size and composition of the Board with
due regard to Board diversity (including gender diversity), and
to assess the independence of non-executive directors having
regard to the criteria under the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, two meetings were held
to review the Board’s structure, size and composition including
Board diversity, and review the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy; consider and make recommmendations to the
Board on the redesignation of an INED to an executive director,
appointment of new INED to fill the vacancy and as an addition
to the Board, the re-appointment of retiring directors, and
assess the independence of INEDs.

The attendance of each director is set out below:

REZEE

REZESHNAKEAN W
BREL(BEEETRRARAITRAE
HINR=R2BIUFAE-RLZES
HARELEELTRE -

REZEENIEAGBRRBERYTE
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EERMBRRET REEERE
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EZemRE  ABRAK AEE
BRETRANZERFEZIERITES
Z B -

REBEE_T_AF=-A=1t—HBLF
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R ABEER BREZEEKE
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MEBREL BRREREFTEAME
—RBUNNERNTESE ZEH
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Number of attendance

Name of Director EEMS R &
Dr. Xie Vi 3R 1E + 2/2
Mr. Fang Lin Hu 75 MRE O & 2/2
Ms. Jin Song SR+ 2/2
Dr. Guo Yi *' MBEEEL" 1/1
Dr. Zeng Li * fA & et 1/1
#1 Dr. Guo Yi was redesignated from an INED to an executive director on 7 #1 BRELTR T _NFSAEABHBILIKE

June 2024 and ceased to be a member of each of the Board committees
upon his redesignation.

#2 Dr. Zeng Li was appointed as an INED and a member of each of the
Board committees on 7 June 2024.

HEAETANTES IRRAERTHE
FEEEFZEERAIKE -

# BUBITR-_ZT-_MESALAEZEER
BUYFREREEZEEGRAIKE °
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Committee will help implement and monitor the
policy. To enhance the effectiveness of the Board, selection
of candidates is based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and
length of service. The Nomination Committee will review and
discuss, on an annual basis, Board diversity with regard to
the building and maintaining of the Board with a diversity of
directors, without focusing on a single diversity aspect, and
will make recommendation to the Board for its consideration
and approval. The Board currently comprises five executive
directors and three INEDs, who have possessed professional
qualifications or relevant experience in various aspects;
including accounting and financial management, corporate
compliance, business management, scientific research,
China pharmaceutical industry, operation management
and investment in biotech and healthcare, and investment
management in biomedicine. The directors’ biographical details
including their roles and functions, academic background and
experience are disclosed in “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” on pages 22 to 26 of this annual report, and the Board
profile in gender, age and length of service is summarised as
below:

Board profile
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Number of directors (%)

E=gln EEAH(%)

Capacity Executive directors: 5 (62.5%) INEDs: 3 (37.5%)

15 HMITES : 5(62.5%) B IEME - 3(37.5%)
Gender Male: 6 (75%) Female: 2 (25%)

M R S5 : 6(75%) ZIE 2 (25%)

Age Group Age 40-60: 3 (37.5%) Age above 60: 5 (62.5%)
FHER 40X 2 607% : 3 (37.5%) 607% LA £ ¢ 5 (62.5%)

Length of service

AR5 & 53

Below 10 years: 2 (25%)
106 AR = 2 (25%)

Above 10 years: 6 (75%)
10F LA £ : 6 (75%)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

Having reviewed the structure and composition of the
Board and taken into account the diversity perspectives, the
Nomination Committee considered that the current Board
has appropriate mix of skills, experience and a sufficient
level of diversity that are relevant to the business nature and
requirements of the Group, and concluded that the Board
Diversity Policy has been effectively implemented.

Gender Diversity

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
directors, two of whom are female (representing 25%). The
Board considers that the current level of female representation
reflects gender diversity and meets specific needs of the Group,
and that gender diversity of the Board has been achieved.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total workforce (including
senior management) comprises approximately 40.5% (2024:
37.1%) male and 59.5% (2024: 62.9%) female. The Group has
avoided a single gender workforce in workplaces. Opportunities
for employment, training and career development are equally
opened to all eligible employees without discrimination. The
Group will review the gender diversity of the workforce regularly
in accordance with business development of the Group.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
guiding the nomination criteria and procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorship.

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of
nomination criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship or proposed re-appointment of
a retiring director, including but not limited to: the skills,
knowledge and experience possessed by the candidate or
retiring director which are relevant to the Company’s business,
corporate development and strategy; the diversity perspectives
set out in the Board Diversity Policy and the balance of skills
and experience in Board composition; the level of independence
from the Company and compliance of the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules; and such other factors the Nomination
Committee may consider relevant to enhancement of the
effectiveness of the Board.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s bye-laws, where the
Nomination Committee determines that an additional director
or a replacement director is required, it may take appropriate
steps in connection with the identification and evaluation of a
suitable candidate for directorship. The Nomination Committee
may deploy channels including referral from directors, advisers
of the Company and external executive search firms in the
identification process, evaluate a candidate based on the
nomination criteria stated above, and make recommendation
for the Board’s consideration and approval.

For re-appointment of a retiring director, the Nomination
Committee reviews his/her service to the Company, the level of
participation on the Board during his/her term, and after taking
into account the nomination criteria, recommends to the Board
for proposed re-appointment of the retiring director who wishes
to stand for re-election at the Company’s general meeting.

The Nomination Committee may also propose to the Board
a candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to the
Board, if it evaluates that the candidate meets the nomination
criteria. The procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a director are published in the Company’s
website.

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of directors. On accepting the recommendation
made by the Nomination Committee, the Board may (as the
case may be) appoint the candidate as director to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board and recommend the
candidate to shareholders for election or re-election (for a
retiring director) at the general meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERHmE (R)

RBREZES @

1’2 B BUR (3

RBARRRZ A A AR EX - 7
FLEEBEREFTE LN EAEME
F AU RBEERERYERFES
BEEAR RBZECUAEMEA
BERTHERE BREZF A2
AR RN BERRZHERE - RE
PR FEEFBARE LEZAE
HEEFS@EEMILE -

REHMZEREEEME  REEE8
CECWYARA 2R - WNES
NEEFGZ2EEE  WESRIE
ARG NMESETRBRENZCTA
ERARBBRRAEG LEREFENER
FTESF-

ERELZE SN HHAARBBRIRAAE
BRiRRzAEBNARAFEE A7
MEESHEBZAE FRKESZA
HEFSET RREBARZEE
ENRFTERARRRMS -

BELZEESFHERECHESS
AE-EEMNREZBESFELZER
B -Z2Fgr(RELME) ZEZA
BRETEFNEAMBREZRAIE/E
MEE YARREBZARZBARNK
RAGLETREIREHNZE(AR
TEEMS) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 —Z=R&&F%# 37



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERWmE (])

G.

38

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members
including, three INEDs and Dr. Xie Yi. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Fang Lin Hu, an INED.

The Remuneration Committee has been established with
specific terms of reference, which state clearly its authority and
duties, among others, it makes recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and
senior management remuneration, and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and review and approve remuneration proposals with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, and
also review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
as may from time to time be adopted by the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, three meetings were
held and attendance of each director is set out below:
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Number of attendance

Name of Director EENS HERE
Mr. Fang Lin Hu T PRER S A 3/3
Ms. Jin Song MR LT 3/3
Dr. Guo Yi *' MERE L 1/1
Dr. Zeng Li * VA e i 2/2
Dr. Xie Yi AR E T 3/3
#1 Dr. Guo Yi was redesignated from an INED to an executive director on 7 #1 BHELR T _NFSAELBHBIE

June 2024 and ceased to be a member of each of the Board committees
upon his redesignation.

#2 Dr. Zeng Li was appointed as an INED and a member of each of the
Board committees on 7 June 2024.
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G. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The emoluments of the directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee with regard
to the directors’ respective roles and responsibilities, individual
performance, and/or decided by the Board as authorised by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting. The Company
has also adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee conducts regular review of the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure of the directors and senior
management which takes into account the prevailing market
conditions and the role and responsibility of individual members,
for making recommendation to the Board. During the vyear,
the Remuneration Committee reviewed the existing policy and
structure for remuneration of directors and senior management
and made recommendation to the Board for consideration and
approval in respect of the remuneration packages (including
director’s fee) for the existing directors, newly appointed
director and redesignated director.

Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals for
the year ended 31 March 2025 are disclosed in notes 11 and
12 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

Emoluments of senior management whose profiles are
disclosed in the section “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” but not included in the note as the five highest paid
individuals, fell within the following band:
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—E_REF — o —géEE
Emolument band B & &6
HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 = 7T 2 1,000,000 7 JT 2 2

H. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs and is chaired by
Mr. Fang Lin Hu, an INED.

The Audit Committee has been established with specific terms
of reference that have included the duties set out in the relevant
Code Provisions, with appropriate modification when necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The major role and function of the Audit Committee are to
provide the Board an independent oversight of the financial
reporting, risk management and internal controls of the Group,
and maintain an appropriate relationship of the Company’s
external auditors and make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and re-appointment of external auditors. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in ensuring proper review
and control arrangements relating to risk management and
internal control systems, financial reporting and compliance to
applicable reporting requirements are established, and policies
and practices on corporate governance are in place.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, four meetings were held
and attendance of each director is set out below:

EREEESm

EZZEENTIR2ABNMRBESRA
SEMGER BRREERABET
REZTERUBYEE MNEXRFSN
HE A% B 4 15 15 2 B8 R 3 3L 9N BS AR B
MR EREBERAESTSROERR
ZoBRZESWPESTEREREMN
R EE KA E - B E &
REBTERBERTNEERE RIT
BHE UREXERNBRNMRER
2Bz

HE-_ZTZ-_AFE=A=+—BItEE
BRI AEE SES2HEXRSH
Fan T

Number of attendance

Name of Director BEEHS HERE
Mr. Fang Lin Hu R SR A 4/4
Ms. Jin Song SR L 4/4
Dr. Guo Yi *' MBRREL" 1/1
Dr. Zeng Li =RVA - Tk 3/3
#1 Dr. Guo Yi was redesignated from an INED to an executive director on 7 #1 SHRBLERN T -_NFNAEHBBILIE

June 2024 and ceased to be a member of each of the Board committees
upon his redesignation.

#2 Dr. Zeng Li was appointed as an INED and a member of each of the
Board committees on 7 June 2024.

The Audit Committee reviewed the half yearly and full year
consolidated financial statements, including the Group’s
adopted accounting principles and practices, risk management
and internal control systems with internal audit function and
financial reporting matters (in conjunction with the external
auditor for the annual results). The Audit Committee endorsed
the accounting treatments adopted by the Company and,
to the best of its ability assured itself that the disclosures of
the financial information in this annual report comply with the
applicable accounting standards and Appendix D2 of the Listing
Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the former auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited
retired as auditor of the Company upon expiration of its term
of office at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 23 August 2024. The Audit Committee
considered and assessed the proposed appointment of SFAI
(HK) CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company to fill the
vacancy arising from the retirement of the former auditor, and
made recommendation to the Board for consideration and
approval.

The appointment of SFAI (HK) CPA Limited as auditor was
approved by the Company’s shareholders at the special general
meeting held on 28 March 2025.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, SFAI (HK)
CPA Limited in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$800,000
and HK$ nil respectively.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors of the Company acknowledged their responsibility
for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and
applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.
The Group has adopted the going concern basis in preparing
its financial statements.

A statement by the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 89 to 95 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing on an ongoing basis
and ensuring that sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems are maintained within the Group in
order to safeguard the Group’s assets and the interests of
the Company’s shareholders. These systems are designed
under the framework of a defined management structure
with specified limits of authority and control responsibilities to
manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and help to provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Group adopts an ongoing risk management approach
to identify and assess the key inherent risks that affect the
achievement of its objectives. Each business unit is responsible
for identifying, assessing and managing risks within its
business, ensuring that appropriate internal controls for
effective management are implemented. The management is
responsible for overseeing the risk management and internal
control activities of the Group through regular meetings
with the business units to ensure principal risks are properly
managed. Policies, standards and procedures covering the
financial, operational and compliance controls of the Group
for safeguarding the Group’s assets, complying with rules and
regulations and ensuring the reliability of financial information are
established. The Board with the support of the Audit Committee
reviews the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems annually.

The Audit Committee is delegated with authorities to assist
the Board to fulfill its oversight role over the risk management
and internal control systems by reviewing and evaluating
on a regular basis the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Company’s financial controls, and these systems. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee, after
taking into consideration the size of the Group’s activities and
operations, had adopted a risk-based approach in identifying
the scope of review for the Group’s business units. The review
was conducted by the Group’s risk management and internal
audit function independent of the business unit, which covered
appraisal of the systems by conducting tests on operating
procedures. Audit findings and recommendations were
reported to the Audit Committee and the senior management.
The Audit Committee and the Board were satisfied with the
result of the review and concluded that the key areas of the risk
management and internal control systems are reasonably and
adequately implemented to their satisfaction.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Company recognises the importance of good business
ethics, which along with good corporate governance, are
essential foundation to success. The Group values an ethical
approach to business activities to create a safe, trusting and
cooperative work environment and thereby building up a healthy
corporate culture. An anti-corruption policy has been in place
to promote and support anti-corruption laws and regulations.
In addition, a whistleblowing policy and system has been
established for employees and those who deal with the Group
(e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Group.

With respect to handling and dissemination of inside information
(the “Information”), the Group is aware of its obligations under
the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the guiding principle that when the Information comes to the
Group’s attention, it should be properly disclosed as soon as
practicable. In this regard, the Group has adopted an inside
information disclosure policy (the “Policy”) since 2013 with
the aim of preventing the disclosure of premature Information
and ensuring shareholders and the public are provided with
full, accurate and timely Information about the activities,
performance and financial condition of the Group. The Policy
covers the procedures as to () maintain the confidentiality of
Information, such as identification of project by using code
name, dissemination on a need-to-know basis and (i) identify,
assess and monitor the dissemination of Information. The Audit
Committee and the Board consider that the procedures are
effective in discharging the Group’s obligations in respect of the
Information.

The Board has conducted annual review of the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and considers that these systems are effective and adequate.

K.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the directors were
briefed and updated with written materials on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Newly appointed director was provided
with an induction upon appointment, including briefings on
the Group’s operations and corporate governance practices,
company policies and procedures. In addition, the Company
had organised an in-house training seminar for the directors,
which was conducted by qualified professional covering update
of the Listing Rules, with training materials provided. Directors
are also encouraged to attend outside seminars and talks
organised by professional bodies to enrich their knowledge in
discharging their duties as a director.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development by
attending training courses and/or referring materials on the
topics related to corporate governance and regulations:

Executive Directors

Dr. Xie Yi Attending in-house training course and
self-study

Mr. Cheng Yong Attending in-house training course and
self-study

Dr. Lou Yi Attending in-house training course and
self-study

Attending in-house training course and
outside seminars/talks conducted by
professional bodies and self-study

Attending in-house training course and
self-study

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen

Dr. Guo Vi "

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fang Lin Hu Attending in-house training course and

self-study
Ms. Jin Song Attending in-house training course and
self-study
Dr. Zeng Li * Attending in-house training course and
self-study
#1 Dr. Guo Yi was redesignated from an INED to an executive director on 7
June 2024.

#2 Dr. Zeng Li was appointed as an INED on 7 June 2024. An induction
training was provided by the Company to Dr. Zeng Li after his
appointment.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen is the company secretary of the Company
and has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 March 2025.

L.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognises the value of maintaining open
communication with its shareholders and is committed to
promoting effective communication with shareholders and
potential investors.

A Shareholder Communication Policy has been put in place to
promote effective engagement and a two-way dialogue with
shareholders and other stakeholders.

Shareholder Communication Policy

The Company strives to ensure that shareholders are given
ready access to balanced and understandable information
relating to the Group, which includes but not limited to the
Group’s financial performance, governance and material
developments, to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in
an informed manner, and to engage actively with the Company.
The Board will review the Shareholder Communication Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company uses a number of channels to disseminate
corporate information to shareholders and potential investors
through:

(1)  the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk)
(2) the Company’s website (www.extrawell.com.hk)

(8) corporate information in electronic forms and/or printed
forms, such as annual and interim reports, circulars
and explanatory materials, shall be provided in plain
language in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate
shareholders’ understanding

(4) the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar,
Tricor Tengis Limited (changed to Tricor Investor Services
Limited with effect from 16 May 2025) in respect of share
registration and related matters

(6)  annual general meeting (and other general meetings)
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(Continued)

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
The Board members, in particular, Chairman of the Board as
well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee (or their delegates) will
endeavor to make themselves available at the annual general
meetings to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.
Shareholders’ meetings are, as far as practicable, arranged to
be held at a convenient location with the aim of encouraging
shareholders’ participation.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries, request for publicly
available information and provide comments and suggestions
to the Board by mail to the Company’s principal place of
business at Suites 2206-08, 22/F, Devon House, Taikoo
Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong, by email to
info@extrawell.com.hk, and/or via the Company’s investor corner
published on the Company website (www.extrawell.com.hk).
Shareholders can also make enquiries to the Board directly at
the general meetings of the Company.

Having reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of different channels of communication available to the
shareholders, and with reference to the shareholders’
feedbacks in shareholders’ meetings, the Company considered
that the Shareholder Communication Policy has been effectively
implemented during the year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda stipulates
that the directors shall, on the requisition of shareholders
holding not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up capital
of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to convene a special
general meeting of the Company. The requisition must state
the purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the
relevant requisitionists and deposited at the registered office
of the Company. If the directors do not within twenty-one
days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings

Section 79 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda stipulates
that the Company shall, on the requisition in writing by either
any number of shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company or not less
than 100 shareholders, (a) give to shareholders entitled to
receive notice of the next annual general meeting notice of any
resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at that meeting, and (b) circulate to these shareholders
a written statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect
to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting.

Section 80 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda stipulates
that the written requisition as signed by the requisitionists must
be deposited at the registered office of the Company with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
giving effect thereto not less than six weeks before the meeting
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not
less than one week before the meeting in case of any other
requisition.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERRS

INTRODUCTION

As a member of the global business community, the Group
recognises the importance of sustainable development and
has continuously implemented various measures to improve
and strengthen corporate governance and related policies
on sustainability over the past years and will continue to
optimise its ongoing efforts and commitment to sustainability
performance in the years to come. This Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Report was prepared in accordance
with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (the “Guide”, renamed as the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Code” with effect from 1 January
2025) under Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules, which reports
the Group’s strategies and practices in relation to environmental
protection, social responsibility and operational governance.
This report has been reviewed and approved by the Board and
should be read in conjunction with the Group’s Annual Report
2025; in particular the Corporate Governance Report, to gain
more understanding of the Group’s ESG performance.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is at the core corporate governance framework
and has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy,
performance and reporting. The established governance
structure comprising the Board and the audit, remuneration
and nomination committees (the “Board Committees”), which
has laid a solid foundation for oversight of the ESG issues, shall
ensure that the Group has corporate governance processes in
place that are effective for overseeing the Group’s management
of significant ESG risks, and that it coordinates the practices
and actions of the Group for sustainable development, through
the management team in the day-to-day implementation of the
ESG strategy and periodic reporting for emerging or continually
evolving ESG issues. The top-down governance structure;
namely the Board, the Board Committees and the management
team at the Group’s business segments, ensures the effective
deployment and implementation of the Group’s ESG risk
management and enables continuing improvement in ESG
performance. Details of governance information for the Board
and the Board Committees are set out on pages 27 to 48, and
the ESG management and controls are detailed in this report.
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (Continued)

The Board is committed to conducting regular review and
evaluation of the Group’s ESG-related policies and risks so as
to ensure that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems (the “Systems”) are in place and
embedded at the Group’s business segments. As the Group’s
manufacturing plants in Changchun, China (or the “PRC”)
involve production process (the “Manufacturing Activities”),
which will have a material ESG impact, an “Environmental
Protection, Occupational Health and Safety Management
Committee” (the “Management Committee”) has been formed
since 2017 to lead the management of environmental protection
as well as to foster a safe and healthy work environment. The
Management Committee includes staff members who are
professionally qualified with relevant permits recognised by
the Chinese authorities to administrate and monitor the works.
Since the Group’s Hong Kong headquarters, trading and gene
development activities (the “Non-Manufacturing Activities”) are
generally office’s operations and will have a limited ESG impact,
no such committee is established and senior staff members of
various departments are engaged to implement the sustainable
policies and practices adopted by the Group.

The Group’s risk management and internal audit function, in
conjunction with the Management Committee, will conduct
regular review on the effectiveness of the Systems and report
the findings to the Audit Committee and the Board on material
ESG issues on an annual basis.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

In preparation of this ESG Report, the Group observes and
applies the principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency as set out in the Guide in order to provide a clear,
balanced, quantifiable and comparative information to its
stakeholders:

(1) Materiality : Major stakeholders are identified and their
concerns on ESG issues are considered.
ESG issues that have material impacts on the
Group’s sustainable development form the
basis of this report.

(2) Quantitative : Where practicable, all environmental and
social key performance indicators (“‘KPIs”) are
disclosed in a quantitative manner.

(8) Balance : The information reflecting the overall
performance of the Group in ESG aspects
are disclosed in an objective and impartial

manner.

(4) Consistency : Methods used in the calculation of KPIs are
consistent with those used in past years to
facilitate a fair comparison.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

The information provided in this report covers the period from 1
April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “2025 Period”) and relates to
the ESG performance of the Group’s core operating segments;
namely manufacturing and trading (and gene development
— its operation was discontinued on 7 March 2025) as well
as the Hong Kong headquarters, which reflects the business
activities of the Group’s subsidiaries disclosed in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant
changes to the reporting boundary of the activities included in
this report when compared to the period from 1 April 2023 to
31 March 2024 (the “2024 Period”).
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
IDENTIFICATION OF MATERIAL ESG
ISSUES

The Group values opinions from stakeholders including
shareholders, staff members, business partners, governments
and the communities, and is committed to building constructive
relationships with internal and external stakeholders through
different communication channels including trainings and
workshops with management and general staff, telephone,
email enquiries and general meetings with shareholders and
investors, tender meetings, appraisal and assessment with
suppliers, feedback mechanism and meetings with customers,
dialogues with local environmental departments, industry
forums, and other business and social meetings, and via the
Company’s website, annual reports, and information disclosure
in accordance with the continuing obligations under the
Listing Rules, with a view to achieving its objectives towards
sustainable growth.

Management Committee of the manufacturing segment, senior
management and departmental staff of relevant operations
have been engaged to communicate with stakeholders in
order to understand their concerns and expectations. Through
continuous discussions and communications with stakeholders
using various channels, the materiality issues identified in the
2025 Period have not changed significantly when compared to
the 2024 Period. The following table summarises the material
issues identified and reported by the Group in the 2025 Period:
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5. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND

5. A=A Bﬁ%%éﬁi
2

ki IJEjt

IDENTIFICATION OF MATERIAL ESG RE HERELRRE
ISSUES (Continued)
Activities
EE
Non-
Manufacturing’ Manufacturing*
Subject Areas and Aspects FTEHERER st Bl
A. Environmental Aspects A REEMR
A1 Emissions A1 BE YD
Air pollutants RS Y M NM
Greenhouse gas BERES M NM
Water wastes r‘ K M NM
Solid wastes BB M NM
A2 Use of Resources A2 BRfE A
Water 7K M NM
Electricity ESW) M NM
Natural gas RAR M NM
Fuel (vehicle) AR (2 E) M NM
Packing material BEME M NM
A3 The Environment and Natural Resources A3 IRIBERRAEIR M NM
A4 Climate Change A4 FAxE 1t M NM
B. Social Aspects . HEEE
Employment and Labour Practices ERERBEIER
B1 Employment B1 B & M M
B2 Health and Safety Bo @il s M M
B3 Development and Training B3 & Mg M M
B4 Labour Standards B4 & T 48 M M
Operating Practices =B 1E
B5 Supply Chain Management B5 fEHEHE R M M
B6 Product Responsibility B6 EmEE M M
B7 Anti-corruption B7 R&E)S M M
Community &
B8 Community Investment B i@ & M M
# referred to the Group’s manufacturing segment in Changchun, China * BAEBURTFRERENEES
* Included the Group’s Hong Kong headquarters, trading segment and gene * PRAEENBESLIH BHHoERE
development segment (The gene development segment was discontinued RESR(EERESRER_T_RF
on 7 March 2025) ZAEBERIEEE)
M Material M ESUN
NM  Not Material NM  FREX
Feedback K &8
Stakeholders are welcome to send their comments and ?ET\ DA =EEEBRAET  FEHL
suggestions on this ESG Report to the head office of the B G A (FE R AR T A I (www.

Company by post, fax or email as detailed in the Company’s

website www.extrawell.com.hk.
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extrawell.com.hk)) [A] 248 2
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6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
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6.1 Emissions (A1)

It is the Group’s policy for each business segment or
operation to manage the environmental impacts of
emissions caused by its activities and comply with the
applicable environmental laws, prevention and control
regulations in which it operates. During the 2025 Period,
the Group has not breached the related emissions laws

and regulations.

Emissions arising from the Manufacturing Activities
include air pollutants, greenhouse gas (“GHG”), water and
solid wastes, whilst the Non-Manufacturing Activities have
insignificant emissions of air pollutants, water and solid
wastes but limited GHG emissions.

In this report, GHG is categorised into three scopes as
below:

M

(i)

Note:

Scope 1

Scope 2

Scope 3

refers to direct emissions from sources
that are owned or controlled by the
operations. Examples include natural
gas combusted for boilers, fuels used
by owned vehicles.

refers to indirect emissions from
consumption of purchased electricity,
steam or other sources of energy.

refers to indirect emissions from other
activities that are consequences of the
operations but are not directly owned or
controlled. Examples include business
travel, third-party distribution and
logistics.

GHG emissions data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent (tonne).
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6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

6.1 Emissions (A1) (Continued)

6.1.1 Non-Manufacturing Activites — GHG emissions

arising from the Non-Manufacturing Activities mainly
relate to indirect emissions of purchased electricity
under Scope 2 and third-party distribution and
logistics as well as business travels under Scope
3. During the 2025 Period, the respective Scope
2 and Scope 3 carbon dioxide (“CO2”) emissions
amounted to a total of about 10 tonnes (2024: 11
tonnes) and 8 tonne (2024: 3 tonne) respectively.

6.1.2 Manufacturing Activities — As one of the pharmaceutical

manufacturers in the PRC, the Management
Committee is responsible for implementing policies
for the GMP factory in Changchun, and monitoring
the factory’s performance so as to ensure its
strict compliance with the GMP standards and
environmental requirements under the relevant
laws and regulations such as the Environmental
Protection Law {3z 3% {R #& %)), the Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law ({7K 75 22 [ 78 %)), the
Prevention and Control of Air Pollution Law (X &
75 B8 7%)) and the Prevention and Control of
Enwronment Pollution by Solid Wastes ({ [& £ £ 4
S5 R IRIBE A R)), of the PRC. During the 2025
Period, the factory handled its major emissions in
the following manner:

(a) Waste gas emission management

The major source of waste gas emission
comes from natural gas boilers. Air pollutants
mainly include sulfur oxide (“SOx”), nitrogen
oxide (“NOx”), and particle material (“PM”). The
factory has installed a desulfurisation tower to
ensure levels of emission are in compliance
with the standards. The tower is functioning
well and levels of emission are significantly
lower than the lower limit of the national
emission requirements. In the 2025 Period,
SOx, NOx, and PM emissions amounted to
about 159 kgs (2024 78 kgs), 629 kgs (2024:
618 kgs) and 0 kg (2024: 0 kg) respectively.
The results were monitored and measured by
an independent third party in accordance with
the prevailing requirements of the Technical
Guidelines of Accounting Method for Pollution
Source Intensity Basic Principles ({J5 %R )&
58 12 B 17 15 m — 2 A)) of the PRC.
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6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)
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6.1 Emissions (A1) (Continued)

6.1.2 (Continued)

@

®)

Waste gas emission management
(Continued)

CO, emissions arising from natural gas boilers
and fuels for daily operations of vehicles
(Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2) and
business travels (Scope 3) amounted to about
814 tonnes (2024: 942 tonnes), 1,172 tonnes
(2024: 1,428 tonnes) and 11 tonnes (2024: 10
tonnes) respectively.

Wastewater management

The factory has built its own waste water
treatment facilities with daily capacity of
400 tonnes to treat the wastewater from its
production processes before discharge, and
about 25,062 tonnes (2024: 23,962 tonnes)
of effluents were treated and discharged
in the 2025 Period. To monitor and control
the discharge, the factory has worked jointly
with local environmental monitoring stations,
and an on-line monitoring system has been
installed to test and collect data on the
quality of effluent. In addition, the factory has
commissioned a third-party inspection unit
to conduct regular surveillance on effluent
discharge against the standards in order to
ensure timely detection of its abnormality and
implementation of corrective measures when
in exceedances.
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6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

6.1 Emissions (A1) (Continued)

6.1.2 (Continued)
(c) Solid waste management

The storages and disposals of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes are handled in
accordance with the requirements of relevant
rules and regulations in the PRC. During the
2025 Period, about 1,827 kgs (2024: 2,572
kgs) hazardous wastes generated from the
production process were disposed of with
waste management services provided by
contractors as designated by Jilin Province
Environmental Protection Office. The
decrease was primarily related to the change
in production mix. The non-hazardous wastes
of about 140 tonnes (2024: 143 tonnes)
were disposed of through wastes collection
services provided by the local authorities.

In practice, the Group endeavors to adopt measures to
reduce carbon emissions, lower energy consumption and
pollution, and encourage employees to consider related
environmental factors from time to time. The Group has
been taking the practices and measures to achieve its
objectives. The Group is striving for reducing the GHG
emissions and the hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
arising mainly from manufacturing and will focus on
identifying potential areas for improvement. The Group
has reviewed the relevant data in the three financial years
from 2023 to 2025. The three years’ average intensity of
the respective GHG emission and hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are generally similar to the baseline
data of 2022, however, the recent data in 2025 indicates
continuous improvement in GHG emission reduction. The
Group will continue to strive for reducing the intensity of
GHG emissions and the hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes, in the two financial years from 2026 to 2027,
by using the data in 2025 referenced to the amount
generated per HK$'000 of revenue and per employee
as the baseline, with the aim of achieving further
improvement.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued) 6. REEHE@®@
6.2 Use of Resources (A2) 6.2 BIR{E M (A2

It is the Group’s policy to encourage all staff to
be environmentally friendly at work to reduce the
consumption of paper, water and electricity and effective
use of the resources. Measures being implemented
include double-sided printing and copying, disseminating
information in digital format, waste paper recycling,
turning off power consuming devices when not in use.

6.2.1 Non-Manufacturing Activities — The major resources
used are electricity, and paper (including own
offices use and bulk printing of annual and interim
reports and circulars distributed to the Company’s
shareholders through printing firms). In the 2025
Period, the electricity consumption was in aggregate
of about 13,719 KWhs (2024: 15,000 KWhs) and
paper used was in aggregate of about 0.7 tonnes (2024:
1.3 tonnes), of which about 0.7 tonnes (2024: 1.3
tonnes) were FSC certified paper.

The Group has been making its best efforts to
reduce paper consumption by distributing office files
in digital format, reusing single-sided paper, and
collecting double-sided printed paper for recycler’s
handling. The Group also adopts the practice
of green procurement that eco-friendly paper is
selected for office use and bulk printing of reports.
In addition, more shareholders of the Company
contribute to reduction in paper consumption by
accepting to receive corporate information via
electronic means.
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6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued) 6. REEHE@®@
6.2 Use of Resources (A2) (Continued) EIRE A A2) (&)
6.2.2 Manufacturing Activites — These consume mainly 6.22 RIEEB —HEZHFEK
water, electricity, natural gas, fuel for vehicles and BN RAR - ABERE R

packing materials used for finished products. Paper
consumption in its daily operations amounted to
about 1.1 tonnes (2024: 1.4 tonnes) relates to
paper used during the processes of procurement,
invoicing, production, quality assurance, marketing
and administration, of which the consumption in
various departments is being monitored by the
management. Paper consumption was reduced
mainly resulted from (i) management’s continuing
efforts to promote paperless office within internal
departments by better utilisation of the electronic
network and digitalisation of files as far as
practicable in the paper procurement process, and
(i) less consumption in printed materials related to
promotion and symposium activities, in the 2025
Period.

The Group designed the installation of a
photovoltaic power system to its GMP factory in
Changchun in the 2024 Period, for the purpose
of achieving energy conservation and emission
reduction objectives. The photovoltaic power
system has come into operation in the 2025 Period.

The major resources consumed in the periods are
set out below:
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2025 2024
—ZE-RF ZEZNF

Type of Amount Intensity* Amount Intensity*

resources consumed FrEEERER HE B H=E BEx
1. Water (tonne) 7K (HE) 36,161 0.65 51,679 0.87
2. Electricity (KWh) BH(FRE) 1,972,351 35.83 2,496,480 4224
3. Natural gas (m®) RAR (LK) 333,810 6.02 390,318 6.60
4. Fuel for vehicles (iter) REBRE(F) 33,198 0.60 44,625 0.76
5. Packing materials (tonne) £ % #p L (1) 642 0.01 637 0.01

Amount generated per HK$’000 of revenue.
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6.2 Use of Resources (A2) (Continued)

6.2.2 (Continued)
It is the Group’s policy to ensure effective and
efficient use of resources in the production process
with the aim of minimising wastes and reducing
consumption of the resources.

Water — Water is a key element of the products
and production process. Water supplies are
provided by the municipally owned water supply
company, which will ensure relatively stable and
adequate water supplies. During the 2025 Period,
there were no reported difficulties or issues arising
from water supplies.

The Group recognises the importance of water
conservation, and therefore has closely monitored
the operation with the aim of identifying means and
ways in saving and reusing water; including setting
clear instructions for water used (time, volume and
frequency) in the production process, more frequent
inspection to reduce leakage in water supplies,
and enhance employees’ consciousness of water
conservation in operation process training.

Other Resources — Measures being implemented
include avoiding procurement of high-energy
consumption materials, regular monitoring
performance of the production equipment,
upgrading and phasing out non eco-friendly
machines to raise the utilisation of energy and
resources. Packing materials primarily comprise
paper, glasses and plastics used for the Group’s
finished products. As a good practice, the Group
endeavors to select eco-friendly materials in the
procurement process, and minimise wastes by
managing purchase quantities.

6.3 The Environment and Natural Resources (A3)

The Group is dedicated to reducing the adverse effect of
its activities that could result in environmental damages,
controlling the level of consumption of natural resources
and promoting environmental awareness among its
employees at workplaces. In production, the Group
has regularly inspected and monitored the production
process to ensure strict compliance with relevant laws
and regulations on emissions. In office, management
has persistently reminded colleagues to protect the
environment by recycling papers and plastic, turning off
unused electricity devices. Management has also kept
colleagues abreast of various environmental issues and
encouraged colleagues to participate in activities like tree
planting.
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6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued) 6.

6.4 Climate Change (A4)

The Group understands that climate change poses
increasing risks to global sustainable development, which
not only brings extreme weather, and its consequences
have a far-reaching impact on various economic and
social activities. As a member of an environmentally
aware business community, the Group is committed to
reducing GHG emissions, and aligning its businesses with
sustainable growth development.

The material climate change risks which the Group is
exposed to are tied to its Manufacturing Activities in
the PRC. The Group has identified the climate-related
risks and the measures to cope with them. The risks of
changing climate that might affect its operations mainly
fall into two types; namely transition risks and physical
risks, as referenced to the report framework developed by
the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures.

Transition Risks — The transition risks are brought by
the nation’s target to peak its carbon dioxide emissions
before 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality before 2060.
It is expected that the Chinese authorities will implement
more stringent policies and regulations to control GHG
emissions, which will result in rising compliance-related
capital investment and operating costs. In addition, the
operations may also be exposed to higher risks of climate
change claims and litigations as well as reputational risks.
To mitigate the impact, the Group will actively manage
the compliance with the current policies and regulations,
and at the same time, closely monitor and prepare for the
emerging trends and development of relevant policies and
regulations to the industry so as to avoid cost increments,
non-compliance fines or reputational damages due to
poor or delayed response.

Physical Risks — The physical risks relate to extreme
climate and weather events such as floods or droughts,
storms, wildfires, extreme heat or extreme low
temperature. The increased frequency, duration and
severity of such events might cause disruptions to the
supply chain and production, impact economies and
endanger human life and health.

As a result, management has formulated the “Emergency
Plan for Environmental Emergencies” (the “Plan”) in
accordance with the relevant national, provincial and
municipal laws and administrative regulations, which set
out the emergency response procedures to protect staff
safety, and to avoid or reduce losses. The Plan will be
reviewed and updated annually to ensure its effectiveness.
In addition, annual training and drills will be carried out
to enhance employees’ awareness and their response
capabilities in times of emergencies.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued) 6.

6.4 Climate Change (Continued)

Due to the size and nature of operations, the Non-
Manufacturing Activities are the least vulnerable to the
impacts of climate change. Nevertheless, the Group has
remained committed to minimising the environmental
footprints of the operations with a particular focus on
reducing energy consumption, carbon emissions, paper
use, and waste.

Looking forward, the Group shall continue to monitor and
assess the evolving risks that climate change may bring
to the Group’s business, reforming the business practices
to minimise the impact of the Group’s operations on the
environment, and adopting policies that can help mitigate
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SOCIAL ASPECTS 7. HEEE
Employment and Labour Practices BERZEIER
7.1 Employment (B1) 7.1 1E1EB1)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 163 full-time
employees, and the Group’s manufacturing segment
accounts for approximately 94% of the Group’s total
workforce. The statistics of the Group’s total workforce
and the employee turnover rate of the manufacturing
segment are set out below:

R—F-_AF=A=t—HB &
SERA13EZBEER  MA
SESESDENERBHAEESR
THREKM% AEEETHAK
REGED BB BRKR KRG H
FIEnE

Total workforce by gender and age group (of the Group) HUFIRFRALE 7 2ETH
B (FrEH)
Age Group
F ¥ 48 Bl
Below 30 Between 30-50 Over 50 Total
Gender 4 Bl 308 AL T 30 £ 505% 508% M £ ot
Male B 3 35 28 66
Female zZ 4 72 21 97
Total #Et 7 107 49 163
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) BEKE IER@E

7.1 1EME(BI) (&)
HMFIRERBAERZ S ZES R
KE(%) (BRETHE)

7.1 Employment (B1) (Continued)
Employee turnover rate (%) by gender and age group
(manufacturing segment only?)

Age Group
F iR 4 Bl
Below 30 Between 30-50 Over 50 Total
Gender 4 Bl 305 AT 30 =50 5% 505% M £ et
Male B2 0% 3% 30% 13%
Female 1°8 33% 10% 65% 19%
Total @5t 17% 8% 45% 17%

Note: The employee turnover rate is calculated by (the number of
departures in the year + number of employees at the end of the
year in the category) x 100%.

! Information relating to the manufacturing segment is disclosed, as
the employee turnover rate of the trading and gene development
segments and Hong Kong headquarters is insignificant.

The Group appreciates its employees as valuable assets
to the Group’s success and sustainable development.
It is the Group’s policy to attract and retain high caliber
people for its business operations. The Group is
committed to promoting equal opportunities and diversity
in recruitment. The Group recruits people on the basis
of job requirements without discrimination on grounds of
age, gender, ethnic, politics or religion, trains and grows
their capabilities, rewards and makes promotion based on
their contributions. The Group remunerates its employees
based on industry practices. The Group arranges working
hours, rest periods, benefits and welfare including medical
and retirement protection in accordance with prevailing
labour laws of its operating units in which they operate.
The Group has relevant recruitment procedures in place to
prevent child and forced labour. The Group is committed
to ensuring that all applicable legal requirements are
observed in dealing with dismissal of any employee who
violates the Group’s regulations or persistently performs
below job requirements.

During the 2025 Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the labour laws and regulations
in the PRC and Hong Kong, including, the Labour Law
of the PRC, Labour Contract Law of the PRC, and
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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7.2 Health and Safety (B2) 7.2 REFEHZZ(B2)

7. SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)
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he Group is committed to providing and maintaining
a safe and healthy working environment for all its
employees.

For the Group’s office operations, management strives
to maintain smoke-free, healthy and safe working
environment. All employees are encouraged to participate
regularly emergency drills held by the office building
management.

For the Group’s GMP factory in the PRC, management
has persistently upheld the principle of safe production
and observed the requirements of the “Law of the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases” (5% %
&5 J8 %)) and “Fire Protection Law” (B 3%)), of the
PRC. There is no allowance of any personal consideration
but strict compliance of the requirements under the
GMP standards and the relevant laws and regulations.
Management has regularly conducted safety examinations
for production equipment, conducted drills and provided
training to employees in order to increase their awareness
and involvement in accident prevention.

During the 2025 Period, the Group has not breached
any laws and regulations in relation to occupational
health and safety and there were no work-related
fatalities in the Group’s operations and no work injury
cases (2024: nil cases) in the manufacturing segment
resulting in nil lost days (2024: nil days). Measures have
been taken to strengthen the production safety with the
aim of minimising risk of injury through safety publicity
and education in order to enhance consciousness of
all employees. The Group has also deployed internal
resources to optimise the workplaces to maintain a safe
and healthy working environment for the employees.

Preventive Measures on Covid-19 during the 2024
Period and 2025 Period

As a stakeholder of the society, the Group follows the
government measures, both mandatory and voluntary, for
fighting against the epidemic.
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

7.2 Health and Safety (B2) (Continued)

Preventive Measures on Covid-19 during the 2024
Period and 2025 Period (Continued)

The PRC — the Group’s manufacturing segment. As
the Chinese authorities announced the downgrading
of management of Covid-19 from Class A to Class B
from January 2023, the Group followed through the
updated guidance by the Chinese authorities. However,
general infection control measures and hygiene practices
for preventing infection are maintained to safeguard
the health of its staff in the workplace. Provision of
adequate disinfection supplies like face masks and
hand sanitisers to employees have been maintained
and a designated team of personnel monitors regular
cleaning and disinfection of areas in the respective
workplaces. In addition, employees are educated the
need to keep hygiene practices. During the 2024 Period
and 2025 Period, the Covid-19 has limited impact on the
operations.

Hong Kong — the Group’s headquarters, trading and
gene segments. In May 2023, the World Health
Organization declared an end to Covid-19 as a public
health emergency of international concern. During the
2024 Period, the Covid-19 situation had subsided
substantially, however, control measures and hygiene
practices for preventing infection including keeping
hygiene practices, wearing mask if circumstances require,
carrying out regular cleaning and disinfection for door
grips and working areas are maintained in the workplace.
During the 2024 Period and 2025 Period, the Covid-19
has limited impact on the operations.
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

7.3 Development and Training (B3)

The Group organises and provides on-the-job training
to develop its employees’ potential in order to support
the Group’s sustainable development. The Group also
provides training subsidies to support its employees
at senior level to receive external professional training
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skKills.
Employees are encouraged to equip themselves with
relevant academic and professional qualifications by
attending external training programs to facilitate their
personal growth and development. Relevant induction
trainings are provided to new employees.

As to the Group’s manufacturing segment in the PRC,
regular training programs have been provided in the
areas of production process operations, quality and
safety management, applicable legal and regulatory
requirements, important environmental factors and risk
controls to relevant personnel including production
technicians, safety management personnel and operating
personnel.

As part of the training program of the Group’s
manufacturing segment in the PRC, the Group annually
organises team building activities in group for its
employees which usually takes a day or a few days, with
the aim of enhancing employee engagement and team
bonding, fostering their communication and problem
solving skills at work and increasing their understanding
of the Group’s culture and value. The Group organised
the team building activities to develop and achieve its
training objectives, in particular, a company outing during
the 2024 Period after the uplifting of the control measures
and movement restrictions in the PRC, and a company
gathering event during the 2025 Period.
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

7.3 Development and Training (B3) (Continued)
Summary of the training performance during the 2025

7. £E2E@E @

BIERE THER @

7.3 #REEILZH(B3) (&)
—E_RFHMBIRBEHMES

Period is as follows: AN -

2025
Percentage of employees trained FIE ML —E_REF
By gender & 1% Bl 8l 5
Male XS 92%
Female M 95%
By category RERE S
Key executive/Senior management FETRAE /SHRER 100%
Middle management FRERE 94%
General staff —fRET 94%
Note: Percentage of employees trained = (number of employees trained Misk : 28 T(hth=(GRMERIZER A

by gender or by category + number of employees at the end of the

year by gender or by category) x 100%

(Total number of employees trained + total number of
employees at the end of the year) x 100% = 94%

FRETEE)x 100%

(RIETHRE +FRETHE)
x100% = 94%
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

7. g
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7.3 Development and Training (B3) (Continued) 7.3 #/EEE5(B3) ()

2025
Average number of training hours per employee & % & & ¥ 15 3§ B & —E-FRF
By gender 1% B8l o
Male XS 5
Female M 5
By category ZER & 5
Key executive/Senior management FETRAE SHRERE 12
Middle management AR E R 8
General staff —f&ET 4

7.4

Note: Average number of training hours per employee = number of
training hours by gender or by category + number of employees at
the end of the year by gender or by category.

Total number of training hours =+ total number of
employees at the end of the year = 5.0 hours (2024: 6.2
hours)

Labour Standards (B4)

All employees of the Group are employed in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations on employment
including, inter alias, working hours, rest periods and
staff benefits. The Group prohibits the use of child and
forced labour at all its operation units and has relevant
recruitment procedures in place to prevent child and
forced labour. During the recruitment process, the Group
requires all applicants to provide true and accurate
personal information including their proofs of identity for
checking purpose, particularly for verifying the photo on
the documents and reviewing the age. Regular reviews
and checking are conducted to guard against child or
forced labour in the Group’s operations. The Group will
take immediate action to terminate the employment of
anyone who provides false information or in breach of the
Group’s regulations, and conduct an investigation.

During the 2025 Period, the Group has complied with
laws and regulations in relation to the prevention of child
and forced labour, including Labour Law of the PRC,
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the
PRC, and Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, and
found no violations of laws and regulations regarding child
and forced labour.
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Operating Practices = EEH

7.5 Supply Chain Management (B5) 7.5 REHEIEBS)

The Group has been working continuously with its
suppliers for supply of goods ranging from raw materials,
packaging materials and finished goods, with the
objectives of improving the quality of raw materials, and
delivering high quality products to its customers, for the
Group’s manufacturing and trading activities.

Manufacturing Activities — The Group’s manufacturing
segment with GMP factory located in Changchun, the
PRC, has established a quality management system
to regulate the production and quality management
of drugs and has implemented procedures in material
procurement, evaluation and management of suppliers’
quality. All procurement is conducted with PRC suppliers,
and the Group has clearly notified its suppliers to comply
with relevant quality standards and provide necessary
permits if so required by the relevant laws and regulations
for the goods supplied. Specific procedures have been
implemented in quality control and inventory management
in order to ensure the Group’s products are consistently
manufactured in accordance with the registration
requirements, and to minimise the risks of contamination,
detect, monitor and rectify errors in production process.
The Group’s procurement procedures follow through
relevant laws and regulations. Through the internal filing
of suppliers’ quality, quality standard, on-site audit,
quality assessment, inspections and trials and handling
of quality problems, the identification and management of
major raw materials and the environmental or social risks
caused by suppliers have been facilitated. The Group
makes procurement on an open, fair and impartial basis
without any discrimination against any particular supplier,
and only select those suppliers with good business
track records without material non-compliance cases or
unethical behaviours.

The Group is committed to supporting local economies
by prioritising procurement from local suppliers to
reduce the carbon footprint from transportation. The
Group continuously monitors the policies implemented
by the PRC government and will consider adopting the
recommendations of official organisations, to purchase
environmentally friendly products or services that have
less impact on the environment.
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Operating Practices (Continued)

7.5 Supply Chain Management (B5) (Continued)

7.6

Trading Activities — For imported products, the Group
adheres to the principle to minimise the negative impact
of the entire supply chain on the environment and society
by selecting and engaging suppliers who manufacture
their products under conditions and practices required
by the GMP regulations and operate in compliance with
their local environmental and labour laws. During the
2025 Period, there was only small quantity of products
imported from overseas for pilot sales.

During the 2025 Period, the Group, as a whole, co-
operated with about 23 suppliers (2024: 23), of which 22
suppliers were from the PRC and 1 supplier from Spain,
and over 99% of the purchases were from suppliers in the
PRC (2024: 100%).

Product Responsibility (B6)

The Group places great emphasis on maintaining
and improving the quality of its products. The Group
has implemented a comprehensive quality control
and inspection procedures to ensure product quality
and safety from procurement of raw materials,
packaging materials and finished products. All products
manufactured and sold by the Group to its customers
in the PRC have met the GMP production standards
and complied with the registration requirements with the
National Medical Products Administration of the PRC.
During the 2025 Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
in relation to health and safety, advertising, labeling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress that had a significant
impact on the Group, including but not limited to the Drug
Administration Law of the PRC, Advertising Law of the
PRC, Law of the PRC on Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests, and Patent Law of the PRC.
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7. SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued) 7. H*EE@E @
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Operating Practices (Continued)

7.6 Product Responsibility (B6) (Continued)

Product and Service Quality — All products sold by
the Group have clear instructions and specifications as
to its composition, quality and safety use for end-user
protection purpose, which are in compliance with the laws
and regulations. A team of personnel was designated
to handle enquiries and follow up customer feedbacks
on quality from distribution to clinical usage, and to
provide assistance on recall of pharmaceutical products.
During the 2025 Period, the Group did not have recalled
products due to safety and health reasons.

Customer Satisfaction for Product and Service — The
Group highly values the quality of customer services to
satisfy customers’ needs and expectations to the best
of ability. The Group has developed corresponding
management system and standardized operation
procedures to respond to complaints on the market
and customer enquiries on quality information in a timely
manner. During the 2025 Period, the Group did not
record any material complaint related to products and
services.

Protection of Intellectual Rights — The Group has set up
mechanism to protect the intellectual properties that have
been acquired for research, development and production,
including patent rights, technology, trade secrets and
materials in the research and development processes.
The confidentiality-related mechanism requires employees
to maintain a high degree of confidentiality and to use and
carefully handle trade secret data.

Customer Privacy Protection — The Group implemented
measures on protection of customers’ data and privacy
and carried out supervision. Guidelines were provided
to the employees regarding the collection, management
and destruction of the customer data. The Group restricts
employee access to sensitive data and deploys data
security measures to protect the customer’s information.

During the 2025 Period, the Group has not breached the
laws and regulations regarding product responsibility.
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7. SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

72

Operating Practices (Continued)

7.7 Anti-corruption (B7)

The Company recognises the importance of good
business ethics, which along with good corporate
governance, are essential foundation to success. The
Group values an ethical approach to business activities to
create a safe, trusting and cooperative work environment
and thereby building up a healthy corporate culture.

The Company has established ethics code to promote
integrity and accountability, which requires all group
companies and employees, to strictly comply with the
local laws and regulations. The code contains, inter
alia, provisions for bribery, extortion, fraud, or any other
malpractices and whistleblowing procedures. The Group
adopts a zero tolerance approach towards any form
of bribery, corruption and fraud. The Company has
also developed policies and systems that promote and
support the applicable laws and regulations on anti-
corruption, including the Company Law, Criminal Law,
Anti-Unfair Competition Law, and any relevant anti-
corruption and bribery laws and regulations, of the PRC,
and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.
In particular, all unfair competition behaviours such as
commercial bribery were prohibited in the sales and
procurement processes.

The anti-corruption policy formulated by the Company
specifies the obligations of the Group and those working
for and on the Group’s behalf in observing and upholding
the Group’s standing; and provides information and
guidance on how to identify and address the bribery and
corruption issue, while the whistleblowing policy provides
reporting channels and guidance on reporting suspected
misconducts, and reassurance to persons who report his/
her concerns in accordance with the aforesaid policies of
protection against unfair disciplinary action or victimisation
for any genuine reports made; and allow fair and
independent investigation of any impropriety, misconduct
or malpractice in any matters related to the Group and
appropriate follow-up actions. The Board and the Audit
Committee will review and monitor the implementation
and effectiveness of the whistleblowing system on a
regular basis.
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7. SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued) 7. H*EE@E @

Operating Practices (Continued)

7.7 Anti-corruption (B7) (Continued)

The Group provides regular training to employees to
update them with the current trends and bribery issues
faced by the Group, which covers legal knowledge about
anti-corruption and integrity behaviours in the workplaces,
and ensure that they apply the ethics code and observe
the Group’s policies in their work. The Group also
encourages prompt internal reporting of any suspected
misconduct, irregularities and malpractices. Training on
the Group’s policies forms part of the induction process
for new employees. Directors of the Company studied
relevant regulatory updates and/or attended external
training seminar organised by professional bodies to
refresh their knowledge in relation to anti-corruption laws
and regulations.

During the 2025 Period, the Group did not identify any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
and there were no reported cases of corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees.

COMMUNITY — COMMUNITY
INVESTMENT (BS)

As a socially responsible corporation, the Company is
committed to leverage its resources to facilitate the community
development and strongly encourages all staff members to
participate in volunteering and charitable activities, such as “Dress
Casual Day” and “Blood Donation”.

During the 2025 Period, staff members supported the
recycling programmes by the environmental group, Greeners
Action, including the Lai See Packet Reuse and Recycling
Programme and the Mooncake Boxes Collection Campaign,
for which unused and undamaged lai see packets and the
used mooncake boxes, were collected and deposited at the
designated collection stations, respectively. Further, staff
members donated surplus edible mooncakes in the Mooncake
Sharing Programme by the local food rescue charity, Food
Angel, for the underprivileged and those in need, and also
donated books in the Books for Love @10 campaign for charity
sale.
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9. ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE 9.

INDICATORS (“KPIs”) TABLE

The following table summarises the Group’s significant KPIs
information as set out in this report:
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2025 2024

—E-HEF —E_F
Environment BIR
Air pollutants (Kg) ZREEY(FR)
SOx HmaEy 159 78
NOx AREtw 629 618
PM CERR ) - =
Greenhouse gas (Tonne CO,) BERE (W =Sk 5x)
Total emission: R E : 2,015 2,389
Direct emission (Scope 1) BB (EBE) 814 942
Indirect emission (Scope 2) = BE ik (8 & 2) 1,182 1,434
Indirect emission (Scope 3) % BE ik (252 3) 19 13
Intensity per employee HIEERE 12 15
Wastes (Tonne) EEEE Y (WE)
Total hazardous waste produced FMEXEEREVRE 25,064 23,965
Intensity (Hazardous waste) per employee ZEERE(BEERBEEY) 154 151
Total non-hazardous waste produced FMEAEEREEMRE 140 143
Intensity (Non-hazardous waste) per employee ZRERE (BEEEY) 1 1
Energy consumption REJRH #E
Total energy consumption: BEREEAE .
Fuel consumed for vehicles (Liter) BB EFE (1) 33,198 44,625
Intensity (Fuel) per employee ZEBEE (R 204 281
Electricity (MWh) B CKFE) 1,986 2,511
Intensity (Electricity) per employee ZEERE(EN) 12 16
Natural gas (thousand m®) KRR (F LA K) 334 390
Intensity (Natural gas) per employee ZEB®E(RAR) 2 2
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9. ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE 9. REEEENER(BARE
INDICATORS (“KPIs”) TABLE (Continued) MEER] T @
2025 2024
“E-EHE C—T-@OF
Social e
Total workforce (persons) — Group IHEEI(AB)BEH-FKEEH 163 159
By gender: BHERE S
Male 3 66 59
Female L8 97 100
By age group: RERMAR B D -
<30 305 AT 7 6
30-50 30ZE505% 107 106
>50 505% A £ 49 47
By employment type: REBERE S :
Permanent 2 B 163 159
Part-time 314 - 1
Employee turnover rate (%) — Manufacturing BEREAE (%) — HE
By gender: RUERE D
Male S 13% 28%
Female Z 19% 24%
By age group: RERARE D :
<30 305 AT 0% 17%
30-50 30 & 508% 8% 14%
>50 508% BA £ 45% 58%
Employees trained (%) Z 1A B (%)
By gender: BEHERE S :
Male 3 92% 83%
Female L8 95% 85%
By category RERE 5
Key Executive/Senior management FETRAB BEEEASB 100% 83%
Middle management FEERAE 94% 71%
General staff —®ET 94% 86%
Average number of training hours per employee & &EEFHZHIEH
By gender: BHRE S :
Male 5 5 7
Female hg 5 6
By category: RERE S :
Key Executive/Senior management FEBETHRAB BEEEAS 12 14
Middle management FEEEAS 8 9
General staff —RETI 4 6
By employment type: REFERNE S :
Permanent i 100% 100%
Part-time T - —
Health and safety BREHERZE
Number of work-related fatalities TERET AR - —
Lost days due to work injury (days) THEBERHIERER) - —
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of its principal subsidiaries and an associate are set out in
notes 43 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The business review of the Group and the discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in the sections “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 7 and pages 8 to 21 of this
annual report respectively.

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
and information about laws and regulations affecting the businesses
of the Group and their compliance are included in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 49 to 75 of this annual
report. Furthermore, financial risk management and capital
management of the Group are set out in notes 40 and 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The above discussions and information form part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 96 to 97.

The directors do not recommend the payment of dividend in respect
of the year after taking into account factors including the Group’s
financial performance, operating and capital requirements and market
conditions. Currently, no formal dividend policy is adopted by the
Company.
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FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 220.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENT

No equity-linked agreement which may result in the Company issuing
shares was entered into during the year.

Details of the convertible bonds of the Company with principal
amount of HK$577,170,000 outstanding are disclosed in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2022, a share option
scheme (the “Option Scheme”) had been adopted by the Company,
which became effective on 2 September 2022 upon obtaining listing
approval from The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

From the effective date of the Option Scheme to 31 March 2025,
no share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Option Scheme.

Information about the Option Scheme is set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the reserves of the Company available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to about
HK$25,759,000 which was computed in accordance with the
Bermuda Companies Act. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account with a balance of HK$191,738,000 as at 31 March 2025
may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

During the year, the Group had not experienced any significant
problems with its employees or disruption to its operations due
to labour disputes nor had it experienced any difficulties in the
recruitment. The directors consider that the Group has maintained
good working relationship with its employees.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good
relationships with its customers and suppliers to the overall
development of its business. During the year, there were no disputes
between the Group and its customers and/or suppliers that would
have caused significant adverse impact to the Group’s business.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 83% of the
Group’s purchases and purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 25% of the Group’s purchases.

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interests in the Group’s five
largest customers and the suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive directors:
Xie Yi

Cheng Yong

LouYi

Wong Sau Kuen
Dr. Guo Yi”

# Dr. Guo Yi was appointed as an independent non-executive director (“INED”) on
14 April 2023 and redesignated as an executive director on 7 June 2024.

Dr. Xie Yi, Dr. Lou Yi, Ms. Wong Sau Kuen and Dr. Guo Yi are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Independent non-executive directors:

Fang Lin Hu
Jin Song
Zeng Li (appointed on 7 June 2024)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received from the INEDs, Mr. Fang Lin Hu, Ms.
Jin Song and Dr. Zeng Li, annual confirmations in writing pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”), and is satisfied that each of the
INEDs meets the independence criteria under the Listing Rules, and
considers each of the INEDs to be independent.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 111, other than the
Chairman, the directors of the Company, including the INEDs,
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company. In accordance with the provisions
of the Company’s bye-laws, Ms. Wong Sau Kuen and Ms. Jin Song
will retire as director by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election. The re-election of the retiring directors will be individually
voted on by the shareholders of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory obligation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group, and pursuant to the
recommendation made by the remuneration committee.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, no
director had material interests, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, no directors or their close associates are considered
to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, every director or other officer of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the directors
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

BEENRGD HERORERERE
ZEZERRE @

RARBDEBRRZHR

Number of Approximate
ordinary shares percentage of
Name of director Notes Capacity and nature of interest held/entitled interests held
i EREEZ FEERZ
EEHE e SORERMEER ZEREAE BB
Xie Yi (@  Through controlled corporations 900,000,000 37.66%
it 3% ik Dl i (NI
Cheng Yong (o)  Directly beneficially owned 830,000 0.04%
EE BEEERER
Through controlled corporations 140,760,000 5.89%
FERT A A
Held by spouse 5,090,000 0.21%
HmEBHE
146,680,000 6.14%
Notes: B 5
(@) These 900,000,000 shares represent conversion shares to be allotted and issued  (a) # % 900,000,000 8% f% 17 ¥ & % % B AUnited

to the bondholder, United Gene International Holdings Group Limited (‘UG
International”’) upon exercise in full of the conversion rights by UG International,
at conversion price of HK$0.6413 per share under the Company’s 20-year zero
coupon convertible bonds issued on 16 July 2013 with principal amount of
HK$577,170,000 outstanding. The entire issued share capital of UG International
is owned by JNJ Investments Ltd which is wholly owned by Biowindow Gene
Development (Hong Kong) Limited (‘HK Biowindow”), and the entire issued
share capital of HK Biowindow is owned by United Gene Group Ltd (a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands). The issued share capital of United Gene
Group Ltd is owned as to 33% by Ease Gold Investments Limited, which is wholly
owned by Dr. Xie Yi.

At 31 March 2025, there was a total of 2,390,000,000 shares issued by the
Company, and assuming the exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching
to the Company’s convertible bonds, UG International will hold approximately
27.36% of the enlarged share capital of the Company.

(b) 1,060,000 shares and 139,700,000 shares of the Company’s shares in issue
are respectively held by Merchandise Holdings Limited and United Gene Industry
Group Limited, both are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
are wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Yong.
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Gold Investments Limited # 5 33% # # ' ifl Ease
Gold Investments Limited A& 1 Lt 2 & A -

—T-AFZA=1+—A ARACBHTRG
3£ 52,390,000,000 4% ° 2 5% A A 7] ] % % (E 5
M s 2 R AR R H AT - UG International i 5
BARASER R 27.36% ©
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7 A &11,060,000 8% K 139,700,000 A% E 2 17 A% 1
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the directors
had registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate granted to any directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them, or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors, their respective spouses or
minor children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Change in information of directors since the Company’s last
published interim report is stated below:

Mr. Cheng Yong no longer served as a director of any PRC subsidiary
of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (“Innovative Pharm”) as
updated in the Directors and Senior Management Profile section.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2025, the following other persons’ interests and short
positions of 5% or more of the shares and underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

FTERRREMALIRERSD
HEROREEEZ2EZRAR

N E-RAF=F=+—H BEAQF
BES NP EIEFE3BEBETFTREZ
TRfATa s RAR A% &HEE KRG
FHAES% A EEZR AR ZHEMAL
IR o

Sige2:e

Ok

RARBREBRZHER

Number of Approximate
ordinary shares percentage of
Name of shareholder Notes Capacity and nature of interest held/entitled interests held
i EREEZ FEERZ
REREE e SORERMEER ZBEREE BAED L
Mao Yumin Directly beneficially owned 189,920,000 7.94%
EHER BEEERER
(@  Through controlled corporations 900,000,000 37.66%
il ol NI
1,089,920,000 45.60%
Huang Zhenping Directly beneficially owned 150,000,000 6.28%
=R T BEEEHEA
Note: B 5

() These 900,000,000 shares represent conversion shares to be allotted and issued
to the bondholder, UG International upon exercise in full of the conversion rights
by UG International, at conversion price of HK$0.6413 per share under the
Company’s 20-year zero coupon convertible bonds issued on 16 July 2013 with
principal amount of HK$577,170,000 outstanding. The entire issued share capital
of UG International is owned by JNJ Investments Ltd which is wholly owned by
HK Biowindow, and the entire issued share capital of HK Biowindow is owned
by United Gene Group Ltd (a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands).
The issued share capital of United Gene Group Ltd is owned as to 33% by United
Gene Holdings Limited, which is wholly owned by Dr. Mao Yumin.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)
() (Continued)

At 31 March 2025, there was a total of 2,390,000,000 shares issued by the
Company, and assuming the exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching
to the Company’s convertible bonds, UG International will hold approximately
27.36% of the enlarged share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no person, other than
certain directors of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
section “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties, which did not constitute
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

Supplemental agreement for extension of the First
Loan Agreement and Provision of Shareholders’ Loan
under the Third Loan Agreement to Smart Ascent
Limited (“Smart Ascent”), an associate of the Company

On 27 July 2018 and 8 March 2022, the Company and Innovative
Pharm (together with its subsidiaries, the “Innovative Pharm Group”)
through their respective wholly-owned subsidiaries holding 49%
and 51% shareholdings in Smart Ascent, as lenders and Smart
Ascent as borrower, entered into the shareholders’ loan agreements
amounting to HK$30 million and HK$12 million respectively, which
were contributed as to 49% by the Group and 51% by the Innovative
Pharm Group in proportion to their respective shareholdings in Smart
Ascent, for financing the working capital requirements of Smart
Ascent and its subsidiaries for the oral insulin project. Further details
are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 March 2022.
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EETHS ()

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Supplemental agreement for extension of the First
Loan Agreement and Provision of Shareholders’ Loan
under the Third Loan Agreement to Smart Ascent
Limited (“Smart Ascent”), an associate of the Company
(Continued)

On 30 July 2024, the Group and the Innovative Pharm Group
as lenders and Smart Ascent as borrower, entered into () the
supplemental agreement (the “First Loan Extension Agreement”)
supplemental to the shareholders’ loan agreement dated 27 July 2018 (the
“First Loan Agreement”) for the extension of repayment dates of
the loan granted under the First Loan Agreement and the interests
accrued thereon for a period of 36 months; and (i) the shareholders’
loan agreement for the granting of a loan facility of up to a principal
amount of HK$ 20 million (the “Third Loan”) to be contributed as
to 49% by the Group and 51% by the Innovative Pharm Group in
proportion to their respective shareholdings in Smart Ascent (the “Third
Loan Agreement”). The Third Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5%
per annum and has a repayment term fixed at 60 months after each
drawdown of the Third Loan.

The entering into of the First Loan Extension Agreement and the Third
Loan Agreement constitutes a major transaction of the Company
pursuant to Rule 14.22 of the Listing Rules and is subject to the
reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. The major transaction was
approved by the Company’s shareholders at its special general
meeting held on 15 October 2024.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
30 July 2024 and 15 October 2024, and the Company’s circular
dated 27 September 2024.

As at 31 March 2025, the Third Loan has been fully drawn down by
Smart Ascent.

Details of other related party transactions are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of the related party
transactions constituted a non-fully exempt connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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EETHE(E

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in “Connected and Related Party Transactions”
above, no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after the end of the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public during the year and
up to the date of this report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the directors. Based on
specific enquiry of the directors, the directors have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee, with written
terms of reference, in accordance with prevailing provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code, for the purpose of reviewing and
providing supervision over the financial reporting process and risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit
Committee comprises three INEDs. The Group’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2025 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that such financial
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards,
and Stock Exchange’s and legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2025 have been audited by SFAI (HK) CPA Limited, who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as
auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023 were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited
who retired as auditor of the Company at the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 23 August 2024, and SFAI (HK)
CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 28 March 2025 to fill the vacancy arising from the retirement of
Elite Partners CPA Limited.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Xie Yi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

8 3 % BUEM &

TO THE MEMBERS OF
EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Extrawell
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 96 to 219, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

18 37 % BE 3 & (M)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FARFLER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were B EZEEARBEE S 2 HEHE - R AEH A
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the HIEG A M BRER L ERZAEENEE - %S
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of FEALEBESZEREBGAUBRELEAEES
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 2 EBRBHETRE BEST @YU Z S EEIEMH

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
EREXEE

BEER-

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERNAREEZEE

Impairment assessment of interest in an associate

R—EBE QT 2#E 2R ER G

As disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, as
at 31 March 2025, the Group has interest in an associate amounted
to approximately HK$311,929,000.

MR E M BERRMIT2AMKE RZE_AF=A=1—
H ESHR—HEBEERFZERLH311,929,000% T

At the end of the reporting period, with reference to a valuation
report prepared by an independent professional qualified valuer,
the directors of the Company have performed an impairment
assessment on the Group’s interest in the associate.

RBERAR K2EBUEXCERGAEMBERNEERS
BERREFEYH BESERBEARMNERETREME-

We had identified the impairment assessment of interest in an
associate as a key audit matter because its significant balance to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and the significant
management judgement was required to determine the recoverable
amount for the interest in an associate.

EFERMNN —HBERRA RG22 RENERBAREZS
B REREERUGAMBRAERMEBEAREREAR
EHBERHABUEER —HBERAZER AT HE S EE -

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
interest in an associate included, among others, the following:
EERR —BBERRAZES 2 RENENERERF BE
(HFRBE)ATEE:

o To obtain the valuation report prepared by the
independent professional qualified valuer;

. MEBLEXSERGHEMBRNGEERS

. To discuss with management and relevant professionals
about the status and development of the In-process
R&D (as defined in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements) of oral insulin product, the major asset held
by the associate;

. HEBEMMEBEXZEALTNREHABERRFAN
FTEEEARREZERETHIZIHABE(EERES
M mERME21) KR RER

o To assess the impairment assessment methodology
provided by the management, including but not limited to
the reasonableness of key assumptions applied and the
accuracy and reliance of the input data used;

o AEEREEMREZREN G E BFEATRR
FEAFTERKZEEUERMFERAASEZ £
MR A S

o To check the mathematical accuracy on the information
provided by management and independent professional
qualified valuer; and

o BREREEERBIEXESERMGEMAREER
ZEMERNL &

o To evaluate the competency, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent professional qualified valuer taking
account its experience and qualifications.

o AEBUVEESERMBEMZER RO REHIE
WEEEKRRER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
EREXEE

B R E % ETE @)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERNAREZEE

Fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

BAVEFABS(EAFEFABRSE D ZEREEZQAFE

As disclosed in note 19(a) to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment in financial assets at
FVTPL amounted to approximately HK$915,436,000.

WG AEM BRI T EE R _AF=A=+
—H: BEXEERRATEFABZZERNEEZRENR
915,436,000/ 7T ©

At the end of the reporting period, with reference to a valuation
report prepared by an independent professional qualified valuer,
the directors of the Company have assessed the fair value of the
financial assets at FVTPL.

RBRERR K2EBBLHEESERMEERMR DG ER
H BRAREFENHRATEFABRRZEZEREEZRD
F1E -

The Group has applied valuation techniques to determine the fair
value of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets.
These valuation techniques, in particular those that include significant
unobservable inputs, involve management using judgements and
assumptions. With different valuation techniques and inputs applied,
the valuation results can vary significantly.
HRABERMERENSRTIE - EX£EE KA MERIM
KEEEATFE ZEHERMIREREZ HBERR L
HEZSEANAHEBARBE HERMNAE - KA TR
EEMTEBASE  AISEEATRZEELZER

We had identified the fair value measurement of financial assets at
FVTPL as a key audit matter because its significant balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the significant
management judgement was required to determine the fair value of
the financial assets at FVTPL.

SERBRATEFAERZEREEZATEFEH#NA
%%%ﬁ%ﬁvElﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁagixmm
O ULFTEERRBELERAE  UAETRATFEFAER
ZERMEEZRAFE

Our audit procedures in relation to fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL included, among others, the following:

EERARATEFABRZeREEZ A TENEZIE
Fﬁ%@¢ EEPR NS

o To obtain the valuation report prepared by the
independent professional qualified valuer;

. MISMBIEXSERMGEMBROGEERS

° To understand the Group’s valuation and accounting
treatment for the financial assets at FVTPL;

U TR EEEHRATEFAEBRZEREEZRK
BREERE:

o To evaluate the reasonableness and appropriateness of
the methodologies used by management for the fair value
valuation of the financial assets at FVTPL;

. AEEREERERATEF ARG ZEREEZR
EfEMERZ T EZEBERGEL

o To evaluate the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the unobservable and observable inputs used for the
financial assets at FVTPL;

o AEREATEFABRZEREEMERZ A
BREAUHESGARBSELRAENT

o To check the mathematical accuracy on the information
provided by management and independent professional
qualified valuer; and

o BRERBEEERBIEXESERGEMAREEHR
ZEMEREMN &

o To evaluate the competency, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent professional qualified valuer; taking
account its experience and qualifications.

o AEBUEESERMGEMZER O REHIE:
W& EEH&RRER -
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024, were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified
opinion on those statements on 28 June 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

HttEE

FEEERE_T_WF=A=+—HILFRENELE
EMBRRCLH S —BRBEMETER %%
BN _ZE_WFAAFTN\BHZERRER
EREER -

Hib &

ERAEFEAHEMANAR EMEHNEREF
BAHEAHEN ETEREEMBREREEE
B & o

EHECHBRRZBEALTRELMER
EENTEREBEREATANEE AR
RERGAMBHRRMS BEEERMELR
AR WHELBESR ZEEMEHNRT EF
B BHRARAESEERBRETATHENERE
BEARTH  REUFHEEANHERBRAL -

REZERTZIE HESRREMLERE
RERRL EEFTERSABREET - UM
CBEHAREEMNER-

ok

il B

=

ESRAEERGAMBEREA
EEZEME

ERREFAERBEESGHMAGRMZE
BHBRELERBERRAGI ZRERTE - H
HRMBEBARFERZEAPBRE  UALME
¥ BAREERRLBEZABADIES AR
RER BT S B IS MR NI B R REF B aR
BE 7 ERERRA -

ERHFUGAUBRRE EQAEFATT
it BEEEBELEZEN YTEFEABRATR
BRESECEEHENER URERHELLER
B ER BRI EARNEFEENR EEEE
B F LS - SRR I 2 SR E A ERR B AR
I

REEREEE BESEEMNMBHRSRIE-
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

3\

%Eﬁ?ﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬂﬂ%iﬁ%éﬁ%

BfE

EEZERREGAMBRRERBRES T FEH
REFFHERMEBZ EMERERRARGE
BRZ THABRKRESEEAZREMRE - &
ERBARE(RFDE)FBNELEZHEHNEZIE
HRER MTHESER BE BREZIAR
SHEEMBN BEEITERAREZABTRME
MEMALTE LXAREEANET e RRELS
KERTE  BETERBFREBESLEANETHE
ZHERE B I B RS AR R At o #5 AR R T A e BR R
3 B AR 5l AR - 4R & TR TE HA M 45 AR BR A 1R Rl sk FE
HERABETERSMBRREAEMELOL
FORE - RIGRIRIEE SRR AL AT IRABAEE K o

ERBEEBFTEAETERNBES  EFE
RTEXRHE IRNEZBRTRFERRRERE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate or safeguards applied.

2
i

N

i&ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%&%éﬂﬁ%%&%éﬁﬁk
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Lee Yan Fai.

SFAI (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Unit 2, 27/F, Wu Chung House
218 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Lee Yan Fai
Practising Certificate Number: PO6078

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meR=mkEMEEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 =2 —ZE A F=A=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E-FHE —E_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5% FER FHET
Continuing Operations BESEER
Revenue g 2§ 6 55,429 59,098
Cost of sales $H 5 AR (33,558) (30,319)
Gross profit £ 7 21,871 28,779
Other income, gains and losses, net Halt A - iz R EEFEE 7 258,166 (131,879)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHEMA (9,336) (13,175)
Administrative expenses THEHR (21,563) (22,073)
Share of results of an associate FE(h — R B & D Rl AR (2,312 (2,275)
Finance costs B 75 Bk AN 8 (22,107) (18,801)
Profit (loss) before income tax Rk BT 15 75 A& A1) (&5 18) 9 224,719 (1569,424)
Income tax expense B 10 (1,167) (2,181)
Profit (loss) for the year AN Fm A (E18) 223,552 (161,555)
Discontinued Operation EARIEREEK
Loss for the year from Discontinued Operation REERIEKEXEK 2
REEEE 45 (105) (85)
Profit (loss) for the year AEERF (BR) 223,447 (161,640)
Other comprehensive expense including Hth2EMX(BREHSE
reclassification adjustments FHE)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HETEEF 2 HEZERA
profit or loss: HE :
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINETE 2
foreign operations e ZE (1,259) (2,431)
Other comprehensive expense for the year, AEEHMEEMEZ
net of tax (BREi1%) (1,259) (2,431)
Total comprehensive income (expense) AEFEEL2EWE (%)
for the year #zm 222,188 (164,071)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

mA*ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z — & —

REMEHENZER(E

EFE=A=+—BLEE

2025 2024
—E-REF ZEZF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHExT FET
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to owners RNARHEARLAEAFE R
of the Company: A (E18) -
— Continuing Operations —BELSEER 222,749 (162,864)
— Discontinued Operation — ERIEEEED (105) (85)
222,644 (162,949)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to I 470 A% 4 25 B AR R 2 U A
non-controlling interests: (E8) :
— Continuing Operations — REREEK 803 1,309
— Discontinued Operation —BERIEEEER - =
803 1,309
Profit (loss) for the year AEERF (EE) 223,447 (161,640)
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the AKANGHE ANELEAFEE
year attributable to owners of the Company: 2EKE(AX) 2858 :
— Continuing Operations SFIBCEET 221,522 (165,274)
— Discontinued Operation — BERIEEEER (105) (85)
221,417 (165,359)
Total comprehensive income for R ESEEAREE
the year attributable to non-controlling interests: 2 T Yt 25 A2 %8 -
— Continuing Operations — FEREEL 771 1,288
— Discontinued Operation — BRIEREED - =
771 1,288
Total comprehensive income (expense) AEEE2HEKE (BX)
for the year i EE 222,188 (164,071)
HKS$ cents HK$ cents
AL P
Earnings (loss) per share BERERN (&HB)
From Continuing and Discontinued Operations FECERBRIEEEER 14
— Basic —EA 9.32 (6.82)
— Diluted —#8 7.43 6.82)
From Continuing Operations SR ETE 14
— Basic —BEA 9.32 (6.81)
— Diluted — e 7.44 (6.81)
ANNUAL REPORT 2025 —ZE_HEF# 97



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
F|NANC|AL POSlTlON

At 31 March 2025 R==F_—_FF=F=+—H

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FHET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties A 15 2,284 2,417
Property, plant and equipment Y% WE k& 16 111,731 116,197
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 8,050 9,843
Intangible assets EREE 18 1,807 1,807
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1% A & A8 %8 ([12 A F
(“FVTPL”) Bt AERDZEMEE 19 - 660,564
Financial assets at fair value through other RAFEFAEMEEK R
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) (EAFEFAEMEZR
WEJ)Z%HEE 20 - =
Interest in an associate — M E AR 2R 21 311,929 314,241
Loan to an associate ERT—E#E R A 22 27,691 4,609
Deferred tax assets REHIBEE 31 69 69
463,561 1,109,747
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 23 4,738 7,265
Trade and bills receivables H 5 WA R R E R 24 7,802 4,215
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be  BARER
H Aty & W sk 0E 25 2,352 2,946
Amount due from an associate FE I — AT B & 2 B 5RIE 22 32,662 34,459
Loan to an associate g /T)\ Bidadi-10:- /N 22 - 13,430
Financial assets at FVTPL RFEFFAER Z
ﬁ MEE 19 917,085 661
Pledged bank deposits BIKFERITER 26 20,378 20,856
Cash and bank balances e NIRITHE 27 77,774 93,610
1,062,791 177,442
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bills payables BESRNEFRRENZE 28 4,427 4,657
Accruals, other payables and contract liabilities TEIRER EMEMRER
AHEE 29 23,056 27,122
Lease liabilities HEBRE 30 1,903 1,375
Deferred income on government grants BT 48 B 2 3R SE WA 33 115 116
Tax payable FEAT B8 19,003 18,102
48,504 51872
Net current assets RBEEZRE 1,014,287 126,070
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERADERE 1,477,848 1,235,817
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
fn e B KO0 & (4])

At31 March2025 R—ZE-_Hh&E=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E_RE —TZNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FHT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible bonds ATMRES 32 139,038 117,124
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 - 159l 1
Deferred income on government grants BT 8 B 2 BT A 33 4,011 4,171
143,049 123,206
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,334,799 1,112,611
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital & 7 34 23,900 23,900
Reserves & 1,310,642 1,089,225
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 42 T #H A B/ E R 1,334,542 1,113,125
Non-controlling interests FERER 43 257 (514)
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 1,334,799 1,112,611

The consolidated financial statements from pages 96 to 219 were approved FBE219BE MG AN BRR IKEZTGN _—F

and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025 and are — R G NA =+ HHLERRETIZE > TE NS
signed on behalf of the board by: ERRESGESE
Xie Yi Wong Sau Kuen
EE EERE
Director Director
e o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
e BEk

For the year ended 31 March 2025 =2 —ZE A F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREERAER
Foreign
currency  Convertible Non-
Share Share Other  Capital Contributed translation bonds equity FVTOCI Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve  reserve surplus  reserve reserve  reserve eamings Sub-total interests  equity
RATHE
AR
R TARES 2EUE FER

S BE HtHE E4ARE LAABH ENRE RERE <RE REER it B ERe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TExT TEL Thx TEL TERL TErL TAxT TErL ThEx TErT TiEx

(note () (note (i) (note (i) (note (i) (note (v) (note (vi)  (note (vi)
below) below) below) below) below) below) below)
Fx  (Fx  (Fx (FX (FX (Px  (Fx
MEEG)  FIEEG) HEEEGD)  MEW)  MEV) BEEi)) B3k vii))

At 1 Apri 2023 R-Z-=%
mA—A 23900 191,738 - 52 4839 20,980 512,350  (83,086) 604,450 1281722 (152) 1,281,570

(Loss) profit for the year A4 £ (5 18)
gl = = = - - — - —  (162,949) (162,949 1,309 (161,640
Other comprehensive A EEEM 2
expense forthe year: % -
Exchange differences on &GN £ 2
tranglation offoreign ~~ EHEE

operations - - — - - (2,410) - - - (2,410) 1) (2,431)
Total comprehensive ~ AFE 2 (B
(expense)income for X)W BB
the year = - Ee - N Y0 - — (162049 (165359) 1288 (164071)
Effect of share buy-back 7 — ] 8 2 )
in a subsidliary ZBRAEEZ
ga fe - (3% - - = - - — (3239 (1650) (4889
At31March2024and H=-F-NF
1 April 2024 ZA=t-A
R-ZE-mE
MA—H 23,900 191,738 (3,238) 6,542 4,839 18,570 512,359  (83,086) 441,501 1,113,125 (514) 1,112,611
Profitfor the year REEHEF - - - - - - - — 222644 222,644 803 223447
Other comprehensive A% E £ F
expense for the year: ~ F5% -
Exchange differences on & G50 57 2
translation of foreign B R EFE
operations - - - - - (1,227) - - - (1,227) (32  (1,259)
Total comprehensive ~ AFE 2 E
income (expense) for (%) &%
e year - - - - - 1227 - — 20644 221417 ™M 222,188
At 31 March 2025 RZBZRE
=A=1+-8 23,900 191,738 (3,238) 6,542 4,839 17,343 512,359  (83,086) 664,145 1,334,542 257 1,334,799

*  The reserves account comprises the Group’s reserves of HK$1,310,642,000 (2024: * (EEBREEGA VBRI RARER 2 #H#1,310,642,000
HK$1,089,225,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. BT (ZZ M4 : 1,089,225,0007 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ﬂi

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & & — &

Notes:

(i

(vi)

(vii)

AR=ZEER(E)

Share premium

The share premium account represents the amount subscribed for share capital in
excess of nominal value.

Other reserve

The other reserve represents the difference between the amount of non-controlling
interest adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid on share buy-back and
share cancellation. Such amounts will be transferred to retained earnings upon disposal
of subsidiaries.

Capital reserve

In accordance with the relevant regulations in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC”),
all of the subsidiaries of the Company (as defined in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements) registered in the PRC are required to transfer part of their profit after tax to
the capital reserve. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant PRC regulations
and the articles of association of these PRC subsidiaries, the capital reserve may be
used to offset losses or for capitalisation as paid-up capital.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group (as defined in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements) represents the difference between the nominal value of the share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1999, over the nominal
value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents gains/losses arising on retranslating
the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into presentation currency.

Convertible bonds equity reserve

The convertible bonds equity reserve represents the amount allocated to the equity
component of convertible bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in note 3.2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FVTOCI reserve

The FVTOCI reserve represents fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change
in the fair value of equity investments designated at FVTOCI under Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (individually known as “HKFRS”, together with Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations also collectively referred to as “HKFRSs”)
9 Financial Instruments that are held at the end of the reporting period.

“HE=ZA=T—HLHFE

UG

(i)

(i)

(Vi)

(vi)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
n‘l-.ﬁ e iﬁr % HIL E ‘l%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & & —=

—HE=A=+—HILEE

2025 2024
—E-EHE —E-mE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FER FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHoRERE
Profit (loss) before income tax: BR TSR ADE A (B 18)
— From Continuing Operations - RERFERLEED 224,719 (159,424)
— From Discontinued Operation - REERIEEEER (105) (85)
224,614 (159,509)
Adjustments for: L TIER :
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 9,17 1,723 1,759
Depreciation of investment properties BREMENE 9,15 133 132
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W BERRENE 9,16 6,425 7,154
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE  BE RFEH W& 7 (10) =
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) of FEREEBECREESE
inventories #Mm) 9 252 (180)
(Reversal of) impairment loss on trade receivables B REWERFRERE(EE) 7,400 (847) 89
Impairment loss recognised on other receivables O b B WK A e R 2 BB
B#E 7, 40(d) 61 =
Impairment loss recognised on loan to RERT —HWHEARER
an associate ZREEE 7, 40(d) 1,256 3,409
Impairment loss on amount due from an associate Y — R E RRHIELZ
HEEE 7, 40(d) 1,797 1,785
Changes in fair value on financial assets at FVTPL — 1% ’R ? Bt \ Bz emE
investments in convertible bonds AT EEE — Rk
1; FRE 7,19(@) (254,872) 132,966
Changes in fair value on financial asset at FVTPL — BAFEFABRZGHE
short-term investment EATEEZEY - KHEE 7 (27) 33)
Share of results of an associate B —HEBE QR EE 2,312 2275
Effective interest expense on convertible bonds MRREAFAZERMNBRAL 8, 41 21,914 18,507
Bank interest income RITHF B WA 7 (3,870) @,611)
Recognition of deferred income HERIELE RA 7 (117) 117)
Loan interest income from an associate RE—MBE AR ZER
FUNSEON 7 (1,108) (1,061)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBZAERE 8, 41 193 294
Operating cash flows before movements in working EEESEPHzREH S
capital mE (171) 2,859
Changes in inventories FEZE) 2,203 (4,134)
Changes in trade and bills receivables BoRKERREREEE (2,803) 1,368
Changes in deposits, prepayments and other e B FRIE R E i fE KRR
receivables = 47 1,766
Changes in financial asset at FVTPL — short-term BATESABGZEMEE
investment 2 — SHKE - 1,087
Changes in trade and bills payables BORNERRERERE (180) (1,832)
Changes in accruals, other payables and contract TE RER HthENRBERED
liabilities B ERE (3,796) (4,734)
Cash used in operations EEMAZRE (4,330) (3,620)
Income tax paid EftET B (44) (69)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMAZRESTE (4,374) (3,689)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

FRERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

2025 2024
—E-HF —E-mE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 TR FHET
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHMEEZHESRE
Bank interest income received BURERTT I B M A 3,972 4,291
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE BB REME (3,067) (1,202)
Proceed from disposal of property, plant and equipment HE&E ¥ %  BE K& E 2
T8 38 10 -
Advances to an associate T—REBEQRNER (9,800) =
Net increase in financial asset at FVTPL BERATEFABZZERMEE
— short-term investment EIFE - BHRE (968) =
Changes in pledged bank deposits EEARITERE 478 (1,053)
Net cash (used in) generated from investing BRETH (A FEZES
activities FH (9,375) 2,036
Cash flows from financing activities METBHMELEZHERE
Repayment on principal portion of lease liabilities EBEEREREZASH D 4 (1,383) (1,321)
Repayment on interest expenses on lease liabilities EEHEABANEMAX 4 (193) (294)
Share buy-back in a non-wholly owned subsidiary R—Bk2EMBRRZRHG
el % - (4,888)
Net cash used in financing activities BETBMAZRESFE (1,576) (6,503)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBLEEEERLFE (15,325) (8,156)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEERBE) 2 HE (511) (635)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year S 2HERHELLEEIER 93,610 102,401
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRZASRRSEEER 77,774 93,610
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash ReRASEEEAZ
equivalents s Skl
Cash and bank balances: Re kBT
Attributable to Continuing Operations FELEEBERN 77,774 93,595
Attributable to Discontinued Operation BRI EEBER - 15
Cash and bank balances REeRMBITER 77,774 93,610
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E-—_RAF=A=1+—HItFE

%

104

BB 3% R M RE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated in Bermuda under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). The shares of the
Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the Corporate Information section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in: (i) the
manufacturing segment engages in the development, manufacture and
sales of pharmaceutical products (the “Manufacturing” business); (i) the
trading segment engages in the marketing and distribution of imported
pharmaceutical products (the “Trading” business); and (c) the gene
development segment engages in the commercial exploitation and
development of genome-related technology (the “Gene Development”
business) through Best-Bio Group (as described and defined in note 5).

As described in notes 5 and 45, during the year ended 31 March
2025, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) decided to
discontinue its Gene Development business segment (the “Discontinued
Operation”). Subsequently, the Company continues its Manufacturing
and Trading business segments (the “Continuing Operations”).

The Gene Development segment was not previously classified as
held-for-sale or as a discontinued operation before 7 March 2025.
The consolidated results of the Gene Development segment during
the period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025 were presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as Discontinued Operation. The consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2024 was presented by distinguishing the results of the Discontinued
Operation and Continuing Operations to conform with the current year
presentation for comparative purpose.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”),
which is the same as the presentation currency of the consolidated
financial statements. The amounts stated are rounded to the nearest
HK$1,000 unless otherwise stated.

1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% 3R 3R M GE (BR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = =L - AF =R =+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

AEEERBESREMBRE  RAFE
BRERATIEEEFMAGHEMOEE
MHERELENERTR)  ZFEITARAN
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fi] 58 11 AE 2K
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F165% (BRI A)

BB G TR BEIBEARBK
F15% (BRI A) EREBREERE
FEEHR(ZT_TF)
ZiEREET
BB G TR B 75 22 56 B9 FE AR &
F15% (BRI A) =Ei
BB TR HEERE L
FBTHRRES
B 75 3R 5 22 Il
F75% (EFTA)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 & B 3% $R R B 5E (4R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

2.

106

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSSs (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial

Amendment to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7
Instruments®

Amendment to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume
1

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements”

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

FNI R R

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs is not expected to have
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n‘l'.R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

2.

kR ER )

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSSs (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which
sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of
the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit
or loss; provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors and HKFRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also

made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early
application permitted. The application of HKFRS 18 is expected to
affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and related
disclosures in the future consolidated financial statements but is not
expected to have material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
positions and performance. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

v'R

SRR ENEAE )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

3.

3.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which concern the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”).

The Directors have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial
statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future,
and thus continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

3.

3.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n‘l-.R

kR ER )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

3.

3.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16

are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,

Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technique equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

3.

3.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

v'R

SRR ENEAE )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —ZE A& =A=+—HIFE

3.

3.2

110

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

. potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

3.

3.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% 3R 3R M GE (BR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —E - RAF=A=+—HILtFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entiting their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

3.

3.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% S 3R M 52 (AR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUS”) (or group of CGUs) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUS) retained.
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3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those poalicies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. WWhen
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that the
interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment.

Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Further information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to
revenue from contracts with customers is provided in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

3.

3.2

ANNUAL REPORT 2025

BEREFHE

/51:1/:5[/52:&71
AEBEBE(ER) TXBELHEERERK
7@ BN R EEAEO R MRS
BERIEIEETERR -

RE R ('

BHEEEFEE MR (X —EFH
mn 3% AR 75) 3k K 2 R B — F I 5 E 7
HARTE

HAFA R T REZ —  ZH R E—BREMH
NER MkE2ECKEERBRNEE
BEE R — REFR AR

. EFEASEENNRABODREL
S5 7 5 B R A0 T 2 R B )2

c ARENBOEARRA—EE
B MEEEAERAREBOKEE
Pl %

. AEENBHYREEHAEEER
ERAENEE BXAKEHESE
TERRE DN AR A B H T

R o
BRI WREEFPESKEERmIRBEH

22 1) 48 B 2 B ) B R AR o

AEBEBEFPAHKANE T BURME
—FZER BRERA MR G

“E_hEFHR 115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

v'R

SRR ENEAE )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —ZE A& =A=+—HIFE

3.

3.2

116

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of

translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income on government grants in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income, gains and losses, net”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is
treated as a government grant, measured as the difference between
proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Employees in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate
in a defined contribution retirement scheme administrated and operated
by the local municipal government. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage of the
average employee salary as agreed by local municipal government to
the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules
and regulations of the MPF Scheme (as defined in note 35) for all
employees in Hong Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme are
based on minimum statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregate income, subject to a ceiling of HK$1,500
per month per head.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when
the group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits (Continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the share options is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
nonmarket vesting condition. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit (loss) before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interest only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is
recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A leased property
which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group
as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance lease. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, investment properties and intangible assets
other than gooadwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, investment properties and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the
relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUSs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, investment properties and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUSs,
with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUSs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

() cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

3.

3.2

i

&

k]

)3}

041
o=l

BUMBRRZE
&

j: EX @

EXSFTBERER E®)

HeRELTEMEEE
ReRASEERARRAMBMRAKRE
5 B

@ Re HEEFERSKEHER
PEEZEE R G MG AR &R
THNARAESERMNRTER R

) REFEEEB HEBEEHEFER
FEMER=MAKIAT) AT RER
BRREABERcBEEEZY AR
TR ERBMERE - R FEEHR
FEmeRBREAE  MIEARK
B HMBR -

EAREREXRME e kBResF
EBERBERASAREFERA(EER
EX) - MBREAREREE 2 KEERTT
B YHERASERSERZ —& D -
FHEBEXNEEUBRRARENREH

fE R o

ﬁ»{b

FEDERARAEZRFEME 2 RE
EAR-FERATDRNEFTEEE -
AERFEEFENGH EERMA G
TERRARIEHEEN L ERA - HEM

FHRABREEERBNIEHENIEEKA
MAEBERETHEMBVAEENIES
B o

128 EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FBEZEXIERER AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n‘l-.R

kR ER )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the

cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
time value of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events
but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the part
of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties is treated
as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will be
required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a
provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, except in the
extremely rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —ZE A& =A=+—HIFE

3.

3.2

130

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&5 S B 35 3R R M 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Equity instruments designated as measured at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss is not
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments
and is transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the ‘Other income, gains and losses, net’ line item in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% 3R 3R M GE (BR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —E - RAF=A=+—HILtFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets including trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and bank balances and
cash which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —ZE A& =A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEKCUBERZEER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EASFHERER @

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

8.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EASTHEER @)

Financial instruments (Continued) T/t T A (&)

Financial assets (Continued) c@EE (B)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under REBEMBEHREEREIWAEZHE
HKFRS 9 (Continued) G A % B A 2 R E ()

() Significant increase in credit risk () FEERBREAZEN

RFEEERRE NS ERIARE
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In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when LER RihEEERRESEEE

134

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

M EZETIIER

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the . CERIAEZHINTH(WE) XA
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit HEEIRERSTEHRE
rating; =1

0 significant deterioration in external market indicators of . IS EERRBIEE  BEE

credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,

the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

U]

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if () it has a low risk of default, (i) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and (iiij adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|A|. STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and forward looking information

that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets are
considered on a collective basis taking into consideration past
due information and relevant credit information such as forward

looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% S 3R M 52 (AR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables and contract assets
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a
foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at
the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other income, gains and
losses, net’ line item as part of the ‘exchange gains (losses), net’;

° For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other income, gains and
losses, net’ line item as part of the gain (loss) from changes in fair
value of financial assets;

° For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in the
FVTOCI reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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3.

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group
has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash flows
are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group
assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial modification
from original terms taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is
not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using
the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from
the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial asset.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not result
in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial assets
will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount
of the modified financial assets and are amortised over the remaining
term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, accruals and
other payables and convertible bonds are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component (including
any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is estimated by
measuring the fair value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the
amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of
income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until the
conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible
note, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to retained
earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion
or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to
the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and
are measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting period,
the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the
amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in the ‘Other income, gains and losses, net’ line
item in profit or loss as part of ‘exchange gains and losses, net’ for
financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.
For those which are designated as a hedging instrument for a hedge of
foreign currency risk, foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition/modlification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

When an existing financial liability is renegotiated in such a way that the
liability is extinguished fully or partially by issuing equity instruments, it is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
a recognition of equity instrument at the fair value upon issue with the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part
of the financial liability) extinguished and the consideration paid (being
the fair value of the equity instruments issued), recognised to profit or
loss.

When the contractual terms of financial liability are modified, such as
extending the tenure, change in exercise price of the underlying options,
the revised terms would result in a substantial modification from the
original terms after considering qualitative factors (i.e. modifications of
convertible instruments). A substantial modification of the terms of an
existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the
financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an extinguishment of
the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
The Group considers that the terms are substantially different when (j)
the terms and conditions of the financial liability has significant change
with no additional quantitative analysis or (i) the terms and conditions
of the financial liability has no significant change while the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any
fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, the difference between
the carrying amount of financial liability derecognised and the fair value
of consideration paid or payable, including any liabilities assumed and
derivative components recognised, is recognised in profit or loss. The
exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial modification
when such difference is less than 10%.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The description of the Group’s
impairment policies is set out above.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are
unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period.
They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Share capital
Ordinary shares of the Company are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Board that make strategic decisions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and if that person:

i) has control or joint control over of the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group.

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

@iy  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(ivy  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(V) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

(v  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vi)  a person identified in (a)() has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing
operations and are presented as a single amount as profit or loss after
tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss.

Cash flows from discontinued operations are included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows and are disclosed separately in
note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

Additional disclosures are provided in note 45. All other notes to the
financial statements include amounts for continuing operations, unless
indicated otherwise.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3.2, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of interest in an associate

The Group’s interest in an associate represents interest in Smart
Ascent Limited (“Smart Ascent”) and its subsidiaries (the “Smart
Ascent Group”). The major asset held by the Smart Ascent Group is an
intangible asset in relation to an in-process research and development
project (the “In-process R&D”) involving an oral insulin product (the
“Product”) and Smart Ascent Group is continuing the research and
development and commercialising the Product. At the end of the
reporting period, with reference to a valuation report prepared by an
independent professional qualified valuer, the Directors have performed
an impairment assessment on the Group’s interest in the associate. In
making the assessment, key assumptions and estimates adopted by
the management include the success rate of commercialisation, market
penetration rate, revenue growth rate and forecasted percentage of
costs and operating expenses of the Product.

At 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts and
details of the impairment of interest in the associate are disclosed in
note 21.

Impairment losses on trade receivables, loan to an
associate and amount due from an associate

loan to an associate and
amount due from an associate are estimated based on the evaluation
of collectability and ageing analysis performed by the management. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each counterparty. If the financial
conditions of customers or an associate of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.

Impairment losses on trade receivables,

At 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts and
details of the impairment of trade receivables, loan to an associate
and amount due from an associate are disclosed in notes 24 and 22,
respectively.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets measured at FVTPL

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVTPL invested by the Group
is calculated using valuation techniques. Valuation techniques are
certified by independent qualified valuers before being implemented
for valuation and are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect market
conditions. Valuation models established by valuers make the maximum
use of market inputs and rely as little as possible on the Group’s
specific data. The model involves estimates on time to expiration, risk
free rate, share price, volatility, discount rate and others.

At 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts and
details of the fair value measurement of the Group’s financial assets
measured at FVTPL are disclosed in notes 19 and 39(b) respectively.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Board that makes strategic decisions.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately, according to the nature of their operations and the products
they provide. Each of the Group’s operating segments represents
a strategic business unit that offers products which are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of the other business
segments. Summarised details of the reportable and operating
segments are as follows:

(i) the Manufacturing business segment engages in the
development,
products;

manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical

(i) the Trading business segment engages in the marketing and
distribution of imported pharmaceutical products; and

@iy  the Gene Development business segment engages in the
commercial exploitation and development of genome-related
technology.
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5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

As described in notes 1 and 45, on 7 March 2025, the Board resolved
to discontinue the Gene Development segment operated through Best-
Bio Developments Limited (“Best-Bio”), a wholly-owned subsidiary, and
its subsidiaries (‘Best-Bio Group”) (i.e. the Discontinued Operation).
Subsequently, the Company continues its Manufacturing and Trading
business segments (i.e. the Continuing Operations).

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments are
the same as those set out in note 3.2.

Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) each
segment without allocation of interest income, other gains and losses
(exclude (provision for) reversal of impairment loss on trade and other
receivables), net, corporate expenses, effective interest expense on
convertible bonds and share of results of an associate. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker, being the
Board, for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other than financial
assets at FVTPL — investments in convertible bonds, interest in
an associate and corporate and other assets; and

. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
convertible bonds and corporate and other liabilities.

5.

MANPT EE1 R45FT I - RZ TR F = A
+tH EZGRBERUEBRBZ2EAWBEARR
Best-Bio Developments Limited ([ Best-Bio J)
K H KB 2 7 ([Best-Bio %k B |) 4 & E A 5
BEHH(BERIEKEER) - HE KA
REBEKEABERE I EB Y HANFE
BIEEETE) °

AE2RREED TR
HEMER -

AR E M B2 5

DEEN (BB EELED BN S KA -
HlahBR(TEEEZERERR
H 8 W SRR 2R (E B 1R (B ) B m) F
BOLERX ABRKEFZERASR
XPEE-—RBERRRAEZBERLT &
DB EH,(EEZEIE) 5t
BROIERRBAFHEBRTEREERE
HEHEFS)NAETR -

HRERSBRALNRSBEROEERTE

. BRRATFEFABRGEZEREE-
MEESRE RN-HBEEAFZ
A RECEREMEEIN  MEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@

5. 7EER@

Segment revenue and results @ PEKWZRFEE
The following is the Group’s revenue and results of operations NTAAEBREBEFELEEBR
from Continuing Operations and Discontinued Operation by ERIEKEEBRATERREED
reportable and operating segment: HElp o8 EWam REE
Discontinued
Continuing Operations Operation
BESEEE BRIEEEEK
Gene
Manufacturing Trading Sub-total Development* Total
B g5 Nt ERBRR Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx T T TR FHL
Year ended 31 March 2025 Hz-=E-1f%
ZR=+-ALEE
Revenue Wi
Revenue from external customers RENERP 2z 55,405 24 55,429 - 55,429
Segment results PEER 4,932 (2,411) 2,521 (105) 2,416
Unallocated other income, gainsand K2 B 2 £ WA + i
losses, net HREREE 257,380
Corporate expenses TERY (10,956)
Effective interest expense on ThRESZERFE
convertible bonds 253 (21,914)
Share of results of an associate ElE—HBEAREE (2:312)
Profit before income tax FR AT G B AT R 7 224,614
Income tax expense FEHAY (1,167)
Profit for the year AEERF 223,447
Year ended 31 March 2024 Hz-=E-m%
ZA=+-HLEE
Revenue W
Revenue from external customers RENEEF 2 W& 59,086 12 59,008 = 59,098
Segment results NEER 6,804 (3,276) 3528 (85) 3,443
Unallocated other income, gainsand & 7t 2 E A A ~ W
losses, net =RBEFE (131,924
Corporate expenses PERT (10,246)
Effective interest expense on R ES 2 BB E
convertible bonds X (18,507)
Share of results of an associate ElH—MBERREE 2,275)
Loss before income tax [‘%Fﬁ WA (159,509)
Income tax expense BRAY (2,131)
Loss for the year KEEHE (161,640

*

The amounts represent the segment results relating to the Gene

Development segment during the year ended 31 March 2024 and the
period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 = T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 7EER®@m
(b) Segment assets and liabilities b) THEEREE
The following is the Group’s assets and liabilities from Continuing NTAXEBEREBEFELEEBR
Operations and Discontinued Operation by reportable and ERIEKEEBERATERREED
operating segment: HED v EERBE:
Discontinued
Continuing Operations Operation
BESEER BRIEBEEK
Gene
Manufacturing Trading Sub-total Development Total
B g5 Nt EREE% Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FET FAET FHL FET
At 31 March 2025 R-E-EF
=ZA=t-H
Segment assets PEEE 162,679 42,344 205,023 N/A i A * 205,023
Financial assets at FVTPL — BATEFABRRLZ
Investments in convertible bonds SREE - RATBRR
BERZRE 915,436
Interest in an associate R—FBE QA 2R 311,929
Corporate and other assets % & HiEE 93,964
Total assets BENE 1,526,352
Reportable segment liabilities ERHNEEE 48,711 448 49,159 N/A 3 f* 49,159
Convertible bonds AR ES 139,038
Corporate and other liabilties rEREMEE 3,356
Total liabilities AEES 191,553
At 31 March 2024 RZZB-mE
=R=t-H
Segment assets PREE 163,334 43518 206,852 15 206,867
Financial assets at FVTPL — BATEFARRL
Investments in convertible bonds SBAE - NATRR
EHeRE 660,564
Interest in an associate A UNCIPA: 3 314,241
Corporate and other assets rEREMEE 105,517
Total assets EEBE 1,287,189
Reportable segment liabilities NEHRHBAE 52,128 574 52,702 64 52,766
Convertible bonds R ES 117,124
Corporate and other liabilties rEREMEE 4,688
Total liabilities BENE 174,578
x The amount is insignificant and has been included in Continuing o ZeBMNLEFTARFBELEER -
Operations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5.

(©

Other segment information

The following is the Group’s other segment information from
Continuing Operations and Discontinued Operation by reportable

2 EER @
(C) { aN 7k *4_

NTRAEBEREFELEELR
ERIEEEEBRAUZHRREE D

and operating segment: BE D2 HMOEER :
Discontinued
Continuing Operations Operation
BFREEER CRIECEER
Gene
Manufacturing Trading  Sub-total Development* Total
i g3 Pt ERER Foh
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FHL T TiEx T
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE2-2-1%
ZRE+-HLEE
Additions in property, plant and equipment mE - BE R EL M 3,059 8 3,067 - 3,067
Amounts included in the measure of segment i A 2485 FlalE 185t 22
profit or loss: LN
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #1% + = k& 8 & (F F &
and right-of use assets BENE 6,605 1,543 8,148 - 8,148
Unallocated depreciation of investment ROMBEMENE
properties 133
8,281
Others: Eft -
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables 2 5 & It 4 206l (& 5 18 7 @ (847) - (847) - (847)
Impairment loss on other receivables Hi W ERERE 61 - 61 - 61
Impairment loss on inventories FEREESR 252 - 252 - 252
Unallocated gain on disposal of property, plant K2 & 2 HENE - BE &
and equipment REEE 2 Ma - - - - (10)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-Z-NmE
ZAZ+-BLEE
Additions in property, plant and equipment mE  BE REHEEM 1,202 - 1,202 = 1,202
Amounts included in the measure of segment ~ 5FA D& FIZ B8+ E2
profit or loss: 4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #13 ~ = & &% 15 12 (8 A 4
and right-of use assets EENE 7,301 1,612 8913 = 8913
Unallocated depreciation of investment AOEBEMENE
properties 132
9,045
Others: At :
Impairment loss on trade receivables BRI RERSR 89 - 89 - 89
Reversal of written off on other receivables Hip AR B AR (134) — (134) = (134)
Reversal of impaiment loss on inventories FEREBRRR (180) - (180) = (180)
L The amounts represent the other segment information relating to the i ZEeBABE_T-_NF=A=1—

Gene Development segment during the year ended 31 March 2024 and
the period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

©

Other segment information (Continued)

Other than the above, no other information regarding the Group’s
reportable revenue and results and reportable segments assets
and liabilities as provided to the Board for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance as
of and for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC (country of
domicile) and Hong Kong.

For the purpose of segment information disclosures under HKFRS 8,
the Group regards the PRC as its place of domicile. Over 90% of
the Group’s external customers is located in the PRC.

Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are principally
attributable to the PRC, being the single geographical region.

Information about major customers

No individual customer accounted for over 10% of the Group’s
total revenue for both years.

5.

o EE R @®
) HEttnEELR @

REdEN BHE_ZT_HEF=A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —E - RAF=A=+—HILtFE

6. REVENUE 6. W&
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and receivable WaEmIINEEPHEEmimn D MRk ERK
for goods sold to outside customers, less discounts, and sales-related REZATFENRFEFEAN 2T RIEER
taxes for the year. FATIE -
(@) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts @ XREEFEANWRZZIE

with customers

()  The Group derives revenue from the transfer ()
of goods from Continuing Operations and
Discontinued Operation by categories of
major product lines and business

AEFHERSELE
XBERERILEEXKE
WA mELWaE  BE
EEMARREBESL

2 7

2025 2024
—E-FHE —E_OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Revenue from contracts with customers & & % & X R E 155 &
within the scope of HKFRS15 EAREEF &K 2 W
Trading of pharmaceutical products HRE5 24 12
Manufacturing of pharmaceutical products 22 ¥ %% &3, 55,405 59,086
55,429 59,098

The Group’s Gene Development business did not generate
any revenue during the year ended 31 March 2024 and
the period from 1April 2024 to 7 March 2025.

(i)  The Group derives revenue from the transfer (i)
of goods from Continuing Operations and
Discontinued Operation by timing of revenue

AEBMZEARBEEBERNER
ZE-_ME=A=+—HLHF
ERE_Z_MEMA—BiE
E_FE_AF=AtHIBH
I 4 B AT U ES e

AEBEEEFAELE
FHERERIEZEXH
Y 7 dn B W 7 0 1R AR

recognition B IF R 2 5

2025 2024

—E-FHEF T MFE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FETT
Revenue from contracts with customers & BB # iR & & B £ 155% &
within the scope of HKFRS15 EAREEFEHZ Mz

— At a point in time: —EXE-RER: 55,429 59,098

(i)  The Group derives revenue from the transfer (i) KNEEEHEZERDE L

of goods by geographical markets
Information about the Group derives revenue from the
transfer of goods by geographical markets is set out in note 5.

W BB 15 2 5
FAASEEEEARELR
woORWEMESEEHSNERNS
B EES ©
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6. REVENUE (Continued)

154

(b)

6. W= @)

Contract balances (b) EHEER
At 31 March At
R=B=+-8” 1 April 2023
2025 2024 R-ZT-=4%
—E_REE —EmF mA—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B E FHBxT FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 1 W BR 3K 24 42,410 43,189 45,701
Less: ECL allowances B TEHEEBREE 24 (38,169) (39,422) (40,208)
4,241 3,767 5,493
Bills receivables e E & 24 3,561 448 304
7,802 4,215 5,797
Contract liabilities EHBE 29 3,047 5,244 6,496
Further information regarding the trade receivables, bills FHABEZERESR BEREEBEE
receivables and contract liabilities is are set out in notes 24 and HNaBEzE—TERIRWE24 R

29(ii). 29(iii) °

Performance obligations for contracts with c EEFIIEHNNENE

customers and revenue and other income
recognition policies

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities.

The Group’s revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer, less discounts, returns
and value added tax or other sales taxes.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether it
obtains control of the products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use
of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the
products.

BERI SEEHE - RIRKEE A

Efﬁbmb)\ﬁﬁi’ ARASEBEEIEE
AR EEER  AAEESER
3% o

AEBRREDREBEETFNA R
EHMREFE  BREFN - BRER
BERREMBHER -

AEEREKMBEZFHINEEA Lk
REERARS CEEAEEREE
FEEAXIRBAR  EEERES
EmERTEFPZANESERER
EVPEIRE o IR ARIE N R BN TS
ERNERLRPEFSEANLS R
R &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

6. REVENUE (Continued)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue and other income
recognition policies (Continued)

The Group’s performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue and other income recognition policies
are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of pharmaceutical products

Revenue from manufacturing of and trading of goods generally
includes only one performance obligation. The Group has
concluded that revenue from manufacturing of and trading of
goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the
products is transferred to the customers, generally when the
products are delivered to and the risks of obsolescence and loss
have been transferred to customers.

The Group enters into sales contracts with customers for each
transaction. Revenue from the manufacturing and trading of
goods is recognised based on the price specified in the contract
when the goods are delivered and titles have passed. The Group
does not expect to have any contracts where the period between
the transfer of the promised goods to the customers and
payments by the customers exceeds one year. Delivery occurs
when the products have been shipped to the specific location in
accordance with the contracts with the customers.

The customers are generally given a credit period for 120 to 180
days, extending up to one year for some major customers.

No significant financing component is deemed present as the
sales are made with a credit term ranging from 120 days to 180
days to its customers.

(©

6. W= @)

HBEFITLS "
AR W& R HE iUk AT
RBUEK (#)

AEBEEFIYANNELNEE
VA Be g g Ko H A M0 A FESB R R AN

KREEFEFEHH Y 2
HEE T
AEREBEERNRE=—RERS
—EHRHNET AEEEREE  ®iE
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:%?&HH%@E%&E%EL REE®S
BEE -

AEBERBRARZIAREFPEFHE
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&5 S B 35 3R R M 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

6. REVENUE (Continued) 6. Wz @)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts with c EEFILEHAMENE
customers and revenue and other income EE K Uﬁl ﬁTl & H it At
recognition policies (Continued) R IBUER
Other income HEgA

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Further information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to revenue from contracts with customers is provided in
note 3.2.

Transaction price allocated to remaining
performance obligation

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph 121
of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, to
exempt the disclosure of revenue expected to be recognised
in the future arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date due to the majority of the Company’s
revenue contracts are short-term contracts and have a duration
of less than one year, the practical expedient for contracts with
durations of one year or less is applied and therefore the effect of
the time value of money is not considered.

156

MBWMARBHAEERNS
) 3R 27 By ) B E R -

®ER

KEREHENEERARERA

ENFREREENBRANER

ERAKBRETFAAMKED
BRTBRAE - T ERERKIFE32

N

SERESTEBHEENR
3 E K

ﬁiﬁﬁfgﬁﬁéf’éﬁﬁi&i&iﬁ%%
15 EF A M E121 R B
Eﬁ;‘f %é%?&aaﬁf\iﬁiaﬁﬂﬂgm
AHFMEETBHNBZER
Hﬁzm %Iz%ﬂ: AIHKEH uﬁz
NRBPEH FHIR—F B
FHAB—FHUATHANEREETR
BERZE WAEREEKEEED

=
E"\/E

o

EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED REZEIERER AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, 7. HlgA  -KWEZREEFEHR
NET
The following is the Group’s other income, gains and losses, net from LTAREBREFELEEBRRE KL
Continuing Operations and Discontinued Operation: KRR 2 B - s RS F R
2025 2024
ZE-Ef e ifc3
Continuing  Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
Operations’ Operation* Total Operations® Operation Total
BELE CRLERE FEEE  BRIEAE
£% E Y @ 25 %% mair
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TER THT THT THT
Changes in far value on financial R AFEABHEZ
assets at FVTPL BEEATEED
— Investments in convertiole —mAREREE
bonds 254,872 - 254,872 (132,966) — (132,966)
— Short-term investment —FHRE 27 - 27 33 - 33
Bank interest income SRATHE U A 3,870 - 3,870 4,611 = 4,611
Rental income (note () below) HE WA CF M EE() 41 - 41 414 - 414
Government grants (note (i) below) Bt 4 B (T TPt 2% i) 17 - 117 117 - 117
Loan interest income from RE—HBERRZE
an associate HFEBA 1,108 - 1,108 1,061 - 1,061
Sundry income IR 18 - 18 — - -
Impairment loss recognised on loan Eﬁ%*ﬁ%%”TZ
to an associate bﬁﬁ%% (1,256) - (1,256) (3,409) — (3,409)
Impairment loss recognised on EW B & A R SR
amount due from an associate ZEHR ﬁﬁ%ﬁ (1,797) - (1,797) (1,785) = (1,785)
Reversal of (impairment loss) on BHRWRAR B
trade receivables, net (REER)FE 847 - 847 (89) = (89)
(Impairment loss) reversal of written off £ 1t & Y 52 78 2 (i (B
on other receivables FiR)MEED (61) - (61) 134 - 134
Gain on disposal of property, plant & ¥ % - BiE K &
and equipment pa € 10 - 10 = = =
258,166 — 258,166 (131,879 — e

)

The amounts represent the other income, gains and losses, net to the Gene
Development segment during the period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025.

For the purpose of disclosure in this note, unallocated income, gains and losses
are included in Continuing Operations.

QOutgoings in respect of investment properties that generated rental income
amounted to approximately HK$65,000 during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$52,000).

Government grants of approximately HK$117,000 (2024: HK$117,000)
recognised as other income are awarded to the Group by the PRC government
as incentives primarily to encourage the development of the Group and the
contribution to the local economic development. There were no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attaching to government subsidy that has
been recognised.
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8.

158

FINANCE COSTS

The following is the Group’s finance costs from Continuing Operations

8. MEREA

AT AAEEAFELEEBRERIEEE

and Discontinued Operation: EY Uk 9D %N,
2025 2024
—E-EE ZTmE
Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
Operations’ Operation* Total Operations’ Operation Total
BECEEE CREBEER @it RBELEER BRELEER it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TR TEx FTAET FAET TAL
Effective interest expense  AJ IR B B
on convertible bonds A 25X 21,914 - 21,914 18,507 - 18,507
Interest on lease liabiliies & & &7 8 193 - 193 294 - 204
22,107 - 22,107 18,801 - 18,801
& The amounts represent the finance costs relating to the Gene Development 3 ZECER-_T_NFNA—HE=T-HA
segment during the period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025. FZRtAILSHHEEARESEEE 2
TERA ©

in Continuing Operations.

For the purpose of disclosure in this note, unallocated finance costs are included

! RAMEZHERNRS  RAOERMBRA
FEARBEEET -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

9. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 9.

Profit (loss) before income tax from Continuing Operations and
Discontinued Operation has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

BREF S B AR R (B H])

RERBEREXEBREREREXH 2
B P15 M AR M (B 1R) B Bk (RFA) T 51
RIF :

2025 2024
—E-nf —EmE
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
Operations’  Operation* Total  Operations”  Operation Total
BEKE EBRLELE BELE BRIELE
ES ES @st ES e/ #Et
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
TR TEx THER FAT FHT THT
Staff costs, including directors’ BIRAK
remuneration (BEZEEHMH)
— Staff salaries and allowances —B IL#% &5$ 8k 18,340 - 18,340 17,417 = 17,417
— Contributions to defined — BRI
contribution retirement Bl
schemes 2,385 - 2,385 2,327 — 2,327
20,725 - 20,725 19,744 - 19,744
Cost of sales HEKA 33,558 - 33,558 30,319 - 30,319
Including: 2k
Impairment loss (reversal of FEREEEIEE
impairment loss) on inventories 18 /[5]) 252 - 252 (180) — (180)
Cost of inventories recognised as R AERZ 7 &
expenses S 11,042 - 11,042 13,723 - 18,723
Others: B :
Auditor’s remuneration %8 B & 800 - 800 800 - 800
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ i & E T & 1,723 - 1,723 1,759 - 1,759
Depreciation of investment REAMERE
properties 133 - 133 132 = 132
Depreciation of property, plant ¥ % - /&= kR
and equipment neE 6,425 - 6,425 7,154 - 7,154
Research and development cost 2 pk & - - - 194 - 194

The amounts represent items charged (credited) to profit or loss to arrive at the
loss before income tax relating to the Gene Development segment during the
period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025.

For the purpose of disclosure in this note, unallocated items charged (credited)
to profit or loss to arrive at the profit (loss) before income tax are included in
Continuing Operations.

* ZECHERA—ZT-_NFNA-—HE=-Z
AE=RAtHLLHEARE ﬁ%lﬁﬁ"‘"iﬂﬁ
MBI ERNBEMMARE GEA)BRZ
HA -

# RAMEZHRBEMTS  ABERMER
B EF (BB MK E GEA) B2 kDR
BEHABEEEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&5 S B 35 3R R M 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREHIREX
The following is the Group’s income tax expenses from Continuing LTAREBREFELEXERRE KL
Operations and Discontinued Operation: KEXEB2FRERAY :
2025 2024
—E_FRE —EomE
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
Operations’  Operation* Total Operations’ Operation Total
BELE DRLLE BELCE BRIELE
E3 ES st ES %% st
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET FAT FHT FET
Current tax: BNEARAIE ¢
Hong Kong Profits Tax BRNER - - - - - -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FEMCEREH 1,167 - 1,167 2,131 - 2,131
1,167 - 1,167 2,131 — 2,131
Deferred tax: ERERE :
— Current year —REEF - - - - - -
1,167 - 1,167 2,131 — 2,131
* The amounts represent the income tax expense relating to the Gene . ZECERA-_T_MNENA—HE=
Development segment during the period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025. AF=AtBIHMBRERRESE Z Bt
SRR -
# For the purpose of disclosure in this note, unallocated income tax is Included In # RAMFZHKBENNE  ROEAEHE
Continuing Operations. AFBIE BT -
o NS /B8 4
Overseas income tax ’ 9" Fﬁ 1= *R
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and the British Virgin REARENRBREAHS ((REBREZH
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax under these SDHBRANEER  AEERWEFEE
jurisdictions for both years. AHMZERAEBEENEMASH
] = 3 = 1=
Hong Kong Profits Tax HREANEH
Under the Hong Kong two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 REEEMAFEGHRREE  &EH8E
million of profits of qualifying corporations are taxed at 8.25% (2024: 8.25%), 3% #) J A 5 2,000,0007%8 7T #5 #£8.25% (=
and profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%). No FToMF:825%) MBI RME - BB
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as the Group did not have 2,000,0007% TT ) it F #16.5% (= F = /M
any assessable profits arising from Hong Kong during the years ended F165%) MBI RAB - AR ARERE
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024. = e = A =R Bl S i
A=+ BUEEETEBBEBELAAM
MBEABNGROERBEF - W &ED
EANGHEME -
160 EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED #EEZE£ERERA T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% 3R 3R M GE (BR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) is based on the
estimated taxable income for PRC taxation purpose at the rate of
taxation applicable for the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2024:
25%).

Income tax expense from Continuing Operations and Discontinued
Operation for the year is reconciled to profit (loss) before income tax
per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as follows:

& X @

hEEEREH

TRECEMSHR(TEEMSH] T F
BREBE A ERRBEARZFEZ
AR R -

BEFRECEMBSHE(TREMERED
REEXEMBREBERGH  FREANE QA
ZIE /2% (Z T ZHF : 25%) °

FARBREEBRERUEREEBME
Bt X AR & B e N H b 2 U s R Bk
PriS#anE A (B1R) kM T

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-_NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit (Loss) before income tax B AT B B A E A (B 18) 224,614 (159,509)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% % 74‘ iﬁl Fﬁ TR E25% T H 2 Bi1E
(2024: 25%) ZE M : 25%) 56,154 (39,877)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEERLE ZHE A A
operating in other jurisdictions TEREZZE 318 2,408
Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax N A] {2 B sz 2 Bt 75 52 &
purpose 10,087 36,824
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRATABERTIEER
recognised (1,699) (1,649)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBBEBRE IR BTE 942 5,345
Tax effect of share of results of the associate fEfG —fEH & A RIEE 2 BT £ 578 569
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax TRERBZBAZ BB E
purpose (65,213) (1,489)
Income tax expense for the year FAMBHAX 1,167 2,131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&5 S B 35 3R R M 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 11. EEME
Directors’, Chief Executive Officer’'s and Deputy Chief Executive REFRBER EMABREERAEH
Officer’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable BENES  TEREH KRBT R E H M
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: R -
Salaries Retirement
and other benefit scheme
Directors’ fee benefits  contributions Total
Name of Director EFEHE Fek ERERGE
E=Wwe HttwEF =K st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FE T TET FET
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-Z_-_H5=A
=+—BLFE
Executive Directors HITEE
Xie Yi (note (i) below) 5% (R ST () 70 1,316 - 1,386
Cheng Yong (note (i) below) 2 B8 (T S Hf 2% (i) 70 643 - 713
Lou Yi 2l 70 487 - 557
Wong Sau Kuen F 518 70 852 18 940
Guo Yi (note (iii) below) 2058 (TR TP 7 (i) 68 518 - 586
Independent non-executive Directors & Y 3£ #1 17 E £
Fang Lin Hu 7R 70 - - 70
Jin Song SV 70 - - 70
Zeng Li (note (iv) below) 2 57 (T B 3E Giv) - - - -
Guo Yi (note (iii) below) 2058 (T T 3% (i) - - - -
488 3,816 18 4,322
Retirement
Salaries and  benefit scheme
Directors’ fee  allowance contributions Total
Name of Director BEHA e RGNS
EEEE KOEBE i e
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FAET
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-—ZT_ME=A
=t+—HLFE
Executive Directors HITESE
Xie Yi (note (i) below) At 5% (T ST EE () 70 1,316 = 1,386
Cheng Yong (note (i) below) 2 3 (T BT 3 i) 70 643 — 713
Lou Yi 117 70 487 — 557
Wong Sau Kuen EE1BE 70 852 18 940
Independent non-executive Directors % 81T E %
Fang Lin Hu VRN 70 = = 70
Jin Song /N 70 — — 70
Guo Yi (note (iii) below) B8R (7T TP £ (i) — — — —
420 3,298 18 3,736
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% 3R 3R M GE (BR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 11.

Notes:

[0) Xie Yi is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (“CEQ”) and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the
CEO.

(i) Cheng Yong is also the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company (“Deputy
CEO”) and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered
by him as the Deputy CEO.

(iii) Guo Yi was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 14 April 2023
and redesignated from an independent non-executive Director to an executive
Director on 7 June 2024.

(iv) Zeng Li was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 7 June 2024.

The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office for both years. None of the Directors has waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments for both years.

BEEMWE @
B = -

[0} HBETAARATRARK(TERER] B
bt 525 B B E AR R TT AR B TR AR
BZME -

(i) BETAARABTERA:(ETRA
H) O ELRBEEMELBEEEREITRE
HAARERE 2ME -

(i) BHER-_T_=FNA+HAEZEAB L
FHITES IR _T_NMFESALEHHSB
NHRTEERATANTES -

(iv) BYR_ZT-_WMESALHEZERBILHE
HITES -

FPRATETHE IR REFREERAR
ARAEEEREENRBEL -

ERBIHRATEEMES IR BFEEAL
NEEENRBEL -

NZMEFERN AEEYEREMNES
X ME ERMAREEH ABEZ
BB ERMBAEE RZMEFER
MECMNEZTHEXRF B HERREM
B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B 35 SR R MY 5 (4R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’

13.

164

EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included
five (2024: four) Directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented above. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
emoluments of the remaining one individual are set out below:

12 AfURSFMALTHE

FAAEERIUGSFEMALTRERL
(ZF-_OmOF: - m)EF EHEC#HT
REXMEINDHM BE_T_MF=H
St-HLEFE EHB—UALHOHEHR

FlanR
2025 2024
—E-hHF —T e
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FH T
Salaries and other benefits e R E AR - 514
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RN TR T FT B4 3K - 18
- 532

The emoluments fell within the following band:

BN T 5 EE

Number of individuals

A
2025 2024
=01=5a42 —E_F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000/ 7T N/A 1
TEA

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office, and no highest paid
individual has waived or, agreed to waive any emoluments.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the Company's holders of
ordinary shares during the year ended 31 March 2025, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2024:

HKSnil).

REZMEFERN AEETERNAVRS
FHMALINME ERMAREELA
BERBIEBRAE RRERS N
ATHEXREREREAHNE -

13. K&

HE_T_-_AF=-A=+—HIEFE I
RAAQELBBRFHE AR EZ KA
BB B RS H R A R 2R ST
RS (ZE_MF : TFL) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A5 B 35 R R M 5 (AR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —E - RAF=A=+—HILtFE

14. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 14. BRER (F1R)

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company from Continuing Operations and
Discontinued Operation is based on the following data:

REFBEREEBRERLEREEBT ZA
REAFEAEANEBEERERAREERT (F
B)TIRE T 5 8URFH

2025 2024
—E-FHE —ZTME
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Earnings (loss) for the purpose of basic AR ESRELRER (FE)
earnings (loss) per share Z B R (F8)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to AATHEE AEEFRRF (E18)
owners of the Company
— Continuing Operations —FEKEER 222,749 (162,864)
— Discontinued Operation —BRIEEEER (105) (85)
Earnings (loss) for the purpose of basic SERENERIMEEER
earnings (loss) per share from ARTEEREARZR (BE)
Continuing and discontinued Operations 2 BA(EE) 222,644 (162,949)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:  JEE# 8 Ti@EAR 2 £ -
— Effective interest expense on — AR ESHZBEERAERX
convertible bonds 21,914 e
244,558 (162,949)
Earnings (loss) for the purpose of diluted AR ESREBFER (FE)
earnings (loss) per share Z B R (E8)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to RATHEB AEEFRRF (EE)
owners of the Company
— Continuing Operations —BEKEER 244,663 (162,864)
— Discontinued Operation — BRI EET (105) (85)
244,558 (162,949)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SRR ENEAE )

n‘l-.R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

14. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

14. SREF (EE) @

Number of shares iz 10 2 B
2025 2024
S5 —T
’000 ’000
T I A%
Weighted average number of ordinary RARETEERERZR (BE)
shares for the purpose of basic earings (loss) < & i i% 104 S 15
per share 2,390,000 2,390,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEBELTBR 2 ZE
— Convertible bonds —A R ESH 900,000 =
Weighted average number of ordinary Rt EFREERR (BE)
shares for the purpose of diluted earnings (oss) Z LBk NE T &
per share 3,290,000 2,390,000

The basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to owners of

RAIBEEAREERERNRETRR

the Company are as follows: (BE)WT :
HKS$ cents HK$ cents
AL Rl
Basic earnings (loss) per share IRERRF (BE)
— Continuing Operations —FEEEER 9.32 (6.81)
— Discontinued Operation —BERIEEEER —* (0.01)
— Continuing and Discontinued Operations ~ —#HB&E L R ER KL XS 9.32 (6.82)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share IREEE R A (E8)
— Continuing Operations FEICE TS 7.44 (6.81)
— Discontinued Operation — BRI ER (0.01) (0.01)
— Continuing and Discontinued Operations ~ —#F B & & K DR IF K& %275 7.43 (6.82)

The amount is less than (0.01).

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March
2024 did not assume the conversion of the Company’s outstanding
convertible bonds since their assumed exercise would result in a
decrease in loss per share, and therefore diluted loss per share is same

as basic loss per share.
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SEDR0.01)

BE_ZT-_WF=H=+— EIJJ:@VEI’Jt
Hx?é&éléiﬁaﬂ’]ﬁﬁlﬂfﬁ’“ B AR AT
FERABMBESNELR RARKRETES
SEYEREBERS  ALERETER
HEFREREBERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

v'R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

15.

kR ER )

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWHE
Properties
/S
HK$’000
FAT
Cost 22N
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 R-_E_=ZFMWA—H - —TE-_WFE=ZA=+—8"
and 31 March 2025 —ENFMA—HERZE-_AF=A=+—H 18,000
Accumulated depreciation and impairment it iTE R EE
At 1 April 2023 R_ZT_=FMA—A 15,451
Charge for the year KEEIZ 132
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-_WNEFE=ZA=+—HBEK-_ZE_WFEMA—H 15,583
Charge for the year REEYZ 133
At 31 March 2025 R-_ZE_RAF=ZA=+—H 15,716
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 March 2025 RZTE-AF=RA=+—8H 2,284
At 31 March 2024 R-EBE-_WNE=F=+—H 2,417

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line
basis on the following bases:

Leasehold lands/leased
properties

30.25 years to 50 years or over
the lease terms

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with fixed
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of five (2024:
five) years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of the lease term.

R EYRTIIRIATELEAE R E

ELH FAEWE 3025FE504F
sk A H A

AEFRELLHEEHAETHAE ;éi
RASGHETEHE HENTABER—
ARF(ZE_WF: 15F)-

AEBEYRABEZPEEINEER R
HARmAEEEBAEBRERSBNIE
ERFE HEANLEHI K RKEEE
RE/SRABARBHERGEEENED
TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n‘l'.R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —ZE A& =A=+—HIFE

15.

SRR ENEAE )

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash inflow for leases is
approximately HK$435,000 (2024: HK$414,000).

The Group’s investment properties are located on land in the PRC with
medium lease term.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2025 amounting to approximately HK$6,366,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,920,000) (2024: HK$7,185,000 (equivalent to RMB6,610,000))
has been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out for that date
by an independent professional qualified valuer not connected with the
Group. The amount of additional depreciation would be charged against
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income had those assets been stated at such valuation was about
HK$43,000 (2024: HK$66,000). The valuation was arrived at by direct
comparison approach with reference to market evidence of comparable
transaction prices for similar properties as available in the relevant
market.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2025
is categorised as Level 3 (2024: Level 3) non-recurring fair value
measurement and based on the properties highest and best use, which
does not differ from their actual use.

The valuation takes into account of the condition and location of the
properties, in which the adjustments of comparable 1, comparable 2
and comparable 3 are —13.3%, —13.9% and —-12.9% (2024: —7.4%,
—7.3% and —4.7%) respectively.

There has been no change in the valuation technique used in the prior
years.

15. REWE @)

HE_Z_AF=ZA=Z+—RHLEFE H
EZHRESRABELHA35000F T (=T =
PO 4E : 414,000/ 7T) °

AEBERZEREWMEN
HE -

ReE BRTH

RZEZRAF=ZA=+—RH AEEHz%
BN FEL 56,366,000 T (HHE R A
R #5,920,0007T ) ( — & — P4 £ : 7,185,000
BT (FHE R AREB,610,0007T)) ' &5 )
REAEEVEBECBLEESEKM
ERMRZAETZHEEEEZS - MESE
BEERZEBEIER  AEREEEER
HthzEBEXRMBZEIMMESELN AR
43,0007 7T (=2 = PO 4 : 66,0007 7T) ° 14
BNE2ZMEMSPAEZEUYER]
BUBRRSGERZM S REREERZLR
SRIEB °

RZEZRAF=ZA=+—RH HxEEH 2%
BYMELZATFELEARE=-FH(ZZT=
ME: F=R)FLEHEAFEFELE
RMERIZE2ZHER(REEERRE
AR o

HESTRMEZRIRME  HP A&
LEE - ATE L BR2R AT B L B3 AR S
Bl A-13.83% * -13.9% % -12.9% (=T = /4
£ 74% - -73%F-47%) °

PR fh B ST BB A F EARR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
kR ER )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

n‘l'.R

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Plant and fixtures and

16. % - MERRE

Motor Construction

Buildings equipment equipment vehicles in progress Total
BE &BA- -BE
BF ke HERZRE RE EEIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THERT THT TAR FTHET THER
Cost R A
At 1 April 2023 R-E-_=%FmMA—H 122,841 44,890 6,910 3,806 6,010 184,457
Additions NE — 150 32 — 1,020 1,202
Disposals & = = = (65) = (65)
Transfer =B — 6,754 54 — (6,808) —
Exchange realignments fE & AR (2,670) (976) 61) (70) (131)  (3,908)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 E/Q\:g: ME=A=+—HEK
“E-NENA—A 120,171 50,818 6,935 3,671 91 181,686
Additions NE = 1,115 52 462 1,438 3,067
Disposals tH & - - —  (1,493) — (1,499
Transfer =B - 967 105 - (1,072) -
Exchange realignments fE & AR (1,293) (546) (30) (35) — (1,904
At 31 March 2025 R-_E-_h&E=A=+—AH 118,878 52,354 7,062 2,605 457 181,356
Accumulated depreciationand B3 iTE R B E
impairment
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FMA—H 24,164 25,106 6,605 3,797 - 59,672
Charge for the year AEEFFIZ 2,585 4,423 137 9 = 7,154
Elimination on disposals i & B EUH = = = (65) = (69)
Exchange realignments fE & AR (552) (594) (56) (70) — (1,272)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 E/Q\: ; “HE=ZRA=+—BK
“E-NFENA—A 26,197 28,935 6,686 3,671 - 65,489
Charge for the year AEEFFIZ 2,585 3,680 130 30 = 6,425
Elimination on disposals & K BUH - - — (1,493 —  (1,493)
Exchange realignments TR (339) (390) 31) (36) - (796)
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-_R¥=R=+—H 28,443 32,225 6,785 2,172 — 69,625
Net carrying amounts RERE
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-_RE=R=+—H 90,435 20,129 277 433 457 111,731
At 31 March 2024 R-E-WF=A=+—H 93,974 21,883 249 — 91 116,197

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress, after taking into account the residual values,
are depreciated on a straight-line basis on the following bases:

Buildings

Plant and equipment
Furniture, fixtures and

equipment
Motor vehicles

RERFHREEER LAYWE BHERR
BB (EEIREI) HRATEENE

BEMRE Tz AR
S0F (AREE RE)

6.67% £ 20%

Fih - BEEEE 10%E30%

ORI E
Over the lease terms of the relevant g5
leasehold land and 50 years, if shorter
6.67%—-20% B KA
10%-30%
B
20% RE

20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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n‘l-.R

SRR ENEAE )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Lease
Lease land properties Total
HEL i HEWE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
Cost 5%
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FWA—H 9,624 4,736 14,360
Expiration of lease HEEm (139) (139)
Exchange realignments T 5 A& (209) — (209)
At 31 March 2024 and at 1 April 2024 HR=-ZT_MF=A=+—H
RZ_Z_WHEMA—H 9,415 4,597 14,012
Exchange realignments ME X & (101) = (101)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-_AFE=RA=+—H 9,314 4,597 13,911
Accumulated depreciation and A MERBE
impairment
At 1 April 2023 M-_ZE_=F/mMAH—H 2,307 294 2,601
Charge for the year REFEEF X 190 1,569 1,759
Expiration of lease HEEm = (189) (139)
Exchange realignments & 5 (52) = (52)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-_ZE_WE=ZA=+—H
EZZ-_mMEmMA—A 2,445 1,724 4,169
Charge for the year REFHIX 190 1,533 1,723
Exchange realignment M H AR 31 = (31)
At 31 March 2025 R-P-_HE=R=+—*H 2,604 3,257 5,861
Net carrying amounts REFE
At 31 March 2025 R—ZFE_RAF=A=+—H 6,710 1,340 8,050
At 31 March 2024 R-_ZE_WE=ZA=+—H 6,970 2,873 9,843
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Total cash outflow for the lease was approximately HK$1,576,000 (2024:

HK$1,615,000).

During the year, the Group leases its office premises for its operations.
Lease contract is entered into for a fixed term of three years (2024:
two to three years). In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is

enforceable.

HEZHE WL #E L R1,676,000% 7T

(ZZ P94 : 1,615,000/ T) °

REER AEBEgREE

ERQE

i © %ﬂ%é%’ﬂ)ﬁ&lmiﬁﬂ:i(_Y_

FME=ZF)AI - -EEM

£ 3R T

AR MEREE  AEEEASHZ

EEZILIREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n‘l'.R

SR ER )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSET 8. BEEE
Gene
invention
rights Goodwill Total
HERBHE mE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
(note (i) below) (note (ii) below)
(T BEaE@)  CF 3B E (i)
Cost 5
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, R-ZE-_=FWA—AH-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 _i_ﬂijﬂ == >
—E-OFRA—B K
—E-_hA%¥=A=+—H 95,000 1,807 96,807
Accumulated depreciationand R IFEREE
impairment
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 5’\_ T=FMmMA—H"
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 —ET-_MNE=A=+—H"
ZEMFWOA—HBHER
—E-_hAF=A=+—H 95,000 = 95,000
Net carrying amount REFEE
At 31 March 2025 R=ZZF-_AF=A=+—H — 1,807 1,807
At 31 March 2024 RZTE-_ME=RA=+—8 — 1,807 1,807
Notes: B -

(0] Gene invention rights

The gene invention rights represent the rights held by the Group to commercially
exploit 19 gene inventions, which are closely associated with diabetes held by
the Best-Bio Group within the Discontinued Operation.

As the development of global gene sector has slowed down and there was no
indication of significant improvement in the foreseeable future, the Directors
have made a full provision on impairment of the carrying amount in prior years.

(i) ERFEHE

ERFEAREASEMI9OFEBRILELEX
T5IR T m Best-Bio & B35 B 2 #& /R % % £ 48 A
MERBAMBFE AR CRAERET -

BERRERNTEERNE  BERAUERR
RIMABRREZITR EEERBEFE
REEREDHREE -
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSET (Continued)

Notes (Continued):

(i)

Goodwill

The goodwill arose as part of business combinations in prior years and were
determined at the respective acquisition dates, being the differences between
the purchase considerations and the fair values of net identifiable assets of
acquirees.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill with indefinite useful lives
has been allocated to one individual CGU, comprising one subsidiary in the
Manufacturing segment.

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on value-in-use
calculation. In assessing the valuation of the CGU, the management adopted
the income approach. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period, and a
discount rate of 11.0% (2024: 14.8%). This unit’s cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a pre-tax 2% (2024: 2%) growth rate, which
represents the long-term inflation rate in the PRC. No impairment loss has been
recognised during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 as the Directors
are of the opinion that the recoverable amount was higher than the carrying
amount.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, management of the Group
determines that there is no impairment on this segment.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key
assumptions on which CGU’s recoverable amount is based would not cause
the CGU’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

8. B EE @

F sk (48D -

(i)

ma

HEDERBEFANEBEH —BDE
£ WRERRERSEE EARBARE
BB SRR EEFERTENER

RREASRTME  AEREAFHIHED
“M —f{E%E— ﬁ%éiﬁﬁ’%*@%%
EHBEN—RE R

ZEMzARESENREEAEBEGE
MEE NABEZRSELEMEER &
BERBBRAE A EEARANRESRE
BDEREEREE#HENTFHRGHRE -
BRI R B11.0%(ZF W F : 14.8%) ° 2 &
NAFHROBESRER2%(ZF_MF :
2%) BLATIE R MR ERKRPBENRHBE
RE-HREERA/ATUEESESNERS
B HBE_F_AFR_F_OE=ZAZ=
T BILEFEYEERRERSRE -

HE-_ZT-_AFR-_FT-_NMF=A=+—H
LFE  FEEE ﬁﬁ#m%”ﬁl“ﬂﬁ

EEERE REeELBEM 2RO SER
KEZTERREREFAAEAELEZD KT
SERRCELABUZRAEBBREE AT LD
S

19. BEXAFPEFTAERZZEH

&E

Notes 2025 2024
Bt 5 ZEZRF —T_MEF

Financial assets at FVTPL comprises: BEAFEFABZZERHEERRE
— Investments in convertible bonds — I BRERKE (@) 915,436 660,564
— Short-term investment — R E (b) 1,649 661
917,085 661,225

Analysed as: DA

— Current — R E 917,085 661
— Non-current —JEmE - 660,564
917,085 661,225
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19. BAFEFTAERZZE A
& E

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued)

(@

Investments in convertible bonds

The amount represents the Group’s investments in convertible
bonds (the “Innovative Pharm Bond”) that were issued by
Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (“Innovative Pharm”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Innovative Pharm Group”) on
28 July 2014 with principal amount of HK$715,000,000 and
interest bearing at 3.5% per annum, with an original maturity
date on the 7th anniversary of the date of issue i.e. 28 July 2021.
Innovative Pharm is a public limited liability company and its
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange with the Stock Code
399 which is mainly engaged in the trading of beauty products
and the research, development and commercialisation of the oral
insulin product.

Pursuant to the convertible bonds agreement between the
Company as the bondholder and Innovative Pharm as the
issuer of the Innovative Pharm Bonds, the Group has the right
to convert the Innovative Pharm Bonds into shares of Innovative
Pharm up to the maturity date at an initial conversion price of
HK$2.5 per share.

Deeds of amendments of the Innovative Pharm Bonds were
entered into between the Company and Innovative Pharm,
respectively on 26 July 2019 (the “First Amendment Deed”), 12
May 2021 (the “Second Amendment Deed”) and 28 April 2024
(the “Third Amendment Deed”) to amend certain terms and
conditions of the Innovative Pharm Bonds.

Pursuant to the First Amendment Deed which was effective
on 28 October 2019, the outstanding annual interests of the
Innovative Pharm Bonds together with an additional interest
charged for the extension of interest payment dates, were to
be paid on 28 July 2021, details of which were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 26 July and 28 October of
2019 and circular dated 16 September 2019.

Pursuant to the Second Amendment Deed which was effective
on 16 August 2021, in addition to the extension of certain
payments of interests and with an additional interest, the maturity
date of the Innovative Pharm Bonds was extended for two years
to 28 July 2023, details of which were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 12 May, 30 July and 16 August of 2021
and circular dated 14 July 2021.

—

a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2025

ABRESRE

EEFBEBEASEEN AT RREF
((EMBHEESDRE DR=_2F—
MWELA-+\BHEMEBEER 4
MBI AR AR ([EMEBE] EF
HMBARGBAIEMEBEER])
217 A& A715,000,0008 T * HF
M E35%sTERREIHAE AETAH
HEFTEABRBFRB=_Z2=—F+
AZ+NB) - EMBERARER
AE  ERR G R AT B (ARG R
§%:399) FEREEXZAEREZ MU
EORBESEZEMOMEREEL -

REARBD(EREZFEAN) KA
MEEEREMEREBES 2T
AN E S A RE AR
REBMERNSENEEESZNE
BIR(E S R2.68 TE R R A S &
Bdn o

RAREBEMBEES B R =N
E+rA-+ B -—ZE=-_—FRHA+
ZARZZE-_MFEFM@MA=+NREA
N Z D BB EEH BT ZE (D 5
BRIEZE—HEITRE] [E=MHER]
ZRIRIE=MIETRE]) - LAMERT
EM B EELFNE TR R -

RER-_F-AF+A=-+NBE
M E — BRI IR - M AR EIEREE
FEEEFsFRERELERNEA
HmB BB EER =T = —
FEAZTNABXf BHEFBHEN
ARBBHRR-_T-NAFLA=-T
AEBERtTAZ+NANBZASARA
PR-E-NFAATRNBZER-

BER_ZTEZ—F A+ BERK
ME—MEITEE BRERINET
B S REINF BHN - EfEE B
FHWIBHBAERMEFE_T_=F
tAZ+NRB  BEFBHAREAA
BA-_T-_—FAA+=H tA
= FEHENA FxEZASANRE
MAE_T-_—FtATHBEZ@K-
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued)

(@

Investments in convertible bonds (Continued)

The Third Amendment Deed entered into between the Company
and Innovative Pharm on 28 April 2023 was completed on 12
July 2023. The amendments mainly included: (i) a further two-
year extension of the maturity date of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds from 28 July 2023 to 28 July 2025; (i) the annual interest
at 4.5% for the two-year extension period from 28 July 2023 to
28 July 2025; and (iii) the additional interest at 15% per annum
on the total outstanding interests up to 28 July 2025, details of
which were set out in the Company’s announcements dated
28 April, 28 June, 29 June and 12 July of 2023 and circular
dated 12 June 20283. Any outstanding principal amount of the
Innovative Pharm Bonds shall be redeemed and the interests
shall be paid, on the extended maturity date i.e. 28 July 2025.

The movements of the Innovative Pharm Bonds are set out as

19. BEAFPEFTAERZZEH

BE @
(@ ARBREHFKRE @
AARHEMBEN _—_T - =4F01

RZ+NBIEIIME=HETZE
ERZZTE_=FtA+ZHEK - Z
ZBITFEBRNEMBEESNE
HER-_ZTE-_=FtA=-+N\RH#E
—PEEMFE_ZTE_HF Lt A=
+NAB: (R E_=ZFEA=+N
AE-_Z_AFtA=-+ \HHO®W
FREHBE FE HB45% R(i)FHE
E_E_AFEtA-_+N \NBHEXE
BANEAENEIINIERFEEE% -
EHAFBIERNARBAIBBHA-ZT =
=FWA=+N\B - ~A=Z+tN\B"
ANAZtTABREA+T=ZBZA%
LEBBHA-ZZE_=F"A+=H
B EM B ERS N EMKRE
EAeRFEBELERRSA BI=
—EFEAZFTNAB)AFELDR
XA e

BEMBERBELRZEHEHIWOT

below:
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 April 2023 R-_ZE-_=%PMAH—H 793,530
Change in fair value NFEE (132,966)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 N_E-_NF=A=+—HBR=-ZFT-_NWFMA—H 660,564
Change in fair value NEEEE) 254,872
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-_RAF=A=+—8H 915,436

At 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the fair value of the
Innovative Pharm Bonds as a whole is determined by the
Directors with reference to the valuation conducted by the
independent professional qualified valuer and is calculated using
the Binomial Model. The Directors consider that the independent
professional qualified valuer holds a recognised and relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in valuing
similar industry and assets of the investment being valued.

RZE_RAF=A=1+—HBEKZ=ZZ
“HMFE=A=+—H EMBEE
FEBANTERESZ2EE LY
XEARMEMELNGHEEE I
NZBABRAAE -EFRA B
EXLERGHEMBEARNIER
XA WHEALHHEUTER
WA REERMPREEETHERN
Ko
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued) 19. gé\ FEFABZZEH
(%)

(@) Investments in convertible bonds (Continued) () ATEREZFRE &
In determining the fair value of the Innovative Pharm Bonds, RETEMBEZESNATER &
discussion of the fair value measurement processes and result g M ?% VEXEEABMMERMEH®
had been held between management and the independent AFEFEBRERERETT®R - A
professional qualified valuer to establish the appropriate valuation RBEEHAZERNBLEE N
techniques and inputs to the model at the reporting date. This B R A SR - LIEMEERE
valuation requires the use of unobservable inputs and is within AR SENEASE  WERAFE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. EERNE=4-
The inputs into the model at the respective dates are as follows: ZEARNES BB AE AZRET :
2025 2024
—E_RE —TZMF
Stock price (HK$) & B4 (B L) 0.174 0.200
Conversion price (HK$) HARE (B T) 2.50 2.50
Discount rate AR IR & 27.109% 31.273%
Risk free rate (note (i) below) 2 BB A = CT SCMEEG) 3.044% 3.948%
Expected volatility (note (i) below) 8 HA O 8 (T TR 7 (i) 54.022% 32.181%
Expected dividend yield (note (i) below) 8 HA AR 2 = (T 3 & i) 0% 0%
Option life (Years) HR#E BABR (4F H) 0.326 1.326
Notes: B E
i) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (i) ZHNEDBEFBRNEFREFR
government bonds and treasury bills at the date of valuation. HEBHZESREE -
(ii) Based on the historical price volatility of Innovative Pharm. (ii) EREMBEZBEERRBEL -
(iif Estimated with reference to the historical dividend payout of Innovative (iif SEEMBEZBERBIRMNMGEE -
Pharm.
As of the date of approval of the consolidated financial BEGZEUBRERMEBT XA
statements, discussions between the Company and Innovative B <8 i B8 22 3t <B i B8 45 (5 5 B & E
Pharm on the renewal of the maturity date of the Innovative WBERSEEDNEETE @ MAREK
Pharm Bonds are ongoing and have yet to reach a conclusion. Ho
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued) 19. RAFEFAREZZE®

(b)

Short-term investment

The short-term investment represents short-term highly liquid
investment placed in two PRC state-owned financial institutions,
which is readily convertible to cash. These investments are all
denominated in Renminbi (“‘RMB”) with non-determinable return
rate.

The fair value of the Group’s investment is based on estimated
return of 1.38% to 1.62% (2024: 2.2%), and the credit quality
of this investment can be assessed by reference to historical
information or external credit ratings. At 31 March 2025 and
2024, none of these investments is either past due or impaired
and the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at that date
is the carrying value of these investments.

The fair value of this investment that is not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques that
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available
and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

20. &4
Z

%

& E |

BRHRE

EHREEEHRARMETERE S
BN ] AR E R AR S 2R
BNBEERE ZEREZHMHAUA
RE(TAREDEE  mEBHRET)
BRI EE °

(b

~

ANEBZEHEEZRFETIIEZI38%E
1.62%(ZF M4 : 2.2%) 2 fh & E
EBRE MZREZEEEZAL
2EZRBATERHIINBEETRT N
FE-RZE_AFR-ZT-_NF=
A=+—R8 ZSRERBHITRR
B mMAEERZAMERZESE
BERBAZEIREAZIEERE-

ZREVWETRTSEER  MEARQ
FEDERGETEEE - NEFEA
BEmSHER ZE5HENEEER
ERERMHBE LEAERIKEER
B2 E fhAT -

B

Bt AHMZ2HE K&

TREE
2025 2024
—E_RfF —EmMEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FH&T

Unlisted investment fund

FLEMRERES

Unlisted investment fund represents the investments in KKC Capital

SPC, a segregated portfolio company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands (the “Fund”). Pursuant to the subscription agreements entered
into between KKC Capital SPC and Extrawell Enterprises Limited (the
“Subscriber”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
on 11 May and 2 June 2017, the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for
50,000 and 30,000 participating shares in the Fund attributable to the
segregated portfolio at aggregate consideration of HK$50,000,000 and
HK$30,000,000 respectively on the respective dates. The total cost
of these investments of HK$80,000,000 was funded by the internal
resources of the Group.

IEEMRE HE L IERKKC Capital SPC(—
ARASHEEMK I 2B YREAER
AR E(T&ZES]) - R IEKKC Capital
SPCEHIBEECEARRATREALD (K
RAIZEEZERNBAR) R =T —+t
FRAA+T—BRERAARZBIUHRER
w RBACERERSBHDIREZ
Ao 2B EHE 2500000 30,000
2L ER D BRED 5 7%50000000/%
TE&S0,000,000/%TE EZ%TX§W$ = /\
80,000,000/ 7T  H A & B A 5 & IR B AT -
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (Continued) 20.

Since the financial year ended 31 March 2019 and up to present, the
Fund had net liabilities. Therefore, the Directors consider that the fair
value of the Fund approximates to zero.

Unlisted investment fund was measured at FVTOCI. Under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments, these investments are all classified as financial
assets measured at FVTOCI. Subsequent changes in fair value of these
investments are recognised in FVTOCI reserve and the cumulative gains
or loss on disposals are recognised in retained earnings.

The unlisted investment fund was denominated in HK$.

21.

BEBE_Z-NAF=A=+—HIEMERF
EE2% ZESBFABFR AU E=
RRZETHAFERERE -

X

FLETREESRATFENAELMEER
@A B REEBMBREENFORE M
TA ZEREGERIBREAFEFTA
HthxmREHEZEREE - 2FRE
ZRAFEAREINEZAFEF AL LR
MREFERER MEBEEELEZ RFTR
BABEERRE B PR -

FLETREEGUB LA

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 2. R—EBE LT z2ER
2025 2024
—E-RE —E_MF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTER T T
Cost of investment in an unlisted associate R—MEFELEMEE QB 2R EKAK 337,000 337,000
Share of post-acquisition losses and EHEEEEERAMEERX
other comprehensive expense (25,071) (22,759)
311,929 314,241
The amount represents the Group’s interest in Smart Ascent, a BRFREEASBEREE ZERD  ZAF

company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. Prior to 28
July 2014, Smart Ascent was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 17
March 2014 between the Group and Clear Rich International Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Innovative Pharm, the Group disposed of
49% equity interest in Smart Ascent to Clear Rich International Limited (the
“Disposal”). The Disposal was completed on 28 July 2014.

Subsequent to the Disposal, the Group’s cost of investment in Smart
Ascent of HK$337,000,000 represents the fair value at 28 July 2014 of
the 49% equity interest in Smart Ascent as retained by the Group upon
completion of the Disposal of 51% equity interest in Smart Ascent to
Clear Rich on 28 July 2014.

ANNUAL REPORT 2025

D—EREBFMRILIZAERAR - KR
T—NFELA=-+/\BHAEEEBERQF
—HEZE2ENB AR - RIBEANEBEES
B8 52 & [f] /B 2 7] Clear Rich International
Limted A ZZT —ME=A+tRHTLZ
B B % 0 ANEE A Clear Rich International
Limited tH & # £49% K E(HE ) - £ &
ERZZ—MELA=Z+NBZEK -

REEZR NEEBREEZRERAE
337,000,000 TR T —MHE LA =
+J\ B [ Clear Rich {H & i 4 51% & # 52 Ak
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The Directors consider that the Group has the right to participate the
policymaking process of Smart Ascent. The Group has accounted
for its investment in Smart Ascent as an associate as management
assessed that there is significant influence as the Group has the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
Smart Ascent based on the Articles of Association of Smart Ascent in
accordance with HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures. Thus, Smart Ascent is accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s associate, Smart Ascent is a private company with no
quoted market price available for its shares.

Particulars of the Smart Ascent Group at the end of the reporting
periods are as follows:

21. R—REBE QAT 2R @

E=ZRR AKREERSEELZRESE
B-ANERENMG AEBERENE
EZEBERAMNREEESHELSE
BHF(—E——FI)RBERFIREELF
ZRESHELZHBREERFRE
EMEREAZEN AEESERNESE
ZEREANRIEB ZEAE - ALt EER
ZEFAVBRRPEAEDEET S
IR o

AEBZBERNFEER—BILERT
H {0 3 8 T 05 B -

EEEERBERRZFBET

Effective interest held
by the Group

Place/country of incorporation/  Class of AEBERSERER
Name of the company operations shares held 2025 2024
YNGR AR E B R Fi i B 4 38 5l ZE-HE ZT_WNF
Smart Ascent Hong Kong Ordinary 49.0% 49.0%
i e BB =R
Subsidiaries of Smart Ascent
EEZHEATR
Fosse Bio-Engineering Hong Kong/PRC Ordinary 25.0% 25.0%
Development Limited
BIEEMIRBRAA B,/ HE =R
BEEMIR(LB)ERAR PRC Registered capital 25.0% 25.0%
A ER RN
Welly Surplus Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 25.0% 25.0%
hEERBRAF BB i
Nation Joy Industries Limited BVI Ordinary 49.0% 49.0%
B EXGR QA REBRETHS i
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21.

kR ER )

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Impairment assessment

The Group engages an independent professional qualified valuer to
perform the impairment assessment of the Group’s interest in Smart
Ascent at the end of the reporting date. The Directors consider that
the independent professional qualified valuer holds a recognised and
relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in valuing
similar industry and assets of the investment being valued.

In determining the impairment of the Group’s interest in Smart Ascent,
discussion of impairment assessment processes and result had been
held between management and the independent professional qualified
valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model at the reporting date.

The major assets held by the Smart Ascent Group is the intangible
asset in relation to the In-process R&D involving the Product and it is
expected that the commercialisation of the Product will be in the third
quarter of 2028.

The entire carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associate is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposals) with is carrying amount.

The asset-based approach was adopted in determining the recoverable
amount of the Group’s interest in the associate. In doing so, various
assumptions about the cash flow projections of the In-process R&D
and the Product were adopted. These assumptions include market
penetration rate, revenue growth rate and forecasted percentage of
costs and operating expenses of the Product, as well as the success
rate of commercialisation of the Product in the third quarter of 2028.

The recoverable amount of the interest in the associate is determined
based on the Group’s share of the estimated fair value of the In-process
R&D after taking into account the lack of control discount.

With reference to the valuation report prepared by the independent
professional qualified valuer, at the end of the reporting period, the
recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in the associate is higher
than its carrying amount and thus, no impairment loss was recognised
for both years.

21, R—EHEQRT 2 EE@®

T AE R A
FEEREBYYE LA REEANEE
B8R 3 7 00 ) 4 36 1T R ML F
b-EERA BUBEAERGEEME
EORRABEEAR LRELHYE
U172 RART 4R A BT o5 RA B (T
B 188 -

EEASBERELNEARER  EEE
B B XS B 4 E Bl LR E T R A2
K& RETHw - AR ERHE B HEE
B A ER R ER A E -

ELEEEMB 2 IEEERBHETHZ
MBEzBEREE BT SRERAENRK
RZBE-NFE=FEKEMBEmIL -

AEBRBEATANERNEMEEES
REEBGHEAE6HRIER—HE—F
EETREANR  ZEARLRAETKES
BNERAEBEEDFEBRHEXKANK
=& EEREE -

REEASERK SRR 2#E 2RO
CHERRMEEZ FUBIED  EAE
THZABEREMZBRSRERNEH
ZEEBRR -ZERIABEMHEEEX
WaBERERERAREERIEINA DL
NER—ZE-_NEFE=FERERBMIL
BT 3K o

REE QA 2 a2z T RE ST &R
IR TR R R AN B BT
M2 EZ AR AT EEE °

REEFUEXGAERMGHEMBRZGE
HBE RBEPRR AEERBERARZ
ez WO RN EREE Bt
1A W {8 6 3F 5 FE SRR (B 48 -
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 21. A—HEBE QAT 2R @
Summarised financial information of the Smart EEEENMEERBE
Ascent Group
The summarised financial information of the associate, adjusted for any GE AR U EERBE(ERENSS
difference in accounting policies and a reconciliation to the carrying BREEZEELAZ) RREEMEHREA
amount in the consolidated financial statements, are as follows: HEEmMEBEZHERMOT ¢

2025 2024
—EZhHEF —TmEF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Non-current assets, mainly intangible assets ERBEE  TERMEETH 2R
relating to In-process R&D* Bz EREEE 284,260 284,260
Current assets B A E 1,722 2,215
Current liabilities mEBE (47,042) (85,058)
Non-current liabilities FEREBERE (83,710) (39,108)
155,230 162,309
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR (88,675) (91,036)
Net assets of the Smart Ascent Group EEREARGELEEBR CEEFE
attributable to owners of Smart Ascent 66,555 71,273
The In-process R&D is stated at the historical carrying value of the Group prior - ETPZHEDNRAEEREEZAIZESL
to the Disposal. BRE (B 51 BR -
Year ended
BEUTHHILEE
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
—B_REF —E_MF
=HA=+—H ER=EF 8
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Revenue W g - —
Loss and total comprehensive expense EEREERXEE (7,079) (7,079)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% 3R 3R M GE (BR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = =L - AF =R =+—HILtFE

21.

22.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 2. RA—HEBE QAT 2R @
Summarised financial information of the Smart ELEEENMEEREE @)
Ascent Group (Continued)

Reconailiation of the above summarised financial information to the LB ER B ERRNERE B REATE
carrying amount of the interest in Smart Ascent recognised in the RREE 7 ERREE 2R

consolidated financial statements:

2025 2024
—E-HEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAT
Net assets of the Smart Ascent Group EEHRBARBGLELESEEEFE
attributable to owners of Smart Ascent 66,555 71,273
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest REEREAEZ FTE R A
in Smart Ascent 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEBREE(ER—HBE QR
in Smart Ascent as an associate 2wz REE 32,612 34,924
Adjustment for remeasurement to fair value EESEEEEAFER VR ERE
of the assets of the Smart Ascent Group ZEHFTERAER
on initial recognition 279,317 279,317
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REBREE 2R 2 REE
in Smart Ascent 311,929 314,241

AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE AND 22. @L& BBE N NFRERE
LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE MTF—EEE QT
2025 2024
—EB-RHEF —E N
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FER FE T
Amount due from the associate, Smart Ascent — J& Y& # & 2 ‘ﬂ (& £) 3B 0]
Amount due from Smart Ascent JE Ui A FRIE 41,947 41,947
Less: Impairment B ORE (9,285) (7,488)
32,662 34,459
Loan to the associate, Smart Ascent AT E A (EE) (i)
Loan to Smart Ascent % % KT A 35,563 24,655
Less: Impairment R E (7,872) (6,616)
27,691 18,039
Loan to Smart Ascent analysed as: BERTFEEZRATES N :
— Current — - 13,430
— Non-current —3ERE 27,691 4,609
27,691 18,039
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&5 S B 35 3R R M 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & & —

—oasE T B —qr— ElEsE

22. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE AND 22. &
LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

Amount due from the associate, Smart Ascent

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, amount due from Smart Ascent is unsecured
and interest-free and has no fixed repayment term with a principal amount of
approximately HK$41,947,000.

The balance was netted off with the allowance of impairment amounting to
approximately HK$9,285,000 (2024: HK$7,488,000) as at 31 March 2025.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 40(d).
Loan to the associate, Smart Ascent

On 27 July 2018, the Group and the Innovative Pharm Group as lenders and
Smart Ascent as borrower entered into a shareholders’ loan agreement for a
loan to Smart Ascent amounting to HK$30 million in total (the “First Loan”), to
be contributed as to 49% i.e. HK$14.7 million by the Group and as to 51%
i.e. HK$15.3 million by the Innovative Pharm Group, which would be used to
finance the working capital requirements of the Smart Ascent Group for the oral
insulin project. The First Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rate of 5%
per annum and has a repayment term fixed at 60 months after each drawdown
of the First Loan.

As the provision of the First Loan was a connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules but was made in proportion to the equity interest
of the shareholders in Smart Ascent and on normal commercial terms, this
connected transaction is fully exempted from the reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.89 of the Listing Rules.
Also, the applicable percentage ratios in respect of this connected transaction
are less than 5%, it therefore does not constitute a disclosable transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

On 8 March 2022, the Group and the Innovative Pharm Group as lenders and
Smart Ascent as borrower entered into a shareholders’ loan agreement for a
loan to Smart Ascent amounting to HK$12 million in total (the “Second Loan”),
to be contributed as to 49% i.e. HK$5.88 million by the Group and as to 51%
i.e. HK$6.12 million by the Innovative Pharm Group, which would be used to
finance the working capital requirements of the Smart Ascent Group for the oral
insulin project. The Second Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rate of 5%
per annum and has a repayment term fixed at 60 months after each drawdown
of the Second Loan. The provision of the Second Loan constitutes a disclosable
transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

=h
TA

Bt

()

(i)

%-ﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬁ%ﬂlﬁﬁﬁ

JE Wi Bt 2 X R A 2 FROR

R-B-_AFR=_T-_WMFE=A=+—8"
Féuﬁz’&@;z Iﬁﬁ,ﬂwﬂm REREBRTE
H - R &R L) A 41,947,000% 7T ©

R-ZTE-_RAF=A=+—H AHBELEHHE
B %% & #99,285,000/% ;L (= T = I 4 :
7,488,000 7T) ¥ 84 °

BB B A 5 15 B Bl 52 40(d) ©
B TR E QRS E

RZZE—N\FELtAZ+tH ANEBEKEM
BESsE(ERERA) BELE(ERERA)
RN —HRRERGE AT AMAE LR
L,U%Ez%sooooooo/%nz/% R([E—2H
#K) » H 1 49% (B114,700,000% 7T) i A £ B
H & - 51% (BN15,300,0005% 7T) l4EA B s &=
ELHE BEXEARAELEENEELRD
TREHES UMALORESREARM
Be -F—SERAEER REAETFMNE
5%ET B RARGRIZEME —EEHK%60MEA
REE -

E-FERGEXEBER LTRAEI4ATE
TZHERS WERERRNEEMFEZE
o b 5 52 R 30 1% — MR SR AR FRRT 3L - MU R
WEXHE2EMRET ETRIFE14A89
WIETEﬂiffv"i&ﬂﬁiﬁt?&Z%ﬁi°%
S R ARUARRERS ZERBD X
1&?5% g &T%ﬁktm%ﬁﬂ‘l%14§15§?2$
REABATEERXS

R-ZTE-_—F=ZANA AEEREME
BEBWEAERA)BELA(EAEBRA)
AY— IR RAEXMEETELEREAR
12000000/%7t2§m( —EEBXRD &
BB A% E R #H49% 3 18 (85,880,000
BL) AEMEB RS ERESI%RER
6,120,000/ 7T) + E_EEREHAR I Fi#E 4
SENORESREANEELEST R -F
—EERREER REXFNES%TE
YEHERBRET(FRERIENE_EEX
% HB0ME A NEE) - ﬁiffimiﬁﬁ‘l%m;
REF_SEEFBRK—HATERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n‘l'.R

22. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE AND 22, E%U&
a=A

23.

SR ER )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —E - RAF=A=+—HILtFE

LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Notes (Continued):

(i

Loan to the associate, Smart Ascent (Continued)

On 30 July 2024, for purpose of further enhancing the financial resources of
Smart Ascent for the oral insulin project, the Group and the Innovative Pharm
Group as lenders and Smart Ascent as borrower, entered into two agreements
(i) a supplemental agreement supplemental to the shareholders’ loan agreement
dated 27 July 2018 in relation to the extension of repayment dates of the First
Loan and the interests accrued thereon for a period of 36 months (“First Loan
Extension Agreement”); and (i) an agreement for the granting of a loan facility
of up to a principal amount of HK$20 million in total (the “Third Loan), to be
contributed as to 49% by the Group and 51% by the Innovative Pharm Group
in proportion to their respective shareholdings in Smart Ascent (“Third Loan
Agreement”). The Third Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at a fixed rate of 5%
per annum and has a repayment term fixed at 60 months after each drawdown.
The entering into of the First Loan Extension Agreement and the Third Loan
Agreement constitutes a major transaction pursuant to Rule 14.22 of the Listing
Rule. The major transaction was approved by the Company’s shareholders at its
special general meeting held on 15 October 2024. Further details are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 30 July 2024 and 15 October 2024, and
circular dated 27 September 2024.

At 31 March 2025, Smart Ascent had drawn down HK$62 million (2024: HK$42
million) of the First Loan, the Second Loan and the Third Loan, and the balance
as at 31 March 2025 represented the Group’s 49% (2024: 49%) contribution to
the First Loan, the Second Loan and the Third Loan and the interest receivables.

At 31 March 2025, loan to an associate is unsecured, carried interest at 5% per
annum, and repayable in 60 months after each drawdown. During the reporting
period, interest income of approximately HK$1,108,000 (2024: HK$1,061,000)
is credited to profit or loss.

The balance was netted off with the allowance of impairment amounting to
approximately HK$7,872,000 (2024: HK$6,616,000) as at 31 March 2025.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 40(d).

a%%ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ
Bk A=FNCINC )

o]

Fi &k () -

U]

BN TR N RE A (B

R-ZZE-NELA=+0 BE—HHoaiE
EZORBEXREENUBER AEER
EMBEEE(EABERA) BELE (ERER
Eﬁﬂlﬁ@%*OﬁE%ﬁ_?*ﬂitﬁ
—t+EAZBREER G H 2R
EHABE—2EF &Eﬁdﬂﬁmtmaﬁ
ER36MEA([E—HERERHZE]D  Kii
% H 7K & 48 5 1 #8 1820,000,0007% JT ) B 3
E=28F ) mEHE AAEEREM
BEEERSAREENERLG S REE
% EE1% ([E=HERBH]) - F=FER
REER R EE R EFEFEs% B RER
BRIBEVEG0E A REER - RIE EMBRAE
14221 STV E—ERESHHBERE=H
ERMEER —BIERG - ZBEERS
EA_Y_E$+H+£E§SHE’JH1%%EIJ
AE EEARDAREAE - E— FFFR
KR Taﬂﬂ_;_mitﬂ:+5&—“
ZHFET+ATRAZAGEURBHA-ZZTZ
WEAAZTERZBEH -

RZZE_RAF=A=+—HB E£BRERN
E— S8R EF_ZFZERRE=ZZEERZ
62,000,0007% 7T (= & = M 4F : 42,000,000
TMZRE MR=_ZZE-_AF=A=+—H02Z
HEHREASERE -8R FEEXR
E=ZSERMEHRZ49%(ZF ZMF : 49%)
& R ERFS o

RZFE-_AF=A=+—A0 ' EXT B
ERA AWK ZFEF K% B WA
R &R IREE601E A R EE - EAiﬁ R
F B M A #1,108,0008 (=T = M0 4 :
1,061,000/ 70) B 5t A% ©

R-ZTE-_RAE=ZA=+—HB E@&EHH8R
k(B B 4 47,872,000 T(—F — /0 F:
6,616,000 7T ) % 8 ©

BB R {5 175 U Bl 22 40(d) ©

INVENTORIES 23. 78
2025 2024
—E2E_RE —T_NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FHT
Raw materials JR M H 1,739 1,364
Work-in-progress ERm 694 847
Finished goods 2IpK o 2,305 5,054
4,738 7,265
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

24,

184

SRR ENEAE )

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 24, ESEWERFR R EREE
2025 2024
— ? =38 $ — 7 — IE f’f
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FAT
Trade receivables B 5 B ER K 42,410 43,189
Less: Impairment B RE (38,169) (39,422)
4,241 3,767
Bills receivables &R E & 3,561 448
7,802 4,215

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly based on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The customers are generally given a credit period for
120 to 180 days, extending up to one year for some major customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables net of
allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice date at the

AEBEEETRZE SIS

EHEF—RFERENR —RBER
T BEFEAEFSAEH1208E180B 25 E
B mETEERFALEHERSE —F-

AT RATE5IHE S EK

BR R e W R 1B

(NBEEEERB NREHREZERA

end of the reporting period: BRETT 2 BREQ D AT -
2025 2024
Sl A=Ene —EMEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FH&T
Within 90 days 90H A 2,917 1,794
91 to 180 days 912180 H 4,270 1,524
Over 180 days 180H KA £ 615 897
7,802 4,215
Trade receivables are assessed for impairment on collective basis. BESREWERRBEEEETREN-
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could EWRIBEEE 2R &E/JER TE BREAUBELRSE
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase ZBERFREE  HEATEEERE t
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average B {EEH1202 1808 2 X &I A0 -
credit period of 120 to 180 days, observable changes in national or K B e W sk IR 8 B A B 2 2 B sk ith 5 45 /?L“'

local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in
note 40(d).

A J5 BR 28 o % o

B 5’ WEKF
40(d) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 3% SR 3R M GE (R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = =L - AF =R =+—HILtFE

25.

26.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

25. EAHE BER

IE

H ftb f&

2025 2024

ZE-hHF —T_MEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHET

Prepayments B RIE 1,142 1,130
Deposits paid Bt e 677 677
Trade deposits B o5%Ee 54 615
Interest receivable FE W FI 2 357 459
Other receivables H h & U 5118 81 =
Rent receivable i &k 41 65
2,352 2,946

Details of impairment of other receivables and deposits are set out in
note 40(d).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a bank to secure
short-term banking facilities granted to the Group and are therefore
classified as current assets. The maturity date is 21 May 2025. The
pledged bank deposits are denominated in United States dollars (‘US$”)
and carry variable interest rates ranging from 4.25% to 5.45% (2024: 4.7%
to 5.5%) per annum.

H A 18 U AR TR I 3R 2 BB (B R 1 B B R

40(d) °

26. CIEHBEITER

EEMRTEREERT

RITAER A

SEERCEHBRTRGEHREZERZ

TR BOBERRBEE -

AR R-F

“HAFRAA-+—H BHEMRITERIA
ER(ETDAELRFBNEN FEF

4.25%E5.45% (=T — U4
=N
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

27.

28.

186

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 27.

Bank balances carry variable interest rates of 0.001% to 5.5% (2024:
0.001% to 5.5%) per annum. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated in
the following currencies:

BERRITEER

RAT#E R IR Z B A R § F£0.001% £5.5%
(ZE T :0001%E55%) 5T 8 AR
MHBRBINE BB TR B 2 HNE B B IEB
AR KEE - SERMNEERBRT °

ReRASEEAD 2 REENKN T K
HEHE

2025 2024
—_ 7 — £ $ —_ 7 _— E EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHETT
Euros (“Euro”) Byt (TEocl) 2,454 2,460
HK$ BT 4,346 6,330
RMB AR¥E 29,058 26,529
Us$ e 41,916 58,291
77,774 93,610

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 28. ESENRRRENEE

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit
terms granted to the Group range from two to three months from the
date of invoice.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

BORMERSIAE  MASEERZ
—RESEEANTFERAMETRE=
@A -

AT RAESIHE S EMNBRRN RS HR
REZBHET 2 RE DT

2025 2024

=SR2 aakE —E_NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Within 90 days 90HA 2,247 2,511
91 to 180 days 912180 H 1,276 907
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 83 163
1to 2 years 15824 348 598
Over 2 years 2F LAk 473 478
4,427 4,657
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v'R

SR ER )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

29. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND

29.

oD

Fi

H

EH HMEMNARER
af\

CONTRACT LIABILITIES #
2025 2024
—E-RE —EMF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FER FAT
Accruals TEIRE A 0] 10,389 9,396
Other payables H b fE S 508 (ii) 9,620 12,482
Contract liabilities EHEE (ii) 3,047 5,244
23,056 27,122
Notes: B 3 -
[0] Accruals 0] EiREA

(i)

Accruals included marketing and promotion expenses of approximately
HK$8,664,000 (2024: HK$7,518,000).

Other payables

Other payables mainly included payables for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$993,000 (2024: HK$1,344,000), payables for
marketing and promotion expenses of approximately HK$1,598,000 (2024:
HK$4,404,000) and other tax payables of approximately HK$5,713,000 (2024:
HK$5,901,000).

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities relate to receipt from the customer in advance.

The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

FEIRE A B S iH I E B F 498,664,00078
T (ZZT M4 : 7,518,000/ 7T) °

H & A4 3ROR

HENREFTEREEEYE BERR
1 ) FE £ 3K 18 49993,000% 7T (= T — U 4 -
1,344,000 7T ) BN EH REREE AL
1,598,000 7t (= Z = P4 4F : 4,404,000 JT )
Ko & A Ath B 3R 495,713,000 m (= =M
£ 15,901,000 T) °

BHAME
EHNEBEEBRKEFFERHN-
TRIMBE-_Z_RAFR_ZFT_WE=A

== Elﬁifﬁﬁwﬂﬁii,%?ﬁ;ééﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
R S -

2025 2024
—E-RE —Z_MF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET F#& T
Revenue recognised that was included REA—B#MAEHBELEHR
in the contract liabilities balance at 1 April 2 BRI
— Relating to sales of pharmaceutical products — EA U 22 AR RS 2,619 3,846
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

30. HEEE

2025 2024
—E—FR#F —T-F
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REEE BEES HIEHEE HEREE
ENE NRRE NES R E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FER FET FH T FHET
Not later than one year TER—F 1,981 1,903 1,567 1,375
Later than one year and not later BR—EBTERME
than two years - - 1,990 1,911
1,981 1,903 3,657 3,286
Future financial charges R BR B H B X (78) @71)
Present value of lease liability HEaERE 1,903 3,286
Less: Amount due for settlement W R —FREBEE
within one year and shown under &E/\\\um@j AEE
current liabilities 25| 2 3RE (1,903) (1,375)
Amount due for settlement after S —FRINBERER
one year and shown under RIERBEEET
non-current liabilities 25| 2 FKIE - 1,911

For both years, the Group leases office premises for operations and
these lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not yet paid. All leases are entered at fixed prices for

both years.

Lease liabilities of the Company are denominated in functional

currencies of the group entities.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease

liabilities is 7.949% (2024: 4.35% to 7.949%).

188

RREFEE AEBHEERQSHETE

RRETIL

ARBAzEERBIAERSE

BEtE-

B RSHEREREAXNOEENRK
REH 8- MESERERHDEETE

JiE]
i
&
g
puly
[\Y\y
A
=\

Fgﬁﬁﬁ/\fﬂ EEEMNEFHEEERER

7.949% (—Z U4 : 4.35% % 7.949%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

31.

32.

DEFERRED TAX

Details of the deferred tax assets recognised and movements during
the current and prior years are as follows:

31.

i 5 B TR

AEERBEFERRZ
HEFEBEOT

BIERBEEER

Decelerated tax
depreciation

WEREBERTE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 R-EBE-_=FWA—HB - —ZT-_W&E=/A=+—H "
and 31 March 2025 —E_NFWNA-—BEZ-ZE-_AF=A=1+—H 69

At 31 March 2025, the Group had unused tax losses arising in Hong
Kong and PRC of approximately HK$7,561,000 (2024: HK$77,417,000)
and HK$446,000 (2024: HK$4,136,000) available to offset against
future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses arising in Hong
Kong may be carried forward indefinitely. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of approximately HK$446,000 (2024: HK$4,136,000)
with expiring before 2030 (2024: before 2029).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 16 July 2013, the Company issued zero-coupon convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) with principal amount in aggregate
of HK$641,300,000 at the conversion price of HK$0.6413 for each
new share of the Company, which, if fully converted, is equivalent to
1,000,000,000 new shares of the Company to Mr. Ong Cheng Heang
(“Mr. Ong”) and Dr. Mao Yumin (“Dr. Mao”, a substantial shareholder
of Innovative Pharm), each of principal amount of HK$320,650,000 as
the consideration for the acquisition of 49% equity interest in Smart
Ascent. Mr. Ong was the non-controlling shareholder and director of
Smart Ascent prior to the completion of acquisition of the remaining
49% interest in Smart Ascent by the Group and Dr. Mao was a director
of the Company until 5 December 2013 and is a shareholder of the
Company.

The Convertible Bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholders
into ordinary shares in the Company at a conversion price of HK$0.6413
per ordinary share on or before the seventh business day prior to the
maturity date of 16 July 2033, subject to anti-dilutive clauses.

32.

ANNUAL REPORT 2025

R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—H AEERZE
78 & R B EE AE S AT {8 R PR B RR A U
1 Z?REJJFH%}H‘M%TE?%ZU7561 ,0007% J©
— T 77417000%75)&446000

BT (ZZ Z U4 : 4,136,000/ T ) °
& R ﬁTT%ﬂu aﬁzjiﬂﬁ%ﬁwzﬁkm
BAE - REBELEZHEEEAERBA

HeE o ﬂiﬁﬁwﬁfdﬁ%?@@%ﬁ’\_? TF
A(ZE-NFE: - AFaERZE
18 #9446,000/% 7t (= Z = Y 4 : 4,136,000
PETT) °

R E 3

R=ZF—=%tA+8 ' A2QAEIT
N 4 4 %8641,300,00078 7T 2 T B A # j%
BEHE(ARKRES]) BREASRAAR
AIFT R D 0641380 REBEH L REBEE
#1,000,000,000 f% 2 & &) % B& 1+ 7] 32 %
&% J9 5 Bl %17 FOng Cheng Heang st &
(rOngf‘ﬁij)&%%ﬁE%t(r%fﬁtJ 4B
MmEBRETERR): o Bl B 1T A
4 %8320,650,00038 7T 1’F 7% U B8 #E A 49% B%
B2 RE - RAE BT U E &£ 2 Fl &
A9% RS AT - Ong A B £ 2 JEE Hxﬁxi
REZ MEBLEEAARAEEESR
—E—Z&+_-_AFRB AL TARAT
BRI -

BEKAANRERIBBE _T==F+
ATRBAFELEZ %R A ERAR
EEREER0.6413E THAIBRKES L
BARRAZ L@ - HEARREE KRR
AR e
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32.

190

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The Convertible Bonds are issued in HK$. The fair value of the liability
component of the Convertible Bonds was HK$20,712,000, which
had been determined by the discounted cashflow approach using
the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-convertible bonds
and taking into account the credit risk of the Company. The effective
interest rate is 18.72%. The fair value of the conversion option of
HK$569,288,000 classified as equity component for the Convertible
Bonds was calculated using the Binomial Model. The inputs into the
model were as follows:

32.

AR EH @

AR ESTIABITHET AIRKRESRE
BEE D 2 A FE B20,712,000 7T E Jb
RRAECEMBRERESR Z2RTHE X
TEEBRAABZEERBRIAMRR S
MEBEEET BERAEKE1872% - DA
Tiﬁ%%%%E%B“ZW%%Z/\ﬁﬁ
569,288,000 ;L A —EHA B E
ZEA 28 ABBRIT

Date of issuance

16 July 2013

BITHH

—E2-=F

tA+7xAH

Stock price (HK$) A& (& (%) 0.59

Exercise price (HK$) TEEGET) 0.6413

Discount rate Al 37 =& 18.72%

Risk-free rate (note (i below) 4 3 F ) = (T SO EE ) 2.63%

Expected volatility (note (ii) below) T8 HA R 8 (T 2B =% (i) 66.55%

Expected dividend yield (note (i) below) T8 B A% B Uk s 2 (T 3B = (i) 0.00%

Option life (Years) HRRE AR (FF 5) 20
Notes: B 3 -

0] The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong government 0] ZANEDBEEBBNESREFREER

bonds and treasury bills at the date of valuation. B2 2B REE -
(ii) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company for the period from 24 (i) ERARARZZETNEFE+_A=+HAEZE

December 2009 up to the date of issuance of the Convertible Bonds.

(iii) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the Company.

AMRESETERPRcAES
T -

1% 5 1

(i) ZERRANBERBIKN M fhat e
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The movements of liability component of Convertible Bonds are set out

32. AR EF @)

AHBBERBE D ZEBHEINWT

below:

Principal Carrying
amount amount
A& BRE B
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAT

(note below)

(R 3Bt )
At 1 April 2023 R-ZZE-_=%M1AH—H &1, 170 98,617
Effective interest expense EEREFBRAX — 18,507
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZBE-_ME=A=+—HAR=-ZT-_MFEMA—H 577,170 117,124
Effective interest expense BB B — 21,914
At 31 March 2025 R-E_RAF=A=+—H 577,170 139,038

Note:

At the date of issuance, the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds was
HK$641,300,000, and thereafter the following events have taken place:

On 5 August 2013, the Convertible Bonds with principal amount of
HK$64,130,000 was converted into 100,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$0.6413 per ordinary share.

On 25 October 2013, 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014, 31 December 2014 and
30 April 2015, the Convertible Bonds with principal amount of HK$320,650,000,
HK$64,130,000, HK$64,130,000, HK$64,130,000 and HK$64,130,000 were
acquired by Innovative Pharm from Dr. Mao respectively.

On 8 October 2019, Innovative Pharm disposed of the Convertible Bonds to Dr.
Mao.

On 23 December 2019, Dr. Mao disposed of the Convertible Bonds to United
Gene International Holdings Group Limited, in which each of Dr. Mao and Dr. Xie
Yi indirectly holds 33% of interests.

B &E

ANNUAL REPORT 2025

RETHH ATBRBRESZAESRER
641,300,000 7T - if H 1% 8 4 T 5| F 15 -

R=ZZ—=F/\AAA ' K& % A64,130,000
78 7T 2 B] # B% & % ¥ #2 4 100,000,000 A% 248 22
AlIEEAR - BREREREEAR06413E T

%:E*E$+ﬂ:+£ﬂ~zsﬁfﬂl¢@
A-+mMB - =—%— IE¢)\)EI_+E
—mE+=ZA=+—BEK= ﬁi@ﬁ
=+H XxXe®EH 5 /7%320,650,000/% JE ©
64,130,0007% 7T * 64,130,000 7T * 64,130,000
7 7T % 64,130,000/ ;T Z A R E 5 E B &
MEHREFLEES -

R-ZE-—AE+ANB EMBZEREHEL
HE AR E S -

RZZE-—AF+=-A=+=H' EHLRA
United Gene International Holdings Group Limited
HEMBRKRES  MEBELRHRE LD 5
P8 1% #k 6 #% 2 A133% HE 2 ©
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33. DEFERRED INCOME ON GOVERNMENT 33. UGB 2 IELE WA
GRANTS

The amount represented receipt of grants by a subsidiary from local BHFREE—FENBRARBEPEE BT
government authority in the PRC. The movements in deferred income P ERHmEY BB BT B AL
on government grants are as follows: R
2025 2024
—E-RE —TZMF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
At 1 April KU A—H 4,287 4,500
Recognised in profit or loss Rz R (117) (117)
Exchange realignment ME WA B (44) (96)
At 31 March WERAZ=T=E 4,126 4,287
Analysed as: DB
— Current —mE 115 116
— Non-current —ERD 4,011 4171
4,126 4,287
Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are BRAYWHE BEMZEZBRIFHEE AT
included as deferred income on government grants and are credited to EBRNHZEEBWALTREBEE TR
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive HFEHRNEERETAGRAGEEREME
income on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related & )

assets.
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34.

35.

SHARE CAPITAL 34. |
2025 2024
—E-FRE — T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Authorised: ETE
20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 20,000,000,000 % & i% [ {5 0.01 % 7T
HK$0.01 each ZERERK 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR :
2,390,000,000 ordinary shares of 2,390,000,000 fi% & % M {£.0.01 78 7T
HK$0.01 each ZEBR 23,900 23,900

There were no movements in the Company’s authorised and issued
share capital during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contribution to
the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The retirement benefits cost of the MPF Scheme charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents contributions payable to the fund by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

35.
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35.

36.

194

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme organised by the
relevant local government authority in the PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the salaries
of its employees, to the retirement benefit scheme and have no further
obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed in the
central pension scheme. The Group has no forfeiture of pension
scheme contributions (i.e. contributions processed by the employer on
behalf of the employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of
such contributions). At 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, no forfeited
contribution under the pension scheme of the Group is available for
deduction of contribution payable in coming years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 30 August 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Option Scheme”) which
became effective on 2 September 2022 upon obtaining listing approval
from the Stock Exchange, and unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The Option Scheme provides the Company with a flexible means
of giving incentives or rewards to the eligible participants, for their
contribution and/or potential contribution to the long-term growth of the
Group. In accordance with the applicable requirements of the Listing
Rules, eligible participants of the Option Scheme include directors and
employees of the Group and of its related entities.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Option Scheme
is 239,000,000 (2024: 239,000,000) shares at 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024, representing 10% of the Company’s shares in issue at the
date of passing the relevant resolution approving the Option Scheme.

35.

36.

BIREF B @

AEBZHFBEWNBEAGEEABATRHERH
75 BR AT # B 4B 4 2 B 3R B B AR K AR A AT
ZBIKE -MBARAKEREESFSZET
B REREMGTEER REFHK
Gh - TEEFRERXNFRASKBRKER
Flz#E— P EE - R RBIKRS T B
K AEENEEIEABHEBENES -
ANEE WS BRI & FT Bl R (BITE %
HAEBIHEEIARRER DL ZAEMNE
BERENHT) R-EBE_AF=A=+—
AR—Z_WNF=A=+—H8 A5EEL
FERKS A8 TR E U AR KR
RIRFE FEAT IR -

BRERE

RZZE-—FENA=+H A2 FREH
R M —EERET S ([ERETE)) -
KERRT{EL EmitER - i8R =%
—ZHFARA-BEW BEAMHAAZA
BE10F BRIFSTEHEIBITUSE

Al o

BREFINSARAEREE THER
R/ nAEBRBEREL TN
CERSEELTHBHRERD - BRIE LT
RAMBERRE BREFENSERS
HEMFAKEREEBERBNESR
BB -

R-BE-_AF=ZA=+—BR-_ZF_NF
=ZR=+—H BRETEETAHET
#) % 1 48 2 5239,000,000 ( = & — O 4 :
239,000,000) A% + #8 & 7 Ht 4 B IR AE AT B 1Y
HEAZRBBEAZARBIBETRG
#10% e
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36.

kR ER )

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Unless approved by the Company’s shareholders, the total number
of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Option Scheme to each eligible participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue. Share
options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company, or to any of their respective associates, are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue over any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval. No service provider
sublimit was set under the Option Scheme.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in writing
within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted shall be determined by the directors at their
absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be more than 10 years
from the date of the offer of the share options. The vesting period for
the share options shall not be less than 12 months.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant; (i) the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meeting.

From the effective date of the Option Scheme to 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024, no share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Option Scheme.

36. R ESTE @

BrIEEAR QD A IR R AL - T B FEE R 1218
AHEE BEERESEBETFTENEAER
SHEENERERBETEREKRTE
MBERRIE) BITERE BT RATREA T 8
THRGOAHETSBERRNTDETRD
W1% - MARAEE  ZRTHRABRE
%%%iﬁIXEZEH PE AR B R
¥ BEEUS B IERITE SRR o 1A - o
m&ﬁmlﬂ%ﬁmﬁ$ AEERREK
BURTEFKBEZTZ2EMBEARL
ZIEMERE SRAAR0A%BNAEZE
BATRR D - R ZERERR SR B - AR AEST 2
BTNV ELTRSEED D IEREE -

ERATRZZEHLEAIBA RN
BRIBTZRBAREBR  UNETMEAEK
HEREZEH MROBREZITES
HESERBBRE EERNMNNGE
MBI B B FH105F - B 5
BHRTELR12(EA -

BREZOTEEINRESEE  ETBE
RAT=FFZ2&eE ()28 K”HR
BREBHMEBIAMSERERAMF 2 WH
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

196

Save as the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has entered into the
following transactions and balances with related parties during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024:

@

37. BB AR B

BEEMBHBREAMBOMAFRZZH R
BRI AKRBEERBE_T_AF=H

=+t AR _NMF=A=F+—HIF
BRI TSRS k&% :

Related transactions and balances (a) BERZREEER
2025 2024
—E-RE —T-lEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FH&T
Consultancy fee expense paid to Dr. Mao, ENEELT(RARRR) BMEE
a shareholder of the Company 553 663 663
Loan interest income receivable from loan FEYRE —RMEE R AalBERZ
to an associate BRA B A 1,108 1,061
Compensation of key management b) EEEEE 2N
The remuneration of Directors and five highest paid employees BHE-_T-_AF=-A=+—8HK=
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 are set T_WHE=ZA=+—HLEFEME
out in notes 11 and 12. ERhEEaFREEZHESEHRNW
F11 k120
Share buy-back by a non-wholly owned c 2EMBLARAFEHZR
subsidiary % 2 ,ﬁ

As of 19 June 2023, the Group’s shareholding in Changchun
Extrawell Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“CEP”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has been increased
from about 73.11% to 80.46% upon completion of the share
buy-back agreement dated 31 March 2023 entered into between
CEP and a then minority shareholder (the “MI Vendor”) of CEP for
the buy-back and cancellation of the 9.14% of total issued share
capital of CEP held by the Ml Vendor at a cash consideration of
RMB4,400,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,888,000). As
a result of share buy-back, the Group recognised a decrease
in non-controlling interests of HK$1,650,000 and a decrease in
equity attributable to owners of the Company of HK$3,238,000
respectively.

Details of the share buy-back are disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 31 March 2023 and 19 June 2023.

BE-_ZE_=ZfxXAthB &2
AEEFEZ2EMNBLRARKRERE
BERMERAANTRERE] &
EREBBRERN—ZLHERRE(D
YRZEHFDHIURERABARE
4,400,000 7T ( #8 & M 494,888,000 %
T)EERFHIEEREFFAN
REBECEHITRABENI14%E]
VYA A-TE-_=F=A=+—8H
ZRHOBEHETKE  AEBR
RERENFREBHL73.11%E N
58046% ARRHOERE NEES

T B JE 15 Bk 2= R 21,650,000 7%

ELA&ZIS AR A FE 4G T 2R
3,238,000 7T
BRBRMEBZFERERARA

AfA-—_ZS-_=F=-A=+—80K
—E_ZEXATHLBZRAE-
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38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
through optimisation of capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure, and
makes adjustments to it taking into account the changes in economic
conditions, risk characteristics of the underlying assets, the Group’s
investment strategy and opportunities, projected operating cash flows

38. EXERE

AEBEREEARZBBERRBAEEER
FERZE UEBEBELERNEBEURD
BARE BERBRRREHEBR SEAM
MR E SR A S - NEH 2 B R
HE-FEEFTE -

$E@E3ﬂ$&3&ﬁfiﬁé$ fEE . LR

BRERANZEE FREE AR
15& AEFBZRERBREE RALE
RenENRERAFAXRIEHHE - B#

and capital expenditures. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, B FABREREE AEERRAERE

the Group may adjust the level of borrowings, dividend payment to KE -ZIRHFREZRE - B1THKRHGE
shareholders, issue new shares, or buy back its own shares. BEBAHRM -

2025 2024

—E-REF —EZEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FH&T

Debts — Convertible bonds BB —rl ]k EH 139,038 117,124
Total equity W 1,334,799 1,112,611

Gearing ratio BEAMRLX 10.4% 10.5%
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. €T A
By categories of financial instruments Zem I EZ2E5
2025 2024
Sl - S e nljoff: S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH& T FHT
Financial assets SEMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL HEAFEGTABR B EE
Investments in convertible bonds as a whole AR EFEE ZE@BS 915,436 660,564
Short-term investment SRR = 1,649 661
Financial assets at FVTOC! BERAFEGFARMEE K 2 BEE
Unlisted investment fund FEMEEES - —
Financial assets at amortised cost fi? BiER ARG EC B E
Loan to an associate ERT— M E QA 27,691 18,039
Amount due from an associate J'E U — I Bt & 2 A 3K 32,662 34,459
Trade and bills receivables B RKRRZE Llﬁl ES TJ% 7,802 4,215
Deposits and other receivables hz & & H e R IE 1,210 1,816
Pledged bank deposits B RITIF R 20,378 20,856
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERE 77,774 93,610
Total e 1,084,602 834,220
Financial liabilities StREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BREBHK AT EC A E
Convertible bonds G ¢ 139,038 117,124
Trade and bills payables BORNERRENZR 4,427 4,657
Accruals and other payables TERE A R EMENFKIE 14,223 15,645
Lease liabilities HEeEaE 1,903 3,286
Total @t 159,591 140,712
(@) Financial instruments not measured at fair @ XIFERAFEFTEZLH
value ITH
Due to short-term nature, the carrying values of financial assets HRETE eREERDEAE(R
and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost included in TXEAFEFABRZZEMEE)
current assets (see below for financial assets at FVTPL) and ZIERBEXNATEZSREERS

198

current liabilities are approximate to their fair value.

For loan to an associate and convertible bonds which are
included in non-current assets and non-current liabilities

FEBE

respectively, their carrying values are approximate to their fair B HEMEHEA

values.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

Financial assets at FVTPL — short-term investment
The fair value hierarchy is Level 2.

The fair value of the short-term investment is determined based
on estimated return of 1.38% to 1.62% (2024: 2.2%) and the
credit quality of this investment which can be assessed by
reference to historical information or external credit ratings, if any,
provided by the bank.

Financial assets at FVTPL — Investments in
convertible bonds
The fair value hierarchy is Level 3.

The fair value of investments in convertible bonds is determined
based on risk-free rate for the life of the option on the Innovative
Pharm Bonds, the exercise price per conversion share, share
price (from observable market data), expected volatility of the
share price, and expected dividend vyield of Innovative Pharm,
where the estimated contractual cash flow on the liability
component over the remaining term of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds is discounted at the interest rate appropriate to the
riskiness of the Innovative Pharm Bonds.

Significant unobservable inputs

Expected Volatility

Expected volatility of the share price of Innovative Pharm was
determined by reference to historical share price of Innovative
Pharm.

In respect of the sensitivity relationship of the fair value
measurement to changes in inputs, an increase/(decrease) in the
expected volatility would result in increase/(decrease) in fair value
measurement that the higher the volatility of the share price of
Innovative Pharm the higher the fair value.

Discount Rate

The discount rate was the rate adopted to calculate the present
value of the cash flow of the Innovative Pharm Bonds and was
estimated having taken into account the specific terms and
structure of the Innovative Pharm Bonds including their liquidity.
Increase/(decrease) in the discount rate would result in (decrease)/
increase in the fair value.

(b)

39. €@ T A @)

BAFEFEZEMIA

BAFHEIGTABEZZZHE
E—BHRE
ANEEERRE_R -

EHBEEZAFETKRIBRE
1.62% (ZF M4 : 2.2%) 2 {5 E
HBEET MBREZEEERAL
2ZRAEHIRITIREZIIBE
B (G A) T UASERE -

BAFHEIABBZZZHE
E—- BRREFRE
DEEBRAE=H -

AHRBREFREZRFEDENE
MEZE MEFHZERRA
R -EMEEsZRERENDZT
EE - RECREANEREMSEUR)
RERPRERERRE KRG XE
JE 0 T BB &R fE BB B E 25 R £
HRANGEFEAORERENRY
& B BAE 5 ARk R R R E
TTRERR -

EXTHEEBHAHE

FAHRE
AMBEEZREEMKELNERE
EMEEREREREE -

RAFENEHBARBRD 2
R BB R T - T B OB 2
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D) - ENGE A E B A R (R I ALK
AFEBE -
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39.

40.

200

SRR ENEAE )

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair
value (Continued)

Nevertheless, there would be counteracting effect among the
inputs, and in certain extreme situation where the stock price of
Innovative Pharm at 31 March 2025 and 2024 was significantly
lower than that of the exercise price, the conversion option to
convert the Innovative Pharm Bonds into shares of Innovative
Pharm would be expected worthless and the expected volatility
would have minimal effect on the fair value measurement.

30. €@ I B

b) BAFEFEZEMIE
(

&)

R MABEZHE B EFEER
E%:F@ﬁﬁ“a‘\ /RT(EDAEFFE“‘@E’\_
EIE’]%F?(K&EM?TEF) 1% <8 fin

BEBFEBREMBERN R
IREFRIE T AEE ARRIES
RV EFENTEDHMIRE

There were no changes in valuation techniques for the years HE_T-_AFR-_ZT-_MOFE=
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. B == Ei IEFE - & fﬁ A B R
28 -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& BIHR E=H ot
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FHET
At 31 March 2025 R-E-_RF=A=+-—H
Financial assets at FVTPL A FEFABZZ MEE - 1,649 915,436 917,085
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-ZME=A=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL A FEAE R 2 S @MEE — 661 660,564 661,225

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial instruments include short-term investment,
investments in convertible bonds, trade and bills receivables, pledged
bank deposits, cash and bank balances, trade and bills payables,
accruals and other payables, loan to an associate, amount due from an
associate and convertible bonds. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The management
monitors and manages the financial risks through internal risk
assessment which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of
risks.

40. B Rk EE

AEBE FTZcRIEPREEHERE .
ARKREFRE BHRWERRERRE
B BEEMRTER ReRRTEH Z
SENERRENZEER BRERAREM
ERTRIE - BT — [ 55%2\\7 FE Wt —
HEE QAR RERARRKRES ZEEH
IﬂZaﬂﬁEﬁ\Wﬁ%ﬁf“ FEHER o

REBZzEHSAEEHEBEZBYBER
% MINERR - EERKR RBESR
B R AR o ANEE 2 BRI T E
BERTEeRMB 2 NI EAIE - WEK
RERMEHRNEEGBRIIR2E ET%'EV
Z-EHEERBABRARITE  DTER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(@

40. B %% = be B 1B (@)

Foreign currency risk (@) M P
Foreign exchange risk arises when commercial transactions, SNERBRREBEBUENGEE
assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the M EEINB HERS  BESXB
functional currency of the group entities. The Group operates B AEBZEBETENFRHLE -
mainly in the PRC and is exposed to foreign currency exchange I [ BR 2% 1@ NS 2 SNES B R R B o AN
rate risk arising from various foreign currency exposures. The 5 B IR 0 MR ANEE ORISR o AT
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. EEESERINERR  WHRHKE
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure B B R E R INE R B o
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated RZE_RAFR-ZZT-_ME=A=
monetary assets and liabilities in net position at 31 March 2025 +—R RINEFEZEREERE
and 2024 are as follows: BEFEKEABENAT
Euro RMB us$
BT AR EpH
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 31 March 2025 R-B-HE=ZA=+-—AH
Pledged bank deposits B RITIF K - - 20,378
Cash and bank balances B MIRITHER 2,454 29,058 41,916
Overall net exposure 2HERRFE 2,454 29,058 62,294
At 31 March 2024 R-_ZT-_WE=A=+—H
Pledged bank deposits EHEFIRITER — — 20,856
Cash and bank balances e KRBT % 2,460 26,529 58,291
Overall net exposure 2 E R RFEE 2,460 26,529 79,147
The cash and bank balances and pledged bank deposits NETHEZRERBEITEHAR
denominated in US$ belong to the group entities in which the EEFRTERERNEEE BB
functional currency is HK$. The Directors are of the opinion that TZ5hEERE -ZE=2RAE ARER
the HK$ are reasonably stable with the US$ under the Linked BEXRFET BrHETHER
Exchange Rate System, and accordingly, no sensitivity analysis Eoc BN WEETETHBTZHK
of US$ with respect to HK$ is performed. RXE DT ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —ZE A& =A=+—HIFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(@)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table illustrates the approximate change in the

40. Bt %% = b B B (@)

(a)

SIS | Ba (48)
TRFEAANEBKFEE K AG

Group's profit (loss) before tax for the year and retained earnings (BBR)RRBAFRAEBRUT
in response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign =S ¢ EXREHEARBRZEXRNEG
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at AlAE B - MR 2O
the end of each of the following year:
Increase in profit and
retained earnings
i F 2 AR B 2 74
2025 2024
—EC-RHE —TMEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Euro appreciated by 5% BX T FH B 5% 123 123
RMB appreciated by 5% AREFE5% 1,453 1,326

The change in exchange rates do not affect the Group’s other
component of equity. The same percentage depreciation in
the foreign currencies against the functional currency of the
respective Group companies would have the same magnitude on
profit and retained profits but of opposite effect.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the
change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of
each of the reporting period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for financial instruments
in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant. The stated changes represent
management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until the next reporting
date.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances (see
notes 26 and 27 respectively for details). The Group currently
does not have interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The management
considers the Group’s exposure to future cash flow interest
rate risk is minimal taking into account the minimal fluctuation
on market interest rate. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

ET“ S EV I ETT
o SN R AT 2 )

Zﬁ—ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ%%ﬂ&%am

AR ERERERR 2 Y E -

BRE DT IR RERRNE R EH
REBLEZYMET VEARESE
BER REeRTAMAZZEBE

BRRNZBEBEFE  AREH M
(BRI R) M5 T o Fyah 2

REEEEHEZREZTHERS
BHIRTEIM 2 AR AT A B 8 2 7T 1 -

A = & b

ﬁi‘ilziﬁ%iﬁiﬂwﬂ’* 2 M
PO BRI R 8 2 BB RITERK
KR 1T 4 ﬁ%(ﬁl*"%liﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
27)ﬁﬁ§ 7R 5 [ 35 B 30 4 N KR
BE - A AEEEREHNHBE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(©

40. B %% = be B 1B (@)

Liquidity risk ) REBEZRK
The Group actively manages its debt maturity profile, operating REBEBBREREEEBIABER &
cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that all EHERERUBAES  UERA
operating, investing and financing needs are met. The liquidity ERNRELE BRERBERTE - $
risk management strategy adopted by the Group is to measure SERMN s R ECRAREER
and forecast its cash commitments and maintains a level of cash R EREAERSEERER ﬁ
and cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance the Group’s FEcEEBEEREBTRER AR
activities. BRAREEER 2 KT -
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining BFGaNIHBAE T 2%
contractual maturities fT A
The table below summaries the maturity profile of the Group’s TERBEBEANRMFAEERERE(R
liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual EERE QR =K (kB F ) B IR
undiscounted repayment obligations (including interest payments HMEABMCERAMEGTENRNEN
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates F)oBMAAEERNBRERRAEL
current at the reporting date). FIHRIE M -
Weighted Total Within  More than
average contractual  1yearor 1 yearbut More
interest Carrying undiscounted repayable less than than
rate  amount cash flow on demand S5years 5years
—ERy HEB-F
MEFH LB T REX BHR
AE KREE BREREBLHE HE IF BBIF
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL TER TEL TEL TEL TER
31 March 2025 —g-HEE=A=+-A
Trade and bills payables BORNEARENRR N/A 4,427 4,427 4,427 - -
THEH
Accruals and other payables B2 B 3 & H b B+ 7B N/A 14223 14,223 14,223 - -
TEH
Lease liabilities HEEE 7.95% 1,903 1,981 1,981 - -
Convertible bonds R ES 18.72% 139,038 577,170 - - 577,170
159,591 597,801 20,631 - 577,170
31 March 2024 “TomE= ﬂ =0
Trade and bills payables BORNRARENE N/A 4,657 4,657 4,657 = =
TiER
Accruals and other payables ~ TBIZ & i I E A B 7B N/A 15645 15,645 15,645 - =
TiER
Lease liabilities HEARE 7.92% 3,286 3,556 1,567 1,989 -
Convertible bonds ABRES 18.72% 117,124 577,170 - - 577,170
140,712 601,028 21,869 1,989 577,170
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

204

(d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to investments in
convertible bonds, trade and other receivables, amount due from
an associate, loan to an associate, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances.

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is the carrying
amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The investments in convertible bonds at 31 March 2025 expose
the Group to concentration of credit risk. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group assessed the financial position
and performance of the issuer of the convertible bonds with
carrying amount of HK$915,436,000 (2024: HK$660,564,000)
and in view of the net assets of the issuer and its ongoing core
operating segment related to the In-process R&D of the Product,
the management considers the default risk on the investments in
convertible bonds is not significant.

The Group also has concentration of credit risk as about 11%
(2024: 12%) of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group’s major customers, which are privately owned PRC
companies engaged in trading of pharmaceutical products. The
Directors considered that the credit risk of trade receivables is
insignificant after considering the credit quality and financial ability
of these customers. In respect of trade receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history. These credit evaluations focus on the customers’
past history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. The Group will make specific provision for
those balances which cannot be recovered. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers. In the opinion of the
Directors, the default risk of the customers is considered to be
low.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits/bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies.

40. B % & b2 B 12 (@)

(d)

1= & & B 5O B 5T 1

AEBEZEERREERE ATHK
BHEERE B 5EEIRZR KA M EWR
HIE - R —EBEQRKE BEX
FT-RkEQR CERARTERR
RITAEER ©

RZE_RAF=RA=+—H ' x&5E
FESZZAEERR(EARSH
FHAREBTEEAM S N E B &L
MRIBXR) BB R AERINE 2
BEEERCHMEAERAE-

R-E-_RAF=ZA=+—HzAa#
REHFBESCAEETBHRREEER
B RBEHR AEBEFEER
8 /915,436,000 7L (ZF Z Y 4 :
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BRZEEFEUREZLEED
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TEEEFPFHEEMRAHAEPK
EERERRZER - AEEKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —E - RAF=A=+—HILtFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Amount due from an associate and loan to an
associate

The Group has concentration of credit risk as the balances were
contributed from an associate for both years.

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of
the associate. The Group’s credit risks in these balances are
mitigated through the value of the assets held by this entity and
the power to participate the relevant activities of this entity. The
Group provided impairment based on lifetime ECL. For the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group assessed the ECL
for amount due from an associate and loan to an associate.
At 31 March 2025, an allowance of credit losses of amount
due from an associate and loan to an associate amounting
to approximately HK$9,285,000 (2024: HK$7,488,000) and
approximately HK$7,872,000 (2024: HK$6,616,000) respectively.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that there is no significant increase
in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group assessed the
ECL for other receivables and deposits. At 31 March 2025, an
allowance of credit losses of other receivables amounting to
approximately HK$87,000 (2024: HK$26,000).

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

40. B %% = be B 1B (@)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —ZE A& =A=+—HIFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade and bills receivables
For trade and bills receivables, expected loss rates are based

on actual loss experience over the past 1 year. These rates are

adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions

during the period over which the historical data has been

collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic

conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal credit

40. Bt %% = b B B (@)

(d)

1= & B B KRB &1 1k (4
BEZRRERMRELREE

REFEBREREERERERS
E%EETEEfL& FZERK
BRERTE %%mfﬁmﬂ%
VA S BR Wi 52 S B AR 2 2B R
S BN BN R B R R RIR 2
A FHZRBERREBEZER -

AEERREERRFRFHERE
5‘] '\#E

Trade and bills

rating Description receivables Other financial assets
BESRBRERR

W B 1E B 5T &R it W EE HitemEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

1K 2 B X 58 F 7 E KRR BUE K I & EfA] 2HEHREEREL — 2R EMEERL
B ® EIEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired

EREE BB AKLTERE BB REERE 2HEREEREK — 2@ REMEERE
A E.,m%zfiﬁ EEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources

AR ABHIIREREENBENBREERR 2HEHEERLX - 2HEHEEBL -
B ¥ iR LA SR E AR 38 hn EEERE EIEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

&8 ERBEREECHREERE 2HEHEERL - 2HBHEEEX -

EERE EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

€ B RBBENED A LR E KM - LR E M E & FE B

i 7S 55 (3] 3 48 Uy [0 5008 B BB AT BE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z T - RAF=A=+—HItFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  40. B & /& B& & I (@)
KOR B 5 1E (&)

(d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s

financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment:

d) FERMK

RSB TR ERERTE

ZASEEREEZFEERR

External Internal
credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
HNBEEFR RABEETR NR2EARZHEHEERX REAE
2025 2024
L= Gk —ZT_NF
Financial assets at amortised cost HK$’000 HK$'000
RBHNEATTEZERMEE TER FET
Trade and bills receivables N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 7,187 3,319
B REERRERER T 16/ B FHEHCEERR(BEERE)
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 38,784 40,318
REE HEREERX(EEERE)
Loan to an associate N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 35,563 24,655
KT —FEE AR T RER FHEACERR(BEERE)
Amount due from an associate N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 41,947 41,947
JE U — R Bt A R KR TEA RE HEHEERX(BEEERE)
Deposits and other receivables N/A (Note below) 12m ECL 1,297 1,842
B R E A AR TERA (T~ Bt aE) 12EAEBEEREL
Note: For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses e RABECERREEMS  AEEE

past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 = L A F =A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

208

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

40.

B %5 2 B 5 B ()
d) EER &R EFE @

(Continued)
Not past
due/no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
K@,
Bl EETEERS @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET
At 31 March 2025 R-ZEBE-_HF=A=+—H
Amount due from an associate JE Uy — I B 2 R &) B - 32,662 32,662
Loan to an associate ERFT—HEBE QA - 27,691 27,691
Trade and bills receivables B 5 FE W BR 3 % FE W R 615 7,187 7,802
Deposits and other receivables & & & H g UK 38 - 1,210 1,210
At 31 March 2024 R-—ZFE-_WWF&E=A=+—8”
Amount due from an associate FE W — B & A Bl FRIE — 34,459 34,459
Loan to an associate ERT—HEHE QA 2,948 15,091 18,039
Trade and bills receivables B REWERREKRER 897 3,318 4,215
Deposits and other receivables & & & H g W sE — 1,816 1,816
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —E - RAF=A=+—HILtFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) ~ 40. B1 75 B b & 2 (@)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment d) FER K KBET @
(Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that TRIRE B E W — EEE R AR
has been recognised for amount due from an associate, loan to H -ERT—HEBEAF  BEHEK
an associate, trade and bills receivables and deposits and other ERREREEARES REAME
receivables. WRRIE R B BB EH R -
Loan to an associate BEXNT—EBEELA
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
2HEH
FERX
(BEERME)
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZZE-_=4mW™A—H 3,207
Changes due to financial instruments RZZEZ=FNWA—HERR
recognised at 1 April 2023: cRTAETIREE
Impairment losses recognised EmRREEE 3,409
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-_WF=A=+—80%
T -MFEmMA—H 6,616
Changes due to financial instruments RZZE-MEMA—BRAER
recognised at 1 April 2024: ST ATNRES
Impairment losses recognised BRI EEE 1,256
At 31 March 2025 R-EBE-_EHF=A=+—H 7,872
Past due over
Current 180 days Total
[ERab iRl
BPHA 180 H st
At 31 March 2025 R=ZB-HEF=ZA=+—H
ECL (%) FEHZ BB K (%) 22.14 -
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BRAEARE(TAT) 35,563 - 35,563
Loss allowance (HK$’000) BB A (T L) 7,872 - 7,872
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_WMFE=F=+—H
ECL (%) EHEEE X% 17.85 53.10
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BREAE(TAT) 18,371 6,284 24,655
Loss allowance (HK$’000) EEEE(TAT) 3,280 3,336 6,616
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  40. B & /& B & I (@)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment d) FER MK KBET @
(Continued)
Trade and bills receivables BEZEWERMRERERE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2 HEH
BFERX FERX
(BEEERME) (EEHE) st
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FWA—H
Changes due to financial instruments M =ZZ = =40 5 —H

recognised at 1 April 2023: MRESMI AR ZS: 40,208 — 40,208

— Impairment losses recognised —BEHRRREEE 1,727 = 1,727

— Impairment losses reversed — B & E R EEE (1,638) - (1,638)
Exchange adjustments b & A& (875) - (875)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 H-—ZE-—m&E=A=+—AH

T _mFEMA—H 39,422 - 39,422
Changes due to financial instruments 7 == — P04 P4 f — H

recognised at 1 April 2024 AT T AEHIBES:

— Impairment losses reversed —BEREREEE (847) - (847)
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 38 & (406) - (406)
At 31 March 2025 R-—ZTB-_HF=A=+—H 38,169 - 38,169
The following table provides information about the Group’s TEREINAEERE ZEBERK
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and bills receivables: EREEFMEREERR REH

EEBRZEHR
Past due
Current over 180 days Total
[ERab il
BDHA 180 H #at
At 31 March 2025 R=ZZ=-aF=ZA=+-—H
ECL (%) FEEE BB X (%) - 98.41
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BRERE(FAIT) 7,187 38,784 45,971
Loss allowance (HK$’000) EBEEE(TAET) - 38,169 38,169
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_NME=RA=+—H
ECL (%) TEEEEE K (%) — 97.78
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BRE&BME(FHT) 3,319 40,318 43,637
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EEEE(THET) — 39,422 39,422

210 EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED RBEZEZEZERAR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A5 B 35 R R M 5 (AR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = =L - AF =R =+—HILtFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) ~ 40. Bf 3% & b2 & 2 (@)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment d) FER K KBET @
(Continued)
Amount due from an associate FEW—RBEE N aE
Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)
2HIEH
FEBRX
(BEERME)
HK$'000
FH&T
At 1 April 2023 R-_ZE-_=%P1AH—H 3,708
Changes due to financial instruments RZEZ=FHNA—BAERERMITE
recognised at 1 April 2023: augz)
Impairment losses recognised = EE R EEE 1,785
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-FE-_WMFEF=A=+—80%
—T-FEEMA—H 7,488
Changes due to financial instruments RZZE-_NFEHNA—HEEREM LA
recognised at 1 April 2024: HIREE) :
Impairment losses recognised EHAREEE 1,797
At 31 March 2025 R-B-mZF=A=+-8H 9,285
Past due
Current over 180 days Total
[ERapilic]
BPHA 180 H st
At 31 March 2025 R=ZB-HEF=ZA=+—H
ECL (%) BHEERKX%) 22.14 -
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BRAARE(TAT) 41,947 - 41,947
Loss allowance (HK$’000) BB A (T L) 9,285 - 9,285
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_WMFE=F=+—H
ECL (%) TRHE B8 5K (%) 17.85 —
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BREAE(TAT) 41,947 — 41,947
Loss allowance (HK$’000) EEEE(TAT) 7,488 — 7,488
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 35 SR R MY 5 (4R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = L A F =A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)  40. B & /& B & I (@)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment d) FER MK KBET @
(Continued)

Deposits and other receivables w2 REMEKNE

12m ECL

1218 B

FEBRX

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZ-ZZT_=FMH—H  ZZT_MO4F

ZA=+—HER-_Z_WFEW™A—H 26
Changes due to financial instruments REZZE-NMEFNA—BRAERERITE
recognised as at 1 April 2024: o 3R
— Impairment losses recognised —BEERREEE 61
At 31 March 2025 R-—ZE-_HEF=A=+-—H 87
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% 3R 3R M GE (BR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = =L - AF =R =+—HILtFE

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 41. MEEFBHE4A 2B EHE

42.

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Convertible Lease
bonds liabilities Total
CE: Y et HESE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=41PHA—H
Changes from financing cash flows: RERERES 98,617 4,607 103,224
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities HEABAEHPENK = (1,321) (1,321)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities HEAGRHNEHSER — (294) (294)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERESRELBRE — (1,615) (1,615)
Other change: Hith 8 5 :
Interest expenses B FAEZ 18,507 294 18,801
Total other change Hib )R 18,507 294 18,801
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-_MNE=A=+—H
EZ_Z_mMFEMA—H 117,124 3,286 120,410
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREZ
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilites ~ T & & EAR 4L 25 2 fK — (1,383) (1,383)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities HEBBMNBEHDER — (193) (193)
Total changes from financing MEReRELTEE
cash flows — (1,576) (1,576)
Other change: Hith 5 :
Interest expenses B X 21,914 193 22,107
Total other change Hibh 2825 21,914 193 22,107
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZE-_RAF=A=+—8H 139,038 1,903 140,941
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 42 EXIFBERS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial Rt EHRE M BHREEMBOAEES

statements, the Group did not have any other major non-cash
transactions during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March

2024.

ANNUAL REPORT 2025

S REBERBE T -_RF=A=1+—
Bh_—_ZF_WME=A=+—RALFELE
EMEMERFRERS -

—EhFEFH 213



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&5 S B 35 3R R M 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY

General information of subsidiaries

43. KRR BB AT 2F1E

WA Rz —REH

Place of Registered/ Percentage of ownership
incorporation/ Place of issued paid-up interest/voting power
Name registration operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
EMARL g/ ERT FEERENFER
A7 BT g BRRA #Ex/REEASL TEEH
2025 2024
ZEC-Ef —TQNF
Directly held by the Company
ARAEERE
Extrawell (BVI) Limited BVI BVI US$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holdings
ordinary shares
RERAHE RBRIES 10,000% T & i@ R REER
Jilin Extrawell Changbaishan ~ PRC PRC RMB33,000,000 100% 100%  Development, manufacture
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. registered capital and sales of pharmaceutical
(“JECP”) (note (i) below) products
EMBERAINESE HE HE AR #33,000,0007 HE HERHEER
ARAR ([EMEED afEx
(T FFEE()
Indirectly held by the Company
ARAEERE
Extrawell Enterprises Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$20 ordinary shares 100% 100% Investment holdings and property
2078 7T L AR investment
HK$1,000,000
non-voting deferred
shares
BELEFERAR Bt e 1,000,0007% 7T REEREMERE
BRERELRN
Extrawell Pharmaceutical (HK)  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Provision of agency services
Limited
RREX(EB)ERAR &B 9 2B TEBR RERIE RS
South Asia Pharmaceutical Malaysia Malaysia US$1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Marketing and distribution of
(China) Limited pharmaceutical products
BRAD BRAD 1ETEER HERDHER
CEP (note (i) below) PRC PRC RMB45,430,000 80% 80%  Development, manufacture
registered capital and sales of pharmaceutical
products
RERE (T X)) HE HE AR % 45,430,0007C RE HERHEER
FfhEx
Best-Bio BVI BVI US$1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
REEAHS HBRIES 1ETERR REER
Right & Rise Limited BVI BVI US$50,000 100% 100% Investment holdings
ordinary shares
RERAESE ZBEXES  50000ExE@R REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 E&zif S hAF=A=+—HItFE

43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF  43.

THE COMPANY (Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(@) JECP is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years commencing from 22 April 1999. JECP has
renewed its operating period with no expiry term.

(b) CEP is a joint stock limited company established in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affect the financial results of the year
or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. None of the
subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year or any
time during the year.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Group that have material non-controlling interests:

AATHE QT Z2F1E @

M B A a2 —MRE R (&)
B o -

(@) EMEERDATERLZIEBELE B
BEMBBE - NMANFRA=-+ZHEF
16F - EMEEEEBELEH  WEER
AR -

(b) EERENIRFERIZBNAERAR

ERFINZARBMBRARAREETRAR
E%%Kigﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ$%lﬁﬁ
FEERBOZMBEAR -RERLEFA
ERER SEEANERREETER
R &

BEEAFERERZFEE
MEQRZFE

TRINTAEBERENEZERER 2 IE
2EMBARZFS:

Place of Profit and other
registration/ Proportion of ownership comprehensive income
incorporation/ interests held by non-  allocated to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of subsidiary operations controlling interests interests non-controlling interests
B/ MR FERER R Z PEEZFERES
WEAREE ReswE ERER LG ZaHREM2EYE Rt FERER
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
“ECRE ZT-NE CZE-Hf -“T-NE ZEBE-HEf —T-Q@EE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Tz TR TER  TER
CEP PRC 20% 20% 803 1,309 272 1,151
RERE HE
Share buy back - - - (1,650)
F& 7 Bl B8
272 (499)
Individually immaterial subsidiary with
non- controlllng interests - - (15) (1)
FEEREZ ANTEANRE R
803 1,309 257 (514)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&5 S B 35 3R R M 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = L A F =A=+—HILFE

43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF 43. &KX A R i B A Rl 2 5 15 (@)

216

THE COMPANY (Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BEERFERERZ2HETE
have material non-controlling interests (Continued) K /B I B) Z FE1E (&)
Summarised financial information in respect of CEP is set out below. ERRERECHBENBEHIMAT -
The summarised financial information below represents amounts before T MBEERBE RSB AR R MY HEA
intragroup eliminations. %0
CEP EEBE
2025 2024
—EZRF —ZE_MEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current assets mENE E 41,790 37,621
Non-current assets EMBEE 118,421 123,147
Current liabilities REBAE (145,708) (150,057)
Non-current liabilities FERBE & (4,011) (4,171)
Equity attributable to: AT AT EGRER:
— owners of the Company BV N/NECTE 2 =N 10,220 7,039
— non-controlling interests — eI AR A 2 272 (499)
10,492 6,540
Revenue Iy 25 55,405 59,085
Expenses =3 (51,293) (53,641)
Profit for the year N [E i A 4,112 5,444
Other comprehensive (expense) income AEFEM 2 X)W
for the year (160) 876
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEE2EKEERE 3,952 6,320
Profit for the year attributable to: AT ALTEMERFEEREF :
— owners of the Company VA YNEIE Z =N 3,309 4,135
— non-controlling interests — e AR R RS 803 1,309
4,112 5,444
Total comprehensive income for the year LATATEGEARFEZE KA -
attributable to:
— owners of the Company . WNEIEF =N 3,181 5,032
— non-controlling interests —JEIE AR R 771 1,288
3,952 6,320
Net cash generated from (used in) operating KEEBELEFTA) CHEFE
activities 5,967 (6,606)
Net cash used in investing activities REZEMACEEF8E (3,009) (5,252)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% 3R 3R M GE (BR)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 = =L - AF =R =+—HILtFE

44, HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF 44, 2R N E BB R R R
FINANCIAL POSITION

2025 2024
—EZhHEF —TME
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=S FER FAT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries — unlisted RIE AR 2 Em—F Em 629,927 629,927
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE s Bt B A B FRIE 330,211 330,217
960,138 960,144
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other e - BN RIE R H M E YRR
receivables 507 17
Cash and bank balances Re RRITER 27,303 46,671
27,810 47,188
Total assets WEE 987,948 1,007,332
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals and other payables TERBAREMENKIE 1,036 990
Amounts due to subsidiaries JFE A1 B B A &) FRIE 94,118 108,674
95,154 109,664
Non-current liability ERBEE
Convertible bonds a] 2% 1 5 32 139,038 117,124
Total liabilities wWaE 234,192 226,788
Equity =
Share capital & A 34 23,900 23,900
Reserves & 729,856 756,644
Total equity A 753,756 780,544
Total liabilities and equity HEERER 987,948 1,007,332
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 35 SR R MY 5 (4R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 T - RAFE=A=+—HILtFE

44, HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF 44, 128 1 8 B R R & (8
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

The movements of the Company’s reserves during the years ended 31 ARABIRBE_T_AF=A=+—AHK
March 2025 and 31 March 2024 are as follows: T _MFE=A=+—HLEFEZRHHEE
EUNNE
Retained
Convertible eamings
Share Contributed bonds equity (accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses) Total
CE: Y et REER
B4R E BB ERFEE (BREER) Bt
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FAET FAT FAT FAET FAT
At 1 April 2023 R-B-—=%
MA—H 191,738 64,636 512,359 10,080 778,813
Loss and total comprehensive 784 [E 518 [
expense for the year >EMAYRE — — — (22,169) (22,169)
At 31 March 2024 and R_ZT —F
1 April 2024 =A=+—H
k=T -mEF
mA—H 191,738 64,636 512,359 (12,089) 756,644
Loss and total comprehensive 7 £F [ 518 K&
expense for the year 2HEMAYRE — — — (26,788) (26,788)
At 31 March 2025 RZTZRF
EH=EF=—08 191,738 64,636 512,359 (88,877) 729,856
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n‘l-.R

kR ER )

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z —E - RAF=A=+—HItFE

45.

46.

47.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 7 March 2025, the Board has resolved to discontinue its gene
development segment that engages in the commercial exploitation and
development of genome-related technology (i.e. Gene Development
business) and to sell the shares in or deregister Best-Bio, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, which is mainly engaged in the Gene
Development business. Management made such strategic decision to
place greater focus on the key competences for the Manufacturing and
Trading businesses, i.e. the Continuing Operations.

During the period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025 and the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Best-Bio Group was inactive and the
consolidated results of the Best-Bio Group are presented below:

45.

CERIERERHK

R_E_AF=ZAtA BZTgraR
HUFEERBAERM 2 AEREREED
ERRAESB(MERMAEER) LHEE
ERFEAAZEBOAIRAZENBA
7] Best-Bio & i& 17 =X i Best-Bio 5F & © &
BELLEBEAREATHREZHRE AR
MELEERESEB(AFELEEB)D
2k 3-a i)

RZE_NFNONA—HBHE-_T_AF=A
tatﬁﬁfaﬁ&%zi_7_E¢ ﬂ +_
B IF F & - Best-Bio %k B W #& ¥ 7% © & Best-

Biosk B 2 G X EZ25M0T ¢
2025 2024
—E-RHEF —EZMF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Administrative expenses THEHR (105) (85)

At 31 March 2024, the segment assets and segment liabilities of the
Best-Bio Group were approximately HK$15,000 and HK$64,000,
respectively. At 7 March 2025 and 31 March 2025, the Best-Bio Group
did not have any significant assets and liabilities.

During the period from 1 April 2024 to 7 March 2025 and the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Best-Bio Group did not generate and
contribute significant cash inflow or outflow to the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant events after the end
of the reporting periods.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025.

46.

47.
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MZFT_RAF=A=+—H  Best-BokHE
WEEMEREERAE

R_ZE_NENA—HE_ZEZ_FAF=A
+tHIEHEEREBEE-S-_NF=A=+—

HIEFE ' BestBoSBEWEEERAARE
EEEEARRSRAS T

BEHRRRER

BREGEVBRRAMCHOMBEES
O AR E A R BRR FIA -
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FIVE YEARS' FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hF B iR

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilites and non-controling 2N % & i@ £ ﬁ AT BREE s EE UREE &
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, is set out below: BERIFERERBESHINOT
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZEZREFE ZT-WFE ZTZ=F T —T=—F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET FBT FET FBT
RESULTS E3
Revenue A 55,429 59,098 72,577 73,925 78,802
Profit (loss) before income tax R B # #14% & X 75 2 &
from Continuing Operations FR 8 B A % I (B518) 224,719 (159,424) 130,992 132,420 (119,567)
Income tax expense FT5Fif = (1,167) (2,131) (1,128) (1,239) —
Profit (loss) for the year from REFELLEE 7?%
Continuing Operations RE r; iy 7“ | (&548) 223,552 (161,555) 129,864 131,181 (119,567)
Loss for the year from I B4R I AR
Discontinued Operati EE
iscontinued Operation ZKEEEST (105) @5) 1) ©0) (96)
Profit (loss) for the year NEE & (EH) 223,447 (161,640) 129,773 131,091 (119,663)
Attributable to: AT /\ :|: FEAG -
— Owners of the Company REHEAR A 222,644 (162,949) 129,265 130,588 (121,098)
— Non-controlling interests —3H [i% # & 803 1,309 508 503 1,435
223,447 (161,640) 129,773 131,091 (119,663)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the directors of the Company resolved
to discontinue (the “Discontinued Operation”) its business segment that
engages in the commercial exploitation and development of genome-related
technology (“Gene Development” business) and focus on the remaining
business operations (the “Continuing Operations”). The loss for the year from
the Gene Development business segment for the prior years are included in

Discontinued Operation for comparative purpose.

%) e

RBE_ZT_RF=A=+—HIFE
BEERE

CAR

iﬁifﬁ\%%ﬁI*H@&WZﬁ%ﬁfﬁ%

&?é@m%ﬁ%"*ﬁ(fﬁlﬁﬁﬂiﬁ%) (T k&
BE®KD

FAREBREBREE(HERLER

As at 31 March

%E@mf ERRBEEZ I BRBAESF
EHNFEEEEHABRLEEEELA-

R=BA=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
=EZ e ZESmEE =R =es S =GRS
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FH&T FHT FAT FET FAT
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE -BERFER
NON-CONTROLLING fEm
INTERESTS
Total assets BEE 1,526,352 1,287,189 1,444,874 1,317,101 1,164,239
Total liabilities ®waE (191,553) (174,578) (163,304) (152,177) (134,945)
Total equity BT 1,334,799 1,112,611 1,281,570 1,164,924 1,029,294
Equity attributable to owners of &R & E A FE1G
the Company R 1,334,542 1,113,125 1,281,722 1,165,653 1,030,505
Non-controlling interests FE15 AR 2 257 (514) (152) (729) (1,211)
Total equity Ry b 1,334,799 1,112,611 1,281,570 1,164,924 1,029,294
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